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COMPANY DESCRIPTION

Programmed is  
a leading provider of 
staffing, maintenance 
and facility management 
services.
We employ directly more than 10,000 people across 
a broad range of government and private sector businesses 
in the resources, infrastructure, education, manufacturing, 
logistics, commercial, retail, tourism and recreation sectors. 
Our ability to recruit and deploy staff is supported by an 
active database of some 60,000 people.

We provide services to over 7,000 customers, often 
under long-term contracts. We deliver these services 
through our network of over 100 branches throughout 
Australia and New Zealand.

Our business model is built around our ability to recruit, 
retain and deploy a large directly-employed workforce of 
professional, skilled and semi-skilled staff with a wide 
range of capabilities.
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OUR 3 DIVISIONS

PROPERTY & 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Maintenance, building, and 
operational services to the 
property and infrastructure 
sectors

WORKFORCE

Recruitment and labour 
hire services to a range of 
industries including mining, 
construction, industrial, 
manufacturing, infrastructure, 
transport and logistics

RESOURCES

Maintenance, construction,  
and operational services to the 
resources sector
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Revenue by division

Revenue by state/country

Property & Infrastructure 53%

Workforce 26%

Resources 21%

Revenue by sector

WA 41%

SA 5%

QLD 14%

NSW 15%
Other 1%
New Zealand 6%

VIC 18%

Government & infrastructure 44%

Transport 4%

Retail & commercial 7%

Offshore oil & gas 20%

Manufacturing & industrial 12%

Other 9%

Onshore mining 4%

Revenue: $1.4 billion 

Profit after tax: $31.1 million (before OneShift)

Earnings per share: 26.3 cents per share (before OneShift) 

Dividends: 17 cents per share fully franked 

Net debt: $42.2 million  
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Bruce Brook 
Chairman

ur company is not immune from the challenges 
presently confronting many businesses, where 
organic revenue growth is weak, costs continue 
to rise, and the online world is challenging 
traditional business structures.

Thus, it is pleasing to report that in the year to 31 March 2014 
our company maintained its earnings before interest and tax, 
delivered a 5.5% increase in profit before tax due to lower 
interest costs, and achieved an after-tax profit of $31.1 million 
before equity accounting its 27.5% interest in OneShift, a 
start-up online staffing business. This was only 3% below 
the previous year when there was a $2.7 million tax credit. 
Importantly, we also reduced net debt and increased dividends.

Equally pleasing was our general operational performance. 

Our safety performance improved, as measured by both the 
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (34% lower pcp) and the Total 
Injury Frequency Rate (24% lower pcp) and our employee 
engagement score was our best to date.

Programmed’s ability to offer staffing, maintenance and facility 
management services to all sectors means that its performance 
does not depend on one group of customers or one industry 
sector. The benefit of this was demonstrated in the year’s 
results with our Property & Infrastructure division’s earnings 
increasing by 21% to offset a similar decrease in our Resource 
division’s earnings. Our Workforce division’s earnings were 
similar to the previous year despite a fall in revenue.

The company’s good overall operational performance has 
enabled further debt to be paid down and net debt / equity 
at 31 March 2014 was just 10.3%. It has also enabled us to 
increase our final dividend to 11 cents per share, bringing total 
dividends for the year to 17 cents per share fully franked, up 
from 15 cents per share for FY2013.

We are confronting the opportunities and challenges of an 
online digital world by making significant investments in 
technology to enable greater online servicing and support for 
job seekers, employees, subcontractors and customers, as 
well as further significant consolidation of back office functions 
and support. In October 2013, we invested $5 million in a 
start-up online staffing business called OneShift to advance our 
knowledge and position in the online space.

There is a significant increase in new investment by 
government and private industry in infrastructure along with 
further outsourcing of operation and maintenance of existing 
assets. We have identified more than $3 billion of opportunities 
to target over the next 12 months.

We have continued to improve the effectiveness of the Board. 
A key action arising from our annual board performance review 
was a plan to increase the board’s investment in the company’s 
safety conversation program.

I would like to recognise the ongoing support and commitment 
of our shareholders, customers and my other Board colleagues.

Finally I would like to thank Chris Sutherland and the entire 
Programmed team for their efforts and for the results they 
delivered last year for shareholders and customers.

Bruce Brook 
Chairman 
28 May 2014

  
Programmed’s ability to offer staffing, 
maintenance and facility management 
services to all sectors means that 
its performance does not depend 
on one group of customers or one 
industry sector.  

Chairman’s Letter

O
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Business Summary

Maintenance, building and operational 
services including:

• Painting

• Grounds maintenance and landscaping

• Specialist turf maintenance for golf and racing

• Corporate imaging and signage

• Building repair

• Electrical and lighting installation and repair

• Audio visual, data and communications 
installation and repair

• Facility management and complete 
maintenance services

Services provided to thousands of customers 
across most industries in Australia and New 
Zealand, often under long-term contracts and 
preventative maintenance programs.

• Margins increased through improved 
operational controls

• Painting volumes similar to FY2013, but 
margins higher due to lower overheads and 
improved job management

• Facility management revenue higher due to new 
contracts, but increased business development 
resulted in lower margins

• KLM electrical business and Turnpoint specialist 
turf business rebranded as Programmed Electrical 
Technologies and Programmed Turnpoint

• Exposure to new commercial building 
electrical works reduced, and focus on fit-out, 
maintenance and upgrades of electrical, 
data and communication systems increased, 
improving profitability despite lower revenue

• Increasing opportunities as governments 
outsource operations and maintenance of 
public infrastructure

Maintenance, construction and operational 
services including:

• Marine manning

• Vessel management

• Catering

• Maintenance

• Construction support

Services provided to many oil, gas and mining 
companies both offshore and onshore across 
Australia and New Zealand.

• Revenue and earnings lower due to completion of 
onshore mining project

• Offshore oil and gas sector’s results in line with 
FY2013 and contributed all the division’s earnings

• Demand for vessel management, manning, 
catering and logistical services remained strong

• Major contract secured for works associated with 
Inpex’s Ichthys project

• Negotiations for new Australian marine EBA 
continue with some risk of industrial action and 
associated short term revenue and cost impacts

Recruitment and labour hire services to a range 
of industries including mining and construction, 
industrial, manufacturing, infrastructure, transport 
and logistics. 

Operates through a network of more than  
35 branches across Australia and New Zealand, 
supported by extensive HSE management, 
industrial relations and payroll support. 

• Margins increased through reducing costs

• More than $2 million invested in upgrading 
core business system to enhance ability to 
find and support job seekers and improve 
customer service

• Customers encouraged to value the 
“Programmed Difference”

• Acquired a 27.5% equity stake in OneShift, 
a start-up online business which matches 
temporary workers with businesses on a fee per 
candidate basis

Property & 
Infrastructure

Division Activities 2014 Commentary

Resources

Workforce
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Chris Sutherland 
Managing Director

e continue to deliver strong 

operational performance, reduced 

debt and increased dividends in an 

environment where growing revenue 

remains challenging.

Health, safety and environment (HSE)

Our HSE results demonstrate that as an organisation we 

have progressed well down the path to Zero Harm; however, 

we know we have a lot more to do.

Our Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate fell a further 34% 

from 2.98 to 1.99 on more than 25,000,000 hours worked. 

Equally pleasing was a 24% fall in the total injury frequency 

rate, which includes all lost time, medical treatment and 

first aid injuries, from 28 to 22. These results cover all 

permanent, casual and contracted employees, all employees 

of subcontractors engaged by us, and all our labour hire 

employees who work under the direct supervision and 

work systems of others. As many companies do not report 

injuries to casual and contracted workers or subcontractors’ 

workers, direct comparisons are not often possible.

To further reduce the number of injuries, incidents and near 

misses, we are continuing to focus on leadership, behaviour 

and personal responsibility.

Our safety culture has been based upon core programs such 

as safety conversations, safety pauses, good news stories 

and managers ringing injured workers at home. It has been 

exciting to see many employees develop their own safety 

leadership at home and at work, influencing the adoption of 

safe work practices across the wider community.

Strategy

Our strategy is built on four key components:

1. Safety

We need to have every employee come home uninjured 
every night as a basic tenet of our operations. This also 
means our productivity improves and our costs are lower. 
Customers will hire Programmed because we work 
safely and can help them improve the safety of their 
own operations.

We continue to expand and develop initiatives to improve 
the leadership and safety culture of our entire team. Our 
critical risk standards have been further embedded into the 
safety systems of each of our businesses and our customer 
operations. We have commenced the rollout of our Life 
Saving Rules to focus all employees further on the key things 
that they must know and do to keep them and those around 
them safe. We are developing more rigour and improved 
quality in our site risk assessments and job safety analysis.

Our results tell us that our plan is working. Not only are 
significantly less people being injured; our customers are 
recognising that our ability to improve the safety, and as a 
consequence the productivity, of their operations is a key 
value-add, helping us to secure their ongoing business and 
contributing to their decision to outsource more work.

2. People and Culture

We have a process to develop and enhance the culture 
we expect in all our operations. This is how we have 
improved our safety results. We are constantly engaging 
new employees, with 35,000 different employees each year 
working on thousands of different customer sites, and it 

  
We continue to deliver strong 
operational performance, reduced 
debt and increased dividends in 
an environment where growing 
revenue remains challenging. 

Managing Director’s  
Review of Operations

W
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is important that we can quickly show them, and in some 
cases an entire new workforce, what our culture is and how 
we expect them to perform and behave.

Having established common standards of behaviour around 
safety, we are now pursuing a similar goal around customer 
service to achieve high levels of customer satisfaction. We 
are currently preparing the education materials to be rolled 
out later this year and have selected the reporting system to 

measure customer satisfaction on a common basis across 
all divisions.

3. Systems and Integration

We are continuing a progressive upgrade of our systems 
to enable further significant consolidation of back office 
functions and support as well as, importantly, greater 
online servicing and support for job seekers, employees, 
subcontractors and customers. 

JOURNEY TO ZERO HARM

At Programmed we are committed to ensuring our 
employees return home from work in the same state 
they arrived – injury free. Our belief is that all injuries 
can be prevented and the actions we undertake to 
support Zero Harm ensure that Programmed people go 
home uninjured. 

The Programmed Safety Beliefs are:

• All injuries are preventable

• Working safely is a condition of my employment

• Employee action and involvement are essential 

• I will get the level of safety I demonstrate I want

Our significant investment in safety continued last 
year with employees taking part in HSE training 
company‑wide, the continued roll‑out of critical risk 
standards, and targeted communications campaigns – 
including a ‘Programmed Safety Week’ held in October. 

We also launched the ‘Stop and Report’ campaign 
within our Workforce division aimed at encouraging our 
field staff to stop and report unsafe situations. 

Our employees freely communicate about safety 
company‑wide, logging over 3,600 safety conversations 
in 2013 via our RMSS system.

 Contract Manager Chris McMillan and his team 
routinely utilise Take 5 booklets to spot hazards and 
identify risks. 
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The move to enable all our customers, employees, job 
seekers and subcontractors to interact with us seamlessly 
through online applications and portals using any mobile 
device will change the way we do business.

Our payroll systems have been upgraded and now 
offer self-servicing and online access for all permanent 
employees across Australia and New Zealand.

Our workforce systems upgrade is nearly complete, with an 
entirely new capability to service and support our Workforce 
division’s job seekers, employees and customers through 
online access and, importantly, through any mobile device. 
This system will be launched progressively from July this 
year and will result in significant cost savings, greater 
engagement with the casual workforce and significant 
improvement in customer service.

Our finance and accounting, procurement, and project 
control systems will be upgraded over the next 18 months 
to a new “bigger brother” of our current system. This 
will enable employees, subcontractors and customers to 

KRISTY BECOMES CEO FOR A DAY

Last November Chris Sutherland shared his 
Managing Director role with Kristy Marsh, winner of 
GenerationOne’s CEO for a Day competition.

Chris joined other leading CEOs from across the nation 
in providing ten Indigenous young professionals with 
the opportunity to be a CEO for a day.

Managing Director Chris Sutherland said the opportunity 
to spend two days with Kristy was a great experience.

“Sharing my role with Kristy, who started her own crane 
hire business (Wakaya Group), was as much a learning 
opportunity for me as it was for her,” said Chris.

“Both Programmed and Wakaya Group are service 
based businesses. We spent the day swapping ideas 
and sharing business insights.”

Kristy left high school to complete an apprenticeship as 
a fitter and turner. After a few years as a tradeswoman, 
Kristy developed a love for cranes and worked her way 
up in the industry to become an open class operator. 
Returning to the workforce after having children, Kristy 
decided to start her own business in crane hire and 
formed Wakaya Group in 2012.

As part of spending a day with Chris, Kristy sat in on 
internal monthly meetings and attended multiple site 
visits around Perth.

“I really enjoyed my time with Programmed. I have gained 
a lot from my experience and Chris’s offer of ongoing 
support is truly amazing,” said Kristy, proud descendant 
of the Yulluna tribe from Mount Isa, Queensland.

“I have been extremely lucky to have had this 
opportunity and I’m already looking to adopt some of 
Programmed’s concepts into my own business.”

Programmed has partnered with GenerationOne 
since 2011. Programmed has signed the Australian 
Employment Covenant committing to 200 jobs with 
Programmed and 500 jobs with our Integrated Workforce 
customers for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders.

 Managing Director Chris Sutherland with ‘CEO 
for a Day’ Kristy Marsh and Fremantle Football Club 
Player Development Coach Roger Hayden. 
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access the information they need in real time, on any mobile 
device, to plan and manage their work, report effectively 
on a daily basis and help reduce non-productive time. 
The system will also result in further consolidation of our 
back office functions.

Our web and social media presence will be significantly 
upgraded in the next 12 months as we move more of our 
marketing and support to online systems.

The investment in these system upgrades will total 
approximately $17 million, and $3 million has already been 
incurred in FY2014. A further $9 million is expected to be 
incurred in FY2015, followed by $5 million in FY2016.

The main focus of these investments is to secure our future 
in a developing digital world, to grow sales through enabling 
customers to access our services 24/7, and to improve 
operational performance, customer service and satisfaction. 
However, we are also projecting back office cost savings 

A RISING STAR FOR PROGRAMMED

By her own admission, every day at work feels like an adventure and 
the opportunity for career progression, according to Programmed 
electrician Sarah Jayne Flatters.

“I love my job because each day is different and I really enjoy 
working with my team and our varied clients,” says the 25‑year‑
old, who completed a two year stint at Programmed during her 
apprenticeship before starting work with the company at the 
beginning of this year.

“I originally began my apprenticeship for the job security and the 
ability to continue learning throughout my career, but I soon found 
that I loved the lifestyle, in terms of being physical and working 
outside. I also discovered pretty quickly that I really enjoy being on 
the tools and working in a team environment.”

During her apprenticeship Sarah Jayne gained experience working 
in various different industries, including large construction, 
commercial fit‑outs and radio communications. Sarah has also been 
presented with several awards for excellence in her work.

Today she works with Programmed Electrical Technologies, formerly 
the KLM Group team, a career opportunity which she says has 
increased her skill‑base and knowledge.

“Working in the service department at Programmed has not only 
taught me the right skills to become an electrician, it’s also enabled 
me to build relationships with clients and work with different types 
of people,” Sarah Jayne admits.

“I genuinely feel that Programmed is a great company to be part 
of; the opportunities in this industry are endless and I’m very much 
looking forward to my future with this company.”
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PROGRAMMED PARTNERS 
WITH WHITELION

In April last year we partnered with not‑for‑profit 
organisation, Whitelion, creating a trade apprentice 
program for young people at risk.

The partnership focuses on meaningful and ongoing 
employment through trade apprenticeships and 
indigenous employment programs, creating mutually 
beneficial value to both organisations and the 
communities in which we operate.

Whitelion Chief Executive Officer Mark Watt says 
engaging more young people in employment is an 
invaluable step towards changing their futures for 
the better. “Together, Programmed and Whitelion 
are achieving real and sustainable employment 
opportunities for disadvantaged and Indigenous youth.”

A year into the partnership, both organisations 
are starting to see the benefits, with Programmed 
employees volunteering, fundraising and providing help 
at Whitelion events run throughout the year. 

We were also recognised by Whitelion for our ongoing 
commitment to diversity and ensuring all parts of 
society are represented in our workforce when we were 
presented with the Whitelion Chairperson’s Award. 
The award recognised and celebrated the employment 
program to support disadvantaged and Indigenous 
youth, as well as our volunteering and mentoring support.

u Last May, four Programmed executives participated 
in Whitelion’s Bail Out fundraising and awareness event, 
raising $10,000. For three hours they were locked up in 
the old Melbourne Gaol, experiencing life as an inmate 
and listening to real‑life stories from disadvantaged 
young people. 

 Programmed employees volunteered their time 
to help produce race kits for entrants participating in 
Whitelion’s Eureka Towers event in November 2013. 
Employee and volunteer Kat Djopa said: “Volunteering 
is something that I always wanted to get involved with. 
Having the ability to achieve this through our partnership 
with Whitelion has been very satisfying and great fun.”

of more than $5 million per annum to be fully realised 
in 18 months. One-off restructuring costs of more than 
$5 million are currently projected to deliver these ongoing 
savings, split across our next two years. We recognise there 
are some execution risks attached to these investments, but 
we have a detailed plan to mitigate these.

We have also rebranded both KLM and Turnpoint to become 
Programmed-branded entities to maximise the opportunities 
that arise from the growing strength of our brand and from 
selling the Programmed Difference.

4. Growth

We have articulated clearly the “Programmed Difference” 
and are focused on ensuring our people understand these 
differences and deliver them every day, so it is recognised 
that these are what our company and our brand stand for. 
In a digital world, face-to-face customer interaction may 
occur less often, and thus our online presence and ability 
to project our values and what we stand for are even more 
important. We will invest further in our brand, in online 
communications and in digital marketing to ensure that 
the differences we can make to our customers and the 
improvements we can make to their business performance 
are understood, be it through safety, the quality of people, 
the effective maintenance of an asset, or our responsiveness 
and great customer service. 

We have invested greater effort in seeking how we 
can provide more staffing, maintenance and facility 
management services to our major customers. We have 
a workforce / HR platform that is readily scalable and we 
will seek opportunities to increase the workforce services 
we provide to grow earnings and lower our average unit 
operating cost.
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We are enacting strategies to pursue a significant share of 

future operations and maintenance expenditures related 

to the infrastructure of the major resource companies, 

utilities and governments. We are positioned to bid for more 

than $3 billion of work associated with major outsourcing 

programs over the next 12 months.

Group Results

Profit after tax for the year ended 31 March 2014 was 

$31.1 million, before equity accounting our 27.5% interest 

in OneShift, a start-up online staffing business; this was 

3.1% lower than FY2013 ($32.1 million) when there was a 

tax benefit of $2.7 million. After equity accounting a loss of 

$0.68 million on our interest in OneShift, net profit after tax 

was $30.5 million.

Also before equity accounting our interest in OneShift, profit 

before tax increased by 5.5% over FY2013 ($42.1 million) 

to $44.4 million and EBIT (earnings before interest and tax) 

was $51.8 million, similar to FY2013 ($52.0 million).

Revenue was $1,435 million, a decrease of 5% from FY2013 

($1,517 million) due mainly to lower revenue from our 

Resources division.

Property & Infrastructure Division

The Property & Infrastructure division provides a range of 

maintenance, property and operational services, including 

painting, electrical, communications, grounds, signage, 

general building repairs and facility management.

The division’s revenue was maintained at $752 million, 

whilst EBIT increased 21% to $28.0 million (FY2013: $23.1 

million). The higher margin was the result of improved 

operational control across many areas of the business.

During the year, both the KLM electrical business and the 

Turnpoint specialist turf business were further integrated 

into the division and were rebranded as Programmed 

Electrical Technologies and Programmed Turnpoint 

respectively.

Demand for long term painting maintenance programs 

stabilised, with invested capital of $110.2 million at the 

end of FY2014 compared with $113.6 million a year earlier. 

Whilst painting volumes were similar, margins were higher 

due to lower overheads and improved job management.

As explained last year, we have been steadily reducing our 

exposure to new commercial building electrical works and 

increasing our focus on fit-out, maintenance and upgrades 

of electrical, data and communications systems in existing 

buildings and infrastructure. This has improved profitability 

despite lower revenue and allows greater opportunity to 

work with the division’s customers.

Revenue from our facility management operations increased 

as a number of new contracts commenced. Margins, 

however, were lower as we increased our expenditure on 

business development and tendering to target a significant 

number of substantial opportunities as governments across 

Australia and New Zealand increasingly seek to outsource 

the operations and maintenance of public infrastructure.

Existing public assets are getting older and require upgrades 

and greater levels of maintenance to maintain service. 

The growing population is requiring new assets to be 

built, thus creating further opportunities, and increasingly 

governments at all levels are looking for privately funded and 

managed solutions.

Resources Division

The Resources division provides a range of workforce, 

maintenance, construction support and operational services 

to both the offshore oil and gas and onshore mining 

sectors. Revenue was $307 million, 13% less than FY2013 

($354 million), due to the completion of a major onshore 

mining project where we were providing workforce services 

during the construction phase.

THE PROGRAMMED DIFFERENCE

Our ability to:

u  Recruit and develop people.

u  Deploy the right person with the right competency to each job.

u  Get safety right on the ground.

u  Manage industrial relations in an increasingly difficult environment.

u  Manage human resources in an increasingly regulated environment.

u  Delivery operational improvements, flexibility and high levels of satisfaction to 
our customers.
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EBIT was $24.4 million, 21% lower (FY2013: $31.0 million) 

due almost entirely to the reduction in onshore mining 

project activity.

The offshore oil and gas sector continued to deliver a 

similar result to last year and contributed all of the division’s 

earnings in FY2014.

Demand for vessel management, manning, catering and 

logistical services remained strong throughout most of the 

year across Australia and New Zealand.

However, some customers have become concerned about 

the current stalemate in negotiations for a new Australian 

marine EBA, following expiry of the previous EBA last year, 

and thus some work may be deferred in the short term to 

avoid any potential industrial action. These continue to be 

difficult negotiations as it remains completely impractical to 

accept the present union demands, and there remains some 

risk of industrial action with associated short term revenue 

and cost impacts during the negotiation period.

We were successful in securing a major contract for 

works associated with Inpex’s Ichthys project which will 

commence later in our FY2015 year.

Workforce Division

The Workforce division provides a range of staffing services 

across all industry sectors.

Revenue was $373 million, down 8% from FY2013 

($407 million), but margins improved due to lower costs 

across the business. As a result, EBIT was $10.5 million, 

slightly below the $10.7 million in FY2013.

The staffing industry is facing major digital disruption to 

its traditional methods, affecting costs and margins. The 

traditional placement fee paid to a recruitment firm for 

searching and finding a worker is rapidly being replaced by 

customers using online search and database systems to 

find and match candidates for specific jobs. The placement 

fee revenue of many recruitment firms, although not a 

material component of our income, is at historical lows and 

we believe will never fully recover. Large employers are 

investing in online technology and using social media to 

recruit and maintain their own database of potential full-time 

and part-time employees.

Thus, we are reshaping our own Workforce business by:

1. Undertaking a significant upgrade of the core Workforce 

business system to provide new capability that operates 

simply and efficiently across any mobile device. This will 

significantly enhance our ability to find and support job 

seekers, increase engagement with our casual workforce, 

and improve customer service and satisfaction. We have 

invested more than $2 million in this system over the past 

12 months and will be launching it across Australia and 

New Zealand in the coming months.

 Programmed’s management team. From left: Malcolm Deery, Group General Manager HSE; Glenn Thompson, 
CEO Property Services; Steve Taylor, Chief Strategy & Marketing Officer; Tara Hogan, Group General Manager 
Risk & Legal; Chris Sutherland, Managing Director; Stephen Leach, CFO; Michael Waymark, CEO Facility 
Management; Nic Fairbank, CEO Integrated Workforce; Glenn Triggs, CEO Resources; Jim Sherlock, Group 
General Manager HR. 
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2. Using the upgraded system capability to further centralise 
recruitment functions in each state, expand the mobile 
account / sales network, reduce the need for some 
branches, and lower overall overhead costs.

3. Encouraging customers to appreciate the advantages of 
hiring staff from Programmed to access the skills we can 
offer across the entire group. We want customers to value 
the “Programmed Difference” and we are growing the list 

of customers who procure both staffing and maintenance / 
FM services.

4. Investing $5 million for a 27.5% equity stake in a start-up 
online business called OneShift which focuses on the 
temporary employment market, matching potential 
candidates with businesses seeking temporary workers 
on a fee per candidate basis. We believe OneShift can 
be an attractive placement service for thousands of 

WORKING ALONGSIDE KEY COMMUNITY GROUP ACTIV FOUNDATION

Blue skies and crystal clear water – not a bad day 
in the office and nothing out of the norm for Activ 
Property Care team members based on Rottnest 
Island, 18 kilometres off Western Australia’s coast. 

Activ has been working alongside the Programmed 
team for six years and was initially engaged to help 
clean up the island after schoolies week in 2001. 

Programmed Operations Manager Chris Horwell said 
Activ has been on the island for thirteen years now 
and are a great bunch to have around. 

“The guys show great initiative and passion for the 
job; they are a real asset to our team on the island,” 
said Chris.

The Activ team travels to the island every morning 
by ferry and is accompanied by their supervisor 
Bruce Harcourt. 

“I have been working alongside these guys for 
years. They just love it out here – who wouldn’t?,” 
said Bruce. 

“The team helps out with general grounds cleaning, 
whipper snipping, mulching, branch removal and 
stick picking.

“They show such passion for their jobs; they don’t 
stop except for a quick morning tea and lunch break!

“The team at Programmed is always showing the 
Activ team new skills to carry out work appropriately 
and safely – something that Activ, like Programmed, 
values highly.

“Programmed team member Lance Radford is a 
great mentor for the team; he always has time for 
them and will often come to where the guys are 
based for the day and help out.”

Activ is one of Western Australia’s leading 
community benefit organisations and has been 
providing services and support to people with 
disabilities since 1951. Activ provides jobs to 
1,070 people with disabilities in Activ Business 
Services’ manufacturing, packaging and property 
care businesses.

 Programmed grounds team member, 
Lance Radford with Activ team members Antony 
Coker and Luke Sattler.
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small and medium size employers, and we are actively 
promoting it and working with the other shareholders to 
refine the system to meet market requirements. As it is 
a start-up business, we have forecast losses in the short 
term as we build scale and improve the product. Whilst it 
is not yet possible to predict the extent online matching 
systems will take over the traditional staffing placement 
fee revenue, it is becoming clear that the historical 
placement fee structures and margins are being broken 
and that significant technology investment is required to 
be part of the future. 

Net Unallocated Costs (FY2014: $10.1 million vs 
$10.2 million pcp)

These relate to corporate overheads and a range of 
non-trading income and expenses, including foreign 
exchange movements on UK and NZ payments.

Restructuring Costs (FY2014: $1.0 million vs 
$2.6 million pcp)

These relate to redundancy and termination expenses 
associated with overhead cost reductions.

Balance Sheet and Cash Flows

Gross operating cash flow was $80.6 million, 11% lower 
than FY2013 ($90.6 million) and 129% of EBITDA (earnings 
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation). Net 
operating cash flow was $55.8 million, 2% lower than 
FY2013 ($56.9 million). 

With the continued focus on capital management and 
strong operating cash flow, the group’s net debt reduced 
to $42.2 million at 31 March 2014, from $67.1 million at 
31 March 2013. The net debt to equity ratio fell to 10.3% 
from 17.1%.

In December 2013, we agreed new financing terms with our 
banks (Westpac Banking Corporation and National Australia 
Bank), replacing facilities which were due to expire in 
October 2014. Our considerably strengthened balance sheet 
enabled us to negotiate facilities extending to December 
2017 and, as we were not using all our facilities, our 
revolving debt capacity was reduced by $50 million.

The bank syndicated facility includes three 
financing tranches aggregating $200 million (previously 
$250 million) comprising:

• Working capital and overdraft facility of $60 million (rolling 
1 year term); previously $70 million;

• A revolving debt facility of $70 million (4 year term); 
previously $120 million and 3 year term; and

• A bank guarantee facility of $70 million (3 year term); 

previously $60 million and 1 year term.

Other arrangements remain for ongoing support of asset 

finance requirements ($17 million).

The group operated throughout the year well within its 

loan covenants.

Conclusion

We believe that delivery of a similar EBIT (excluding equity 

accounting of OneShift), along with strong operational 

performance (safety, retention of customers, employee 

engagement), a reduction in debt and increased dividends, 

represents a good result for shareholders in the current 

environment. We thank them for their support, and we 

also thank each one of our 10,000 + employees for their 

continuing commitment to serving our customers in a 

safe manner.

We are planning to invest heavily in technology over the next 

two years to position the business with a more efficient and 

lower cost base and a significantly greater field capability to 

service our customers.

There is a significant uptrend at present in outsourcing by 

government and industry and we have a very large pipeline 

of opportunities to tender over the next 12 months.

Our business model, providing staffing, maintenance 

and facility management services across all industry 

sectors, gives Programmed considerable strength and we 

will continue to manage the group conservatively, while 

pursuing and taking advantage of growth opportunities.

Chris Sutherland 
Managing Director
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t’s the people of Programmed who enable us to be a 
leading provider of staffing, maintenance and facility 
management services and we are committed to creating 
a positive, enjoyable and rewarding working environment 
for all our employees.

Diversity

The diversity of our people is one of our great strengths. We 
recognise the value of attracting, engaging and retaining employees 
with different backgrounds, experience and perspectives. 

Programmed’s commitment to diversity, led by our Managing 
Director, focuses on cultural diversity (including Indigenous 
employment), cross-generational diversity, disadvantaged 
groups, people with a disability and achieving gender balance. 

Over the coming year we will continue to promote a 
gender-balanced, inclusive and safe workplace where all 
employees have the opportunity to contribute to our success, 
and employee differences are valued. 

Leadership development and talent management

Programmed’s success relies upon our ability to identify, 
develop and place talented people. These people contribute 
to the design and lead the execution of our overall business 
strategy. Our leaders play a significant role in driving internal 
culture and implementing company vision. 

We actively identify and develop our current and emerging 
talent to build our leadership bench strength and ensure 
business sustainability. 

Investing in  
Our People

 Front Desk Facilitator Melissa Hall provides 
reception and administrative support to the 
Programmed Electrical Technologies business in 
West Melbourne. 

A CAREER JOURNEY

When Troy Hovey started work at 
Programmed back in 1993, little did he know 
that he’d just stepped onto the first rung of a 
very tall career ladder.

Just over 20 years later, the Victorian‑based 
42‑year‑old General Manager for Property 
Services admits to having taken every 
opportunity presented to him which has included 
close to a dozen different roles within the 
company and the opportunity to live interstate.

After he completed his apprenticeship Troy 
joined the Grounds business as a gardener 
where he worked as part of a team of only five 
people – today there are over 400. Troy has gone 
on to work in roles as varied as project manager, 
business development manager, operations 
manager, state manager and general manager. 

“My roles at Programmed have always been 
interesting and varied,” says Troy, who is 
married with four children.

“I’d say for anyone prepared to put in the hard 
work at Programmed, the business will support 
you every step of the way.

“The company has always 
been fantastic in terms of 
supplying mentors as well as 
offering on‑the‑job and more 
formal training. 

“I’ve also attended two 
leadership programs developed 
specifically for Programmed 
which have been extremely 
valuable, and these, 
coupled with having 
lots of good people 
around me, have been 
invaluable in terms of 
my career progression.”
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A key part of our commitment to developing our talent pipeline 
is the Momentum Leadership Program, with the third program 
concluding in 2013. Graduates use their new leadership skills not 
only in the workplace, but also for supporting our communities. 
They build bikes for kids from Camp Quality and prosthetic hands 
for amputee landmine victims in Cambodia. 

To further support our talent pipeline, we introduced the GROW 
High Potential Mentoring Program which pairs emerging talent 
with senior leaders from across the business.  

Learning and Development 

At Programmed we maintain the belief that it is a requirement 
to develop our employees’ skills and capabilities, whether it be 
through apprenticeships and traineeships, health and safety 
training, compliance training or technical skills training.

We currently employ over 300 trainees and apprentices in more 
than 30 vocations company-wide. Our apprentices and trainees 
provide Programmed with improved resources to meet and exceed 
customer service requirements, contribute to improved contract 
performance and provide a pathway for succession planning. 

During the year, our people undertook 10,000 hours of training via 
our Learning Management System with employees now able to 
access relevant courses via our newly launched Learning Library. 

EXPERIENCE OF A LIFETIME 

 Painter Gus Santos has been with the 
Programmed team almost a lifetime – 37 years in 
fact. Starting with the company as a young man, 
Gus has been with us ever since.

 Senior Consultant Avril Giles is part of 
Programmed’s Workforce business and recruits 
for a variety of positions for a number of 
customers throughout Australia. 

 Electricians Nick Fooks and Ben Pannell are 
part of the Programmed team delivering electrical 
and communications services Australia‑wide.

For the first time, we are offering Massively Open Online 

Courses, which are university level short courses which 

Programmed employees can undertake free-of-charge. 

Developed by prestigious universities such as Harvard, MIT and 

Berkeley, these courses are mobile learning compatible and can 

be accessed on tablets and smartphones. 
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he communities where we operate – and our 
employees live – are an important part of 
our business. 

At Programmed we encourage our people 
to identify community projects that are 

important to them as well as take on an active role in delivering 
our sponsorships. 

Our community commitment is focused on:

• investing in sporting clubs, fundraising events, and 
charitable foundations; and

• helping to improve the wellbeing of individuals in the 
communities where we work. 

Investing in community 

Our employees have a broad range of trades and skills, 
and during the past year they have contributed to one of 
our biggest community projects to date – the Moira Kelly 
Community Project. 

Driven by Programmed’s Maria Conlan, the project brought 
together Programmed tradespeople and contractors from 
across the country to help rebuild an unliveable house and turn 

Caring for Our Community

it into a beautiful home. Spanning three months and hundreds 

of dedicated work hours, the finished product finally provided 

career volunteer and humanitarian Moira Kelly, her two sons 

and twin daughters with a place to call home. 

Our ten-year partnership with the Frankston Art Centre’s “Hip 

Cat Circus” continues. This program is designed to build 

confidence and self-esteem amongst youths. 

We partnered with not-for-profit organisation Whitelion – 

creating a trade apprentice program for young people at risk. 

Through this partnership we are able to provide life-changing 

opportunities for some of Australia’s ‘at-risk’ youth, currently 

estimated to be over 70,000 people. 

We continue to work with our network of contractors to serve 

breakfast at Brookman Primary School’s Breakfast Club in 

Langford, Western Australia. The school serves breakfast three 

A PLACE TO CALL HER OWN

 Moira Kelly in front of her newly‑finished 
home, with Programmed’s Maria Conlan who 
coordinated the community project.
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times per week to almost 100 students, with Programmed 
employees heading down once a week to help out.

In South Australia, horticultural expert Martin Crabb continues 
to share his knowledge and expertise regularly by hosting 
“Garden Talks” for garden enthusiast senior citizens. 

Our sponsoring partnership with the Mary MacKillop 
Foundation reached 20 years – providing support to small 
community-based self-help projects aimed at increasing 
self-reliance for those less fortunate. We also helped the 
Catholic Church on Rottnest Island build a columbarium 
by arranging a discounted rate and donating materials for 
the project. 

We support grassroots football and other sporting clubs 
because we are passionate about teamwork, sharing goals, and 
supporting the sense of well-being that sport helps to build. 
Our community contributions throughout the year included 
providing support staff for the Rottnest Island Marathon & Fun 
Run and the UWCT Festival of Cycling. 

Through our sponsorship of the Fremantle Football Club we 
also facilitated community visits from players and coaching staff 
throughout the year. 

REACHING GENERATION NEXT

 As part of our sponsorship of the Fremantle 
Football Club, player Clancee Pearce visited the kids 
at St Brigid’s College in Lesmurdie Western Australia 
on behalf of Programmed. 

PROGRAMMED WRAPPED IN 
THE HIP CATS

Programmed took its support of the City of 
Frankston’s “Hip Cat Circus” to the streets – wrapping 
one of the company’s 4‑star ANCAP Hyundai iLoads 
in Hip Cat art!

 Members of the Hip Cat Circus show off their 
skills at the vehicle launch. 

18 PROGRAMMED 2014 ANNUAL REPORT



19PROGRAMMED 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

Financial Report

CONTENTS

20 Directors’ Report

52 Corporate Governance Statement

58 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

59 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

60 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

61 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

62 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

63 Notes to the Financial Statements

117 Directors’ Declaration

118  Auditor’s Independence Declaration

119 Independent Auditor’s Report

121 ASX Additional Information

123 Summary of Financial Statistics

125 Corporate Directory

 Painter David Hendrie and apprentice 
Cherry Benson from Programmed provide 
painting services to a number of sites 
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report together with the financial 
report of the consolidated entity, being Programmed 
Maintenance Services Limited (“the Company”) and its 
controlled entities, for the year ended 31 March 2014 and 
the auditor’s report:

1. Directors

The names of the directors of the Company during or since 
the end of the financial year are:

B R Brook Chairman – Non-Executive

C G Sutherland Managing Director

J G Whittle Non-Executive Director

E R Stein Non-Executive Director

R J McKinnon Non-Executive Director

A E Grant Non-Executive Director

Details relating to each Director’s qualifications, experience 
and special responsibilities, as at the date of this Directors’ 
report, are set out below.

Bruce Robert Brook, Age 59
B.Com, B. Acc, FCA, MAICD  
Independent, Non-Executive Chairman

Bruce Brook joined the Board in June 2010 and was 
appointed Chairman in August 2011. He is a chartered 
accountant with extensive experience in the mining 
industry, as well as experience in the financial services 
and manufacturing industries. Mr Brook was the Chief 
Financial Officer of WMC Resources Limited from 2002 to 
2005 and has approximately 30 years experience in senior 
finance positions at major public companies including Gold 

Fields of South Africa Limited, Rio Tinto Limited, Pacific 
Dunlop and ANZ Banking Group. His current other Non-
Executive directorships include CSL Limited (since August 
2011), Boart Longyear Limited (since February 2007), NYSE 
listed Newmont Mining Corporation (since October 2011), 
Export Finance and Insurance Corporation and the Deep 
Exploration Technologies Co-operative Research Centre. Mr 
Brook joined the ASIC Director Advisory Panel in November 
2013 and was appointed a member of the Anaesthesia 
and Pain Management Foundation Board of Governors in 
January 2014. He was previously a member of the Financial 
Reporting Council.

Previous directorships of other listed companies within 
the last three years: Lihir Gold Limited (December 2005 to 
September 2010) and Energy Developments Limited (April 
2009 to February 2010). 

Mr Brook is the Chairman of the Board’s Nomination 
Committee and a member of the Board’s Remuneration & 
People Committee.

Christopher Glen Sutherland, Age 50
BEng (Hons), FIE (Aust) 
Managing Director

Chris Sutherland was appointed Managing Director of the 
Company in January 2008. Mr Sutherland had been the 
Chief Executive of Integrated Group Limited since February 
2006 (which merged with Programmed in June 2007) and 
prior to this appointment was an Executive Director of Asset 
Services for WorleyParsons. He is an experienced executive 
who has held senior management positions in various 
engineering, maintenance and contracting businesses 
with operations in Australia, Asia, Europe and the USA. He 
holds a Bachelor of Engineering (UWA) and completed 

From left: Jonathan Whittle, Emma Stein, Bruce Brook, 
Chris Sutherland, Andrea Grant, Robert McKinnon
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the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business 
School in 2001. 

Jonathan Gladstone Whittle, Age 59
Independent, Non-Executive Director

A Non-Executive Director since June 2007, Jonathan 
Whittle was the Managing Director of Integrated Group 
Limited from the time of Integrated’s formation in November 
1992. In February 2006 he retired from his executive role 
and became a Non-Executive Director of Integrated. He 
has extensive experience in the recruitment industry, 
having worked for and then managed the West Australian 
operations of a multinational recruitment agency prior to 
establishing Integrated Workforce.

Mr Whittle is a member of the Board’s Nomination 
Committee, the Board’s Audit & Risk Committee, the 
Board’s Remuneration & People Committee and the Board’s 
HSE Committee.

Emma Rachel Stein, Age 53
BSc. (Physics) Hons, MBA, FAICD 
Independent, Non-Executive Director

A Non-Executive Director since June 2010, Emma Stein has 
considerable experience in international energy and utilities 
markets, investments in long life assets and projects, and 
the upstream oil and gas sector. Formerly the UK Managing 
Director for French utility Gaz de France’s energy retailing 
operations, Ms Stein moved to Australia in 2003. She is also 
a Non-Executive Director of Alumina Limited (since February 
2011), Transpacific Industries Limited (since August 2011), 
DUET Group (since June 2004), and Todd Corporation 
Limited (since December 2012). Her community activities 
include being a NSW Ambassador for the Guides. Ms Stein 
was previously a member of University of Western Sydney’s 
Board of Trustees. 

Previous directorships of other listed companies within the 
last three years: Transfield Services Infrastructure Fund 
(October 2010 to July 2011) and Clough Limited (July 2008 
to December 2013).

Ms Stein is the Chair of the Board’s HSE Committee, a 
member of the Board’s Audit & Risk Committee and a 
member of the Board’s Nomination Committee.

Robert John McKinnon, Age 64
FCPA, FCSA, MAICD 
Independent, Non-Executive Director

A Non-Executive Director since November 2011, Bob 
McKinnon has 40 years experience in finance and general 
management positions in the light manufacturing and 
industrial sectors in Australia, New Zealand and Canada. 
He is the former Managing Director of Austal Ships and 
Fleetwood Corporation Limited, and spent 28 years with 

Capral Aluminium (formerly Alcan Australia) in various 
financial and senior executive positions. Mr McKinnon was 
also a Non-Executive Director of Bankwest until November 
2012. His current directorships include Chairman of the 
Esperance Port Authority and Tox Free Solutions Limited 
(since July 2010) and Non-Executive Director of Peet 
Limited (since 19 May 2014). 

Previous directorships of other listed companies within 
the last three years: Brierty Limited (February 2010 to 
September 2011). 

Mr McKinnon is the Chairman of the Board’s Audit 
& Risk Committee and a member of the Board’s 
Nomination Committee.

Andrea Elizabeth Grant, Age 52
BEd, DipTch , MAICD 
Independent, Non-Executive Director

A Non-Executive Director since September 2012, Andrea 
Grant is a senior HR professional with over 20 years 
experience with both global and Australian companies 
across the finance, pharmaceutical, automotive and 
telecommunication industries. She is the former Group 
Managing Director of Human Resources for Telstra, 
Executive Director of HR for GM Holden, Regional HR 
Director for GM’s Asia Pacific Engineering function and 
Human Resources Director of Merck, Sharp and Dohme 
(New Zealand) Ltd a subsidiary of Merck & Co. Ms Grant 
is now the Managing Director of HR Ingenuity, a boutique 
HR business.

Ms Grant holds a Bachelor of Education and a Post-
Graduate Diploma in teaching. She is also a graduate of the 
London Business School’s Advanced Development Program.

Ms Grant is the Chair of the Board’s Remuneration & 
People Committee, a member of the Board’s Nomination 
Committee and a member of the Board’s HSE Committee.
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Directors’ Report continued

Directors’ Meetings

The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of Board committees) held during the 
financial year and the number of meetings attended by each Director: 

Board
Audit & Risk 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration & 
People Committee1 HSE Committee

A B A B A B A B A B

B Brook 10 10 * * 2 2 4 4 * *

C Sutherland 10 10 * * * * * * * *

J Whittle 10 10 6 6 2 2 4 4 4 4

E Stein 10 9 6 6 2 2 * * 4 4

R McKinnon 10 10 6 6 2 2 * * * *

A Grant 10 9 * * 2 2 4 4 4 4

1.  This committee was previously called the Remuneration Committee and changed its name to the Remuneration & People Committee in August 2013 
to better reflect its role and responsibilities.

A  Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year or was a member of the relevant committee.

B  Number of meetings attended by the Director.

* Not a member of the relevant committee.

2. Company Secretaries

Stephen Leach B.Com, CA

Mr Leach has been the Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company since August 2007 and was appointed Company 
Secretary in February 2008. Mr Leach was previously the 
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of Integrated 
Group Limited from October 2005. Prior to joining Integrated 
Group Limited, Mr Leach was Group Financial Controller of 
Macmahon Holdings Limited.

Katina Nadebaum B. Com, CA, MAICD

Ms Nadebaum joined the Company in June 2011 as joint 
Company Secretary. Previously, Ms Nadebaum was the 
Company Secretary of Macmahon Holdings Limited. Ms 
Nadebaum has previously held the role of Company 
Secretary for various public companies and has also worked 
as an accountant in public practice where she provided 
corporate and company secretarial advice.

3. Principal Activities

During the financial year the consolidated entity was 
a substantial provider of staffing, maintenance and 
project services operating in three divisions, Property & 
Infrastructure, Resources and Integrated Workforce.

The Property & Infrastructure division provides building, 
maintenance and operation services to the property and 

infrastructure sector. Services include painting, grounds 
management, corporate imaging and signage, building 
repairs, electrical & lighting installation and repair, audio 
visual data and communication installation & repairs, facility 
management and complete maintenance services.

These services are provided to over 7,000 customers 
across all industries, often under long term contracts and 
preventative maintenance programmes. 

The Resources division provides construction, maintenance 
and operation services to the resources sector. Services 
include marine manning, vessel management, catering, 
maintenance and construction support.

These services are provided to many oil, gas and mining 
companies both offshore and onshore across Australia and 
New Zealand.

The Integrated Workforce division provides recruitment 
and labour hire services to a range of industries including 
mining, construction, industrial, manufacturing, transport 
and logistics. 

The services are tailored to suit customer needs, from the 
provision of a single staff member to complete workforce 
and contract labour management. The division operates 
through a network of more than 35 branches across 
Australia and New Zealand and is supported by extensive 
health, safety and environmental management systems, 
industrial relations and payroll services.



23PROGRAMMED 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the 
activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year.

4. Review of Operations

We continue to deliver strong operational performance, 
reduced debt and increased dividends in an environment 
where growing revenue remains challenging.

Health, safety and environment (HSE)

Our HSE results demonstrate that as an organisation we 
have progressed well down the path to Zero Harm; however, 
we know we have a lot more to do.

Our Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate fell a further 34% 
from 2.98 to 1.99 on more than 25,000,000 hours worked. 
Equally pleasing was a 24% fall in the total injury frequency 
rate, which includes all lost time, medical treatment and 
first aid injuries, from 28 to 22. These results cover all 
permanent, casual and contracted employees, all employees 
of subcontractors engaged by us, and all our labour hire 
employees who work under the direct supervision and work 
systems of others. As many companies do not report injuries 
to casual and contracted workers or subcontractors’ workers, 
direct comparisons are not often possible.

To further reduce the number of injuries, incidents and near 
misses, we are continuing to focus on leadership, behaviour 
and personal responsibility.

Our safety culture has been based upon core programs such 
as safety conversations, safety pauses, good news stories 
and managers ringing injured workers at home. It has been 
exciting to see many employees develop their own safety 
leadership at home and at work, influencing the adoption of 
safe work practices across the wider community.

Strategy

Our strategy is built on four key components:

1. Safety

We need to have every employee come home uninjured 
every night as a basic tenet of our operations. This also 
means our productivity improves and our costs are 
lower. Customers will hire Programmed because we 
work safely and can help them improve the safety of their 
own operations.

We continue to expand and develop initiatives to improve 
the leadership and safety culture of our entire team. Our 
critical risk standards have been further embedded into the 
safety systems of each of our businesses and our customer 
operations. We have commenced the rollout of our Life 
Saving Rules to focus all employees further on the key things 

that they must know and do to keep them and those around 
them safe. We are developing more rigour and improved 
quality in our site risk assessments and job safety analysis.

Our results tell us that our plan is working. Not only are 
significantly less people being injured; our customers are 
recognising that our ability to improve the safety, and as a 
consequence the productivity, of their operations is a key 
value-add, helping us to secure their ongoing business and 
contributing to their decision to outsource more work.

2. People and Culture

We have a process to develop and enhance the culture 
we expect in all our operations. This is how we have 
improved our safety results. We are constantly engaging 
new employees, with 35,000 different employees each year 
working on thousands of different customer sites, and it 
is important that we can quickly show them, and in some 
cases an entire new workforce, what our culture is and how 
we expect them to perform and behave.

Having established common standards of behaviour around 
safety, we are now pursuing a similar goal around customer 
service to achieve high levels of customer satisfaction. We 
are currently preparing the education materials to be rolled 
out later this year and have selected the reporting system to 
measure customer satisfaction on a common basis across 
all divisions.

3. Systems and Integration

We are continuing a progressive upgrade of our systems 
to enable further significant consolidation of back office 
functions and support as well as, importantly, greater 
online servicing and support for job seekers, employees, 
subcontractors and customers. 

The move to enable all our customers, employees, job 
seekers and subcontractors to interact with us seamlessly 
through online applications and portals using any mobile 
device will change the way we do business.

Our payroll systems have been upgraded and now offer 
self-servicing and online access for all permanent employees 
across Australia and New Zealand.

Our workforce systems upgrade is nearly complete, with an 
entirely new capability to service and support our Workforce 
division’s job seekers, employees and customers through 
online access and, importantly, through any mobile device. 
This system will be launched progressively from July this 
year and will result in significant cost savings, greater 
engagement with the casual workforce and significant 
improvement in customer service.
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Directors’ Report continued

Our finance and accounting, procurement, and project 
control systems will be upgraded over the next 18 months 
to a new “bigger brother” of our current system. This will 
enable employees, subcontractors and customers to access 
the information they need in real time, on any mobile 
device, to plan and manage their work, report effectively 
on a daily basis and help reduce non-productive time. The 
system will also result in further consolidation of our back 
office functions.

Our web and social media presence will be significantly 
upgraded in the next 12 months as we move more of our 
marketing and support to online systems.

The investment in these system upgrades will total 
approximately $17 million, and $3 million has already been 
incurred in FY2014. A further $9 million is expected to be 
incurred in FY2015, followed by $5 million in FY2016.

The main focus of these investments is to secure our future 
in a developing digital world, to grow sales through enabling 
customers to access our services 24/7, and to improve 
operational performance, customer service and satisfaction. 
However, we are also projecting back office cost savings 
of more than $5 million per annum to be fully realised 
in 18 months. One-off restructuring costs of more than 
$5 million are currently projected to deliver these ongoing 
savings, split across our next two years. We recognise there 
are some execution risks attached to these investments, but 
we have a detailed plan to mitigate these.

We have also rebranded both KLM and Turnpoint to become 
Programmed-branded entities to maximise the opportunities 
that arise from the growing strength of our brand and from 
selling the Programmed Difference.

4. Growth

We have articulated clearly the “Programmed Difference” 
and are focused on ensuring our people understand these 
differences and deliver them every day, so it is recognised 
that these are what our company and our brand stand for. In 
a digital world, face-to-face customer interaction may occur 
less often, and thus our online presence and ability to project 
our values and what we stand for are even more important. 
We will invest further in our brand, in online communications 
and in digital marketing to ensure that the differences we 
can make to our customers and the improvements we 
can make to their business performance are understood, 
be it through safety, the quality of people, the effective 
maintenance of an asset, or our responsiveness and great 
customer service. 

We have invested greater effort in seeking how we can 
provide more staffing, maintenance and facility management 
services to our major customers. We have a workforce 

/ HR platform that is readily scalable and we will seek 
opportunities to increase the workforce services we provide 
to grow earnings and lower our average unit operating cost.

We are enacting strategies to pursue a significant share of 
future operations and maintenance expenditures related 
to the infrastructure of the major resource companies, 
utilities and governments. We are positioned to bid for more 
than $3 billion of work associated with major outsourcing 
programs over the next 12 months.

Group Results

Profit after tax for the year ended 31 March 2014 was 
$31.1 million, before equity accounting our 27.5% interest 
in OneShift, a start-up online staffing business; this was 
3.1% lower than FY2013 ($32.1 million) when there was a 
tax benefit of $2.7 million. After equity accounting a loss of 
$0.68 million on our interest in OneShift, net profit after tax 
was $30.5 million.

Also before equity accounting our interest in OneShift, profit 
before tax increased by 5.5% over FY2013 ($42.1 million) to 
$44.4 million and EBIT (earnings before interest and tax) was 
$51.8 million, similar to FY2013 ($52.0 million).

Revenue was $1,435 million, a decrease of 5% from FY2013 
($1,517 million) due mainly to lower revenue from our 
Resources division.

Property & Infrastructure Division

The Property & Infrastructure division provides a range of 
maintenance, property and operational services, including 
painting, electrical, communications, grounds, signage, 
general building repairs and facility management.

The division’s revenue was maintained at $752 million, whilst 
EBIT increased 21% to $28.0 million (FY2013: $23.1 million). 
The higher margin was the result of improved operational 
control across many areas of the business.

During the year, both the KLM electrical business and the 
Turnpoint specialist turf business were further integrated into 
the division and were rebranded as Programmed Electrical 
Technologies and Programmed Turnpoint respectively.

Demand for long term painting maintenance programs 
stabilised, with invested capital of $110.2 million at the 
end of FY2014 compared with $113.6 million a year earlier. 
Whilst painting volumes were similar, margins were higher 
due to lower overheads and improved job management.

As explained last year, we have been steadily reducing our 
exposure to new commercial building electrical works and 
increasing our focus on fit-out, maintenance and upgrades 
of electrical, data and communications systems in existing 
buildings and infrastructure. This has improved profitability 
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despite lower revenue and allows greater opportunity to 
work with the division’s customers.

Revenue from our facility management operations increased 
as a number of new contracts commenced. Margins, 
however, were lower as we increased our expenditure on 
business development and tendering to target a significant 
number of substantial opportunities as governments across 
Australia and New Zealand increasingly seek to outsource 
the operations and maintenance of public infrastructure.

Existing public assets are getting older and require upgrades 
and greater levels of maintenance to maintain service. 
The growing population is requiring new assets to be 
built, thus creating further opportunities, and increasingly 
governments at all levels are looking for privately funded and 
managed solutions.

Resources Division

The Resources division provides a range of workforce, 
maintenance, construction support and operational services 
to both the offshore oil and gas and onshore mining 
sectors. Revenue was $307 million, 13% less than FY2013 
($354 million), due to the completion of a major onshore 
mining project where we were providing workforce services 
during the construction phase.

EBIT was $24.4 million, 21% lower (FY2013: $31.0 million) 
due almost entirely to the reduction in onshore mining 
project activity.

The offshore oil and gas sector continued to deliver a 
similar result to last year and contributed all of the division’s 
earnings in FY2014.

Demand for vessel management, manning, catering and 
logistical services remained strong throughout most of the 
year across Australia and New Zealand.

However, some customers have become concerned about 
the current stalemate in negotiations for a new Australian 
marine EBA, following expiry of the previous EBA last year, 
and thus some work may be deferred in the short term to 
avoid any potential industrial action. These continue to be 
difficult negotiations as it remains completely impractical to 
accept the present union demands, and there remains some 
risk of industrial action with associated short term revenue 
and cost impacts during the negotiation period.

We were successful in securing a major contract for works 
associated with Inpex’s Ichthys project which will commence 
later in our FY2015 year.

Workforce Division

The Workforce division provides a range of staffing services 
across all industry sectors.

Revenue was $373 million, down 8% from FY2013 
($407 million), but margins improved due to lower costs 
across the business. As a result, EBIT was $10.5 million, 
slightly below the $10.7 million in FY2013.

The staffing industry is facing major digital disruption to 
its traditional methods, affecting costs and margins. The 
traditional placement fee paid to a recruitment firm for 
searching and finding a worker is rapidly being replaced by 
customers using online search and database systems to find 
and match candidates for specific jobs. The placement fee 
revenue of many recruitment firms, although not a material 
component of our income, is at historical lows and we 
believe will never fully recover. Large employers are investing 
in online technology and using social media to recruit 
and maintain their own database of potential full-time and 
part-time employees.

Thus, we are reshaping our own Workforce business by:

1. Undertaking a significant upgrade of the core Workforce 
business system to provide new capability that operates 
simply and efficiently across any mobile device. This will 
significantly enhance our ability to find and support job 
seekers, increase engagement with our casual workforce, 
and improve customer service and satisfaction. We have 
invested more than $2 million in this system over the 
past 12 months and will be launching it across Australia 
and New Zealand in the coming months.

2. Using the upgraded system capability to further 
centralise recruitment functions in each state, expand 
the mobile account / sales network, reduce the need for 
some branches, and lower overall overhead costs.

3. Encouraging customers to appreciate the advantages 
of hiring staff from Programmed to access the skills we 
can offer across the entire group. We want customers to 
value the “Programmed Difference” and we are growing 
the list of customers who procure both staffing and 
maintenance / FM services.

4. Investing $5 million for a 27.5% equity stake in a start-up 
online business called OneShift which focuses on the 
temporary employment market, matching potential 
candidates with businesses seeking temporary workers 
on a fee per candidate basis. We believe OneShift can 
be an attractive placement service for thousands of 
small and medium size employers, and we are actively 
promoting it and working with the other shareholders to 
refine the system to meet market requirements. As it is 
a start-up business, we have forecast losses in the short 
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term as we build scale and improve the product. Whilst it 
is not yet possible to predict the extent online matching 
systems will take over the traditional staffing placement 
fee revenue, it is becoming clear that the historical 
placement fee structures and margins are being broken 
and that significant technology investment is required to 
be part of the future. 

Net Unallocated Costs (FY2014: $10.1 million 
vs $10.2 million pcp)

These relate to corporate overheads and a range of 
non-trading income and expenses, including foreign 
exchange movements on UK and NZ payments.

Restructuring Costs (FY2014: $1.0 million vs 
$2.6 million pcp)

These relate to redundancy and termination expenses 
associated with overhead cost reductions.

Balance Sheet and Cash Flows

Gross operating cash flow was $80.6 million, 11% lower 
than FY2013 ($90.6 million) and 129% of EBITDA (earnings 
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation). Net 
operating cash flow was $55.8 million, 2% lower than 
FY2013 ($56.9 million). 

With the continued focus on capital management and 
strong operating cash flow, the group’s net debt reduced 
to $42.2 million at 31 March 2014, from $67.1 million at 
31 March 2013. The net debt to equity ratio fell to 10.3% 
from 17.1%.

In December 2013, we agreed new financing terms with our 
banks (Westpac Banking Corporation and National Australia 
Bank), replacing facilities which were due to expire in 
October 2014. Our considerably strengthened balance sheet 
enabled us to negotiate facilities extending to December 
2017 and, as we were not using all our facilities, our 
revolving debt capacity was reduced by $50 million.

The bank syndicated facility includes three financing 
tranches aggregating $200 million (previously 
$250 million) comprising:

• Working capital and overdraft facility of $60 million 
(rolling 1 year term); previously $70 million;

• A revolving debt facility of $70 million (4 year term); 
previously $120 million and 3 year term; and

• A bank guarantee facility of $70 million (3 year term); 
previously $60 million and 1 year term.

Other arrangements remain for ongoing support of asset 
finance requirements ($17 million).

The group operated throughout the year well within its 
loan covenants.

Conclusion

We believe that delivery of a similar EBIT (excluding equity 
accounting of OneShift), along with strong operational 
performance (safety, retention of customers, employee 
engagement), a reduction in debt and increased dividends, 
represents a good result for shareholders in the current 
environment. We thank them for their support, and we 
also thank each one of our 10,000 + employees for their 
continuing commitment to serving our customers in a 
safe manner.

We are planning to invest heavily in technology over the next 
two years to position the business with a more efficient and 
lower cost base and a significantly greater field capability to 
service our customers.

There is a significant uptrend at present in outsourcing by 
government and industry and we have a very large pipeline 
of opportunities to tender over the next 12 months.

Our business model, providing staffing, maintenance and 
facility management services across all industry sectors, 
gives Programmed considerable strength and we will 
continue to manage the group conservatively, while pursuing 
and taking advantage of growth opportunities.
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5. Dividends

Dividends paid or declared by the Company to Shareholders since 1 April 2013 were:

Paid during the year

Dividends Paid Cents per share
Total amount  

$’000 Franked/Unfranked Date of payment

Final 2013 10 11,817 Fully franked 26 July 2013

Interim 2014 6 7,093 Fully franked 23 January 2014

Determined after end of year

Dividends Proposed Cents per share
Total amount 

$’000 Franked/Unfranked Date of payment

Final 20141 11 13,008 Fully franked 25 July 2014 

1. No provision has been made for the final 2014 dividend in the financial report for the financial year as the dividend was not declared or determined by 
the Directors on or before the end of the financial year. 

6. Subsequent Events after the balance date

As at the date of this Directors’ report, the Directors are not 
aware of any other matter or circumstance that has arisen 
in the interval between the end of the financial year under 
review and the date of this Director’s report that, in the 
opinion of the Directors, has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, 
the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity in future financial years.

7.  Likely developments, future business 
strategies and prospects

Information regarding the likely developments in the 
operations of the consolidated entity in future financial years 
and the expected results of those operations, as well as 
information that shareholders would reasonably require to 
make an informed assessment of the consolidated entity’s 
business strategies and prospects for future financial years, 
is included in the Operating and Financial Review above. 

8. Significant changes in the state of affairs

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report, 
in the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant 
changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity that 
occurred during the financial year. 

9. Environmental Regulations

The consolidated entity’s activities are at times subject 
to environmental legislation and regulation by various 
authorities in Australia and New Zealand. The consolidated 
entity aims to achieve a high standard on environmental 
matters and has established procedures to be followed 

should an incident occur that has the potential to adversely 
impact the environment. During the financial year:

• licences were renewed and taken out as and when 
required by environmental legislation or authorities; and

• the Directors did not receive notification by any 
government agency, nor are they aware of any significant 
breaches of environmental laws or licence conditions, in 
respect of the consolidated entity’s operations during the 
financial year under review.

10. Corporate Governance

In recognising the need for high standards of corporate 
behaviour and accountability, the Directors support and 
have adhered to the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 
with 2010 Amendments (2nd edition). The Company’s 
Corporate Governance Statement is on pages 52 to 57 of 
this Annual Report.

11. Remuneration Report – audited

This Remuneration Report sets out remuneration 
information for the consolidated entity’s Key Management 
Personnel for the financial year ended 31 March 2014. The 
prescribed details for each person covered by this report are 
set out below.
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Brian Styles Chief Executive Officer, Integrated Workforce Resigned 26 April 2013

Nicolas Fairbank Chief Executive Officer, Integrated Workforce Appointed 26 April 2013

Stephen Taylor Chief Executive Officer, Property & Infrastructure 
Chief Strategy & Marketing Officer

Position held until 1 June 2013 
New position held from  
1 June 2013

Glenn Triggs Chief Executive Officer, Resources Full year

Glenn Thompson* Chief Executive Officer, Property Services Full year

Michael Waymark* Chief Executive Officer, Facility Management Full year

*Due to organisational structure change these executives became Key Management Personnel on 1 June 2013

Details of Key Management Personnel

The remuneration report sets out remuneration information for the consolidated entity’s Key Management Personnel, which 
includes the Non-Executive Directors, the Managing Director and those executives who have the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the consolidated entity. These individuals are outlined in the table below.

Person Position Period in position during the year

Directors: Non-executive

Bruce Brook Chairman Full year

Jonathan Whittle Non-Executive Director Full year

Emma Stein Non-Executive Director Full year

Robert McKinnon Non-Executive Director Full year

Andrea Grant Non-Executive Director Full year

Directors: Executive

Christopher Sutherland Managing Director Full year

Executives:

Stephen Leach Chief Financial Officer Full year

Remuneration policy

Remuneration governance and external 
remuneration information

The Board oversees the Company’s remuneration 
arrangements. In performing this function, the Board is 
assisted by recommendations from the Remuneration & 
People Committee (“Committee”), external consultants 
and internal advice. The Committee is responsible for 
the detailed review of the remuneration arrangements of 
Directors, the Managing Director and other executives and 
for making recommendations to the full Board in respect 
of those arrangements. The Board sets the remuneration 
arrangements for Directors and the Managing Director. The 
Managing Director, in consultation with the Board, sets 
remuneration arrangements for other executives. 

Further details of the role and function of the Committee are 
set out in the Remuneration & People Committee Charter, 
which is available on the Company’s website.

To perform its role, the Committee can directly engage 
and receive information, advice and recommendations 
from independent external advisers. The Company has 
arrangements in place to ensure that the engagement and 
use of external remuneration consultants by the Committee 
is free from undue influence by the members of Key 
Management Personnel to whom the information, advice or 
recommendation relates. 

During the financial year, the Committee appointed Hay 
Group to review and provide recommendations in relation to 
the remuneration of the consolidated entity’s Non-Executive 
Directors, the Managing Director and other executives; 
however, due to the decision of the Board not to review the 
remuneration of these groups during the financial year, Hay 
Group was not required to, and did not, provide remuneration 
recommendations to the consolidated entity. Hay Group did, 
however, provide other advice in relation to job evaluation 
services, access to their remuneration database and training 
services to the consolidated entity. The consideration paid to 
Hay Group in respect of these other services was $35,508.
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In accordance with the protocols approved by the Board, Hay 
Group was commissioned by the Chairman of the Committee. 
Where requested all reports, advice and recommendations 
relating to the Managing Director’s remuneration, the 
senior management’s remuneration and the Non-Executive 
Directors’ fees are required to be provided directly to the 
Chairman of the Committee. In addition to these internal 
protocols, in each case where advice is provided, Hay Group 
is required to provide a formal declaration confirming that 
the recommendation was made free from undue influence 
by the members of the Key Management Personnel to whom 
the recommendation related. However, as noted above, 
Hay Group did not provide remuneration recommendations 
or advice in relation to key management personnel of the 
consolidated entity during the financial year.

Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directors aims 
to attract, retain, motivate and to remunerate fairly and 
responsibly having regard to the level of fees paid to Non-
Executive Directors relative to other similarly sized Australian 
companies, the size and nature of the consolidated group’s 
operations and the responsibilities and work requirements of 
Board members.

Non-Executive Director fees are paid in cash and determined 
by the Remuneration & People Committee following 
consideration of market conditions and any information, 
advice or recommendations from remuneration consultants. 
In addition to these fees, Non-Executive Directors are entitled 
to reimbursement of reasonable travel, accommodation and 
other expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board, 
Board committees or shareholders, or while engaged on 
Company business. Other than statutory superannuation 
payments, there are no retirement benefits or other 
allowances paid on behalf of Non-Executive Directors. Non-
Executive Directors are not eligible for any bonus or incentive 
payments and the Non-Executive Directors do not participate 
in any share-based incentive plans.

The maximum aggregate amount that can be paid to 
Non-Executive Directors (the “fee pool”) is currently 
$850,000 per annum, including superannuation, which 
includes an allowance for an increase in the number of 
directors if required. Actual Non-Executive Directors’ fees 
paid for the reporting period were $710,000. There has been 
no increase in the fee pool amount since its approval by 
shareholders at the 2010 Annual General Meeting.

Details of the fees paid to Non-Executive Directors for the 
2014 and 2013 financial years is set out on pages 36 and 37 
of this Directors’ report.

Executives

In this section, the term “executives” means the Managing 
Director and other executives of the consolidated entity (that 

is, all members of Key Management Personnel other than the 
Non-Executive Directors).

The remuneration policy for the executives aims to provide 
fair and equitable remuneration in order to retain and attract 
executives of sufficient calibre to facilitate the efficient and 
effective management of the consolidated entity’s operations. 
The policy has been consistently applied over past years and 
sets remuneration levels that are:

• market competitive, based on independent benchmark 
research provided by the remuneration consultants; and

• structured for the executives to reward the achievement 
of defined annual goals directly linked to performance 
and the creation of longer term shareholder wealth.

The remuneration packages of the executives are reviewed at 
least annually by the Committee. These packages combine:

• fixed annual remuneration, including superannuation 
and allowances;

• short term performance incentives assessed over the 
Company’s financial year; and

• long term performance incentives assessed over periods 
of three to five years.

Fixed Annual Remuneration

The market rate of fixed annual remuneration is determined 
through analysis of data provided by the remuneration 
consultants and consideration of the consolidated entity’s 
particular circumstances. The consolidated entity seeks to 
benchmark the remuneration paid to the executives based 
on comparative data provided by the consultants. 

The comparative data used for the Managing Director 
is obtained from listed Australian companies. For other 
executives, the comparative data from both listed Australian 
companies and subsidiaries of international groups is used 
where relevant.

The actual level of remuneration appropriate for each 
executive is determined based on the following principles:

a. market based remuneration – remuneration is based 
on the current position held by the relevant key 
executive; and

b. positioning within the market range – where a 
key executive sits within the relevant market range 
is determined by performance as well as market 
and internal relativities. Key executives that are top 
performers are remunerated between the midpoint 
and the upper end of the range while less experienced 
or lesser performing key managers are remunerated 
between the entry and mid-point of the range. 
Progression within the range is based on an assessment 
of performance during the preceding assessment period.
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Each executive is given the opportunity to receive their fixed 
remuneration in a variety of forms, including cash and other 
benefits. This enables the form of fixed remuneration to be 
optimal for each executive without creating undue cost for 
the consolidated entity.

Short Term Incentives

The short term incentives disclosed in the 2014 financial 
year have been approved by the Board and unless otherwise 
noted are consistent with the Company’s established Short 
Term Incentive Plan (“STIP”). The Board and the Committee 
use key performance indicators (“KPIs”) that measure the 
overall success of the consolidated entity. The majority of 
KPIs related to achievement of corporate targets in respect of 
financial performance, employee safety, employee retention 
and development and business improvement projects, as 
described below.

The Committee considers the final results and KPIs for each 
year prior to determining if any short term incentives are to 
be paid. If the annual financial results and KPI targets are met, 
the Committee then:

a. determines the amount of the Managing Director’s short 
term incentive; and 

b. reviews and approves the Managing Director’s 
recommendations as to the allocation of the short term 
incentive to applicable executives.

Payment of any applicable short term incentives is made in 
the financial year following the relevant assessed financial 
year. All of the executives of the consolidated entity have 
similar “Executive Service Agreements” (key contractual 
details are set out on pages 44 to 48 of this Directors’ report), 
which specify the fixed annual remuneration as well as 
entitlements to short term and long term incentives.

Managing Director

Under his Executive Service Agreement, the Managing 
Director can receive a short term incentive paid in cash 
up to the value of 75% (2013: 75%) of his fixed annual 
remuneration payable upon achievement or exceeding of 
established performance objectives.

The tables below show the weightings applied to 
performance measures for the Managing Director for the 
2014 and 2013 financial years:

2014 Performance Measures %

The achievement of targets and objectives 
designed to improve the safety performance of 
the business 6.7

The achievement of the established 
financial targets 66.6

The achievement of targets and objectives 
designed to improve the attraction, retention and 
performance of all employees 8.3

The achievement of specific objectives 
designed to support growth and business 
performance improvement 8.3

The achievement of specific objectives intended to 
support improvements in capital management and 
other financial objectives 6.7

The maintenance of high quality governance 
processes within the business 3.4

2013 Performance Measures %

The achievement of targets and objectives 
designed to improve the safety performance of 
the business 6.7

The achievement of the established 
financial targets 66.6

The achievement of targets and objectives 
designed to improve the attraction, retention and 
performance of all employees 6.7

The achievement of specific objectives 
designed to support growth and business 
performance improvement 13.3

The achievement of specific objectives intended to 
support improvements in capital management 6.7

These performance measures are agreed between the 
Managing Director and the Committee as part of the annual 
planning process, against which the Managing Director’s 
performance will be measured. The performance measures 
are approved by the Board.

Other Executives 

For the other executives, the short term incentives 
payable are determined by performance against financial 
targets and also takes into account other performance 
measures covering HSE (including LTIFR measure), 
capital management, people management and strategy 
(3-5 key objectives specific to each Senior Manager’s role), 
established annually with the Managing Director. 

Other executives can receive a 2014 short term incentive 
of up to 30% of their fixed annual remuneration. 100% of 
this short term incentive is paid in cash. The short term 
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incentive will continue to be determined by the performance 
measures discussed above. 

In May 2014, the Committee considered the 
recommendations relating to other executives under the 
STIP and recommended that the short term incentives 
determined in the 2014 financial year be approved by the 
Board. The short term incentives were approved by the 
Board and will be paid in July 2014. The financial statements 
for the financial year include an aggregate accrual for total 
payments to be made under the STIP. 

Long Term Incentives

The Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) is a share-based 
compensation scheme for executives and senior employees 
of the consolidated entity. The LTIP provides executives 
and senior employees with performance rights that upon 
vesting entitle the holder to receive shares in the Company 
(“Performance Rights”) to encourage them to align their 
performance with shareholders. The Managing Director is 
also entitled, subject to shareholder approval, to receive 
grants on the same terms as under the LTIP except as noted 
below. Participants in the LTIP cannot dispose or otherwise 
deal with their Performance Rights. This has been an 
important tool to attract and retain executive talent and will 
continue to be important in the future. 

Under the LTIP, eligible employees are offered an allocation 
of Performance Rights. The number of Performance Rights 
offered to each eligible employee is determined with 
reference to market practice, individual contribution and the 
influence of the role on business outcomes. 

The LTIP was first introduced during the 2008 financial year. 
The terms of the LTIP were revised during the 2013 financial 
year with effect from 1 July 2012. Performance Rights 
granted prior to amendments to the LTIP will be subject to 
the terms of the LTIP existing at the time of grant. 

The key changes to the LTIP that applied for grants made 
after 1 July 2012 are outlined below:

• Performance Rights are granted in a single tranche, 
vesting over a period of 4 years (previously a period of 
between 3 and 5 years determined at grant);

• the qualifying period for pro rata participation (if an 
employee ends his or her employment under good leave 
provisions prior to the vesting date, such as for reason 
of redundancy, death, medical illness, incapacity or total 
and permanent disablement) has been extended from 
6 to 24 months from grant. Performance Rights may also 
vest prior to the vesting date on a change of control in 
certain circumstances;

• the Performance Rights automatically entitle the 
employee to receive ordinary shares in the Company 
upon vesting and will no longer provide the employee 

with an option to exercise the Performance Rights at any 
time over a twelve month period following vesting;

• additional performance criteria, measured against the 
growth of the Company’s earnings per share, have been 
included (previously performance criteria only was 
measured against total shareholder return (“TSR”) and 
continued employment); 

• an adjustment to the performance criteria relating to TSR, 
so that the number of Performance Rights subject to the 
TSR condition that vest will be determined on a pro rata 
basis from 0% to 100% depending on TSR performance 
between the 40th and 75th percentile, rather than 
move from 0% to 50% at a single point. Under the 
performance criteria applicable to previously approved 
Performance Rights, 50% of Performance Rights would 
vest if TSR performance was at the 50th percentile, and 
nil would vest if TSR performance was below that. As 
set out in more detail below, the Performance Rights will 
start to vest if TSR performance is at the 40th percentile, 
and then vest pro rata from that point on, such that TSR 
performance at the 57th percentile would need to be 
achieved before 50% of the Performance Rights would 
vest; and

• the LTIP no longer provides for the grant of Performance 
Options. The current intention is to not issue 
Performance Options, with no new Performance Options 
issued since 2009.

Summary of LTIP Rules applicable for post 1 July 2012 
Grants (“2012 Award”)

Executives and Other Senior Employees

Executives and other senior employees have been granted 
Performance Rights under the LTIP on the following specific 
terms (in addition to the general terms outlined above):

a. Each Performance Right entitles the holder to one fully 
paid ordinary share in the Company on vesting. No 
amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt 
or vesting of a Performance Right. Performance Rights 
have a vesting date of four years from the date of issue.

b. The Performance Rights carry neither rights to dividends 
nor voting rights.

Performance criteria for these Performance Rights are 
as follows:
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Performance Criteria Weighting Details

1. Continued Employment 1/3 The performance hurdle for one-third of the Performance Rights will be based 
on the executive or other senior employee continuing to be an employee of the 
consolidated entity at the vesting date, thus creating a retention component.

2.  Total Shareholder Return 
(“TSR”)

1/3 The performance hurdle for one-third of the Performance Rights, will be based on 
the Company’s performance by reference to the TSR over the Performance Period 
when compared with the TSR for each company in a group of peer companies. 
The peer group of companies comprises the companies listed in the S&P/ASX 300 
(ranked by market capitalisation) after excluding resource companies, banks and 
listed property trusts. A peer company continues to be included in the comparator 
group for the entire Performance Period, except where the company is delisted due 
to takeover or merger. New entrants into the S&P/ASX 300 during the Performance 
Period are excluded. The Company’s performance ranking within that group of peer 
companies at the end of the relevant Performance Period determines the number of 
TSR Performance Rights that vest, as follows:

Performance Criteria TSR Performance Rights vest

Below 40th percentile None vest

Between 40th and 75th percentile 
(inclusive)

TSR Performance Rights that vest to be 
determined on a straight line escalation 
from the 40th percentile (0% vest) to the 
75th percentile (100% vest).

Above 75th percentile 100% of TSR Performance Rights vest

3.  Earnings Per Share  
(“EPS”)

1/3 The performance hurdle for one-third of the Performance Rights will be based on the 
Company’s EPS performance, where a target range for the average annual growth 
in diluted EPS over the Performance Period of the EPS Performance Rights has been 
established to determine the number of EPS Performance Rights that vest, as follows:

Performance Criteria EPS Performance Rights vest

Average growth of less than 5% pa None vest

Average growth from 5% to 15% pa EPS Performance Rights that vest 
to be determined on a straight line 
escalation from EPS growth of 5% pa 
(0% vest) to EPS growth of 15% pa 
(100% vest)

Average growth above 15% pa 100% of EPS Performance Rights vest

The starting EPS is the reported audited EPS for the financial year ended 31 March 
prior to grant.
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The Board considers that performance conditions based 
on the Company’s performance against a clearly defined 
peer group in terms of TSR and on the Company’s EPS is an 
appropriate way to gauge changes to shareholder wealth. 
The method set out in the table above for determining 
whether this performance condition is satisfied is considered 
appropriate, because it provides direct alignment between the 
proportion of Performance Rights that vest and the Company’s 
performance when ranked against both its peer group and its 
prior financial performance.

The vesting period for these Performance Rights is four years.

Managing Director

The Managing Director was granted 160,000 Performance 
Rights after Shareholder approval was given at the Annual 
General Meeting on 7 August 2013. Upon certain vesting 
conditions being met, the Company will issue to the Managing 
Director one fully paid ordinary share per Performance Right for 
nil consideration. The Managing Director’s grant under the LTIP 
is subject to the same performance criteria described above, 
except that:

• half of the Performance Rights are subject to 
performance criteria 2 described above – Total 
Shareholder Return; and

• half of the Performance Rights are subject to 
performance criteria 3 described above – Earnings 
Per Share.

The vesting period for these Performance Rights is four years.

If the Company becomes the subject of:

a. a takeover bid and the bid is accepted in respect of at 
least 50% of the shares in the Company; 

b. a scheme of arrangement and the scheme proceeds with 
shareholder and Court approval; or 

c. an arrangement which passes control of more than 50% 
of the share capital, (“change of control event”)

the number of Performance Rights that will vest will be the 
greater of: 

• 50% of the Performance Rights; and 

• such number of the Performance Rights as determined in 
accordance with the performance criteria detailed above.

In the case of all other long term incentive participants, the 
Directors will apply their reasonable endeavours to negotiate a 
transition to an alternate plan that they assess as being no less 
favourable than the existing LTIP.

In the event of a bonus issue, rights issue or any capital 
reconstruction the number of Performance Rights will be 
adjusted, at the discretion of the Board, in compliance with the 
ASX Listing Rules to take into account the impact of the capital 
reconstruction or issue.

Summary of LTIP Rules applicable for pre  
1 July 2012 Grants

Executives and other senior employees, including the 
Managing Director, have been granted Performance Rights and/
or Performance Options under the LTIP in prior financial years. 
100% of the pre 1 July 2012 grants to the Managing Director 
are subject to the TSR performance criteria described below. 

The securities issued under the LTIP pre-1 July 2012 were 
granted on the following terms:

a. Each Performance Option converts into one fully paid 
ordinary share in the Company upon the payment of 
the applicable exercise price at the time of exercise. No 
amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt 
of a Performance Option. Performance Options have a 
vesting date that is three years from the date of issue 
and may be exercised at any time within twelve months 
from the date of vesting. 

b. Each Performance Right converts upon exercise into one 
fully paid ordinary share in the Company. No amounts 
are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt or exercise 
of a Performance Right. Performance Rights have vesting 
dates that are three to five years from the date of issue 
and may be exercised at any time within twelve months 
from date of vesting. 

c. Both Performance Rights and Performance Options carry 
neither rights to dividends nor voting rights.
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Performance Criteria for the Performance Rights and Performance Options granted pre-1 July 2012 are as follows:

Performance Criteria Weighting Details

1. Continued Employment 1/3 for grants made 
between 1 July 2010 
and 30 June 2012

Nil for grants made 
prior to 1 July 2010

This performance hurdle is based on the executive or other senior 
employee continuing to be an employee of the consolidated entity at the 
vesting date, thus creating a retention component.

2. Total Shareholder Return 2/3 for grants made 
between 1 July 2010 
and 30 June 2012

100% for grants 
made prior to  
1 July 2010 

100% for grants 
made prior to  
30 June 2012 to the 
Managing Director.

This performance hurdle is based on the Company’s performance ranking 
over the relevant period (the “Performance Period”) determined by 
reference to the TSR of the Company during the Performance Period as 
compared to the TSR for each company in a peer group of companies. The 
peer group of companies comprises the companies listed in the S&P/ASX 
300 (ranked by market capitalisation) after excluding resource companies, 
banks and listed property trusts. A peer company continues to be included 
in the comparator group for the entire Performance Period, except where 
the company is delisted due to takeover or merger. New entrants into the 
S&P/ASX300 during the performance period are excluded.

The Company’s “Performance Ranking” within that group of companies 
at the end of the relevant Performance Period determines the number of 
Performance Rights or Performance Options in the particular tranche that 
vest and become exercisable (if any), as follows:

Performance Criteria Number of Performance Rights 
or Performance Options (“Rights and 
Options”) exercisable

Performance Ranking below 
50th Percentile

No Rights or Options exercisable 
(as applicable)

Performance Ranking at the 
50th Percentile

50% of the Rights or Options 
exercisable (as applicable) in the 
tranche available to be exercised

Performance Ranking between 
the 50th and 75th Percentile 
(both inclusive)

Rights or Options exercisable (as 
applicable) in the tranche available to 
be exercised will be determined on 
a pro-rata basis between 50% and 
100% depending on the Company’s 
percentile Performance Ranking

Performance Ranking at or above 
75th Percentile

100% of Rights or Options exercisable 
(as applicable) in the tranche available 
to be exercised

The Performance Rights and Performance Options in each particular tranche which become exercisable will become available 
for exercise from the day after vesting (the “Exercise Date”). Any Performance Rights or Performance Options in a particular 
tranche that do not become exercisable will lapse on the last day of the period of which performance is assessed. The 
Performance Rights and Performance Options available for exercise can be exercised at any time over the twelve month period 
beginning on the Exercise Date (the “Exercise Period”). Any Performance Rights and Performance Options that have not been 
exercised by the end of the Exercise Period will lapse at that time.

The vesting period for these Performance Rights and Performance Options ranges from three to five years.

The Managing Director’s Performance Rights granted in prior financial years are subject to the same performance criteria 
described above, except that the performance hurdle for all Performance Rights will be the TSR Performance hurdle described 
above. The vesting period for these Performance Rights ranges from three to five years.
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If the Company becomes the subject of a change of control 
event as defined above, then the Performance Rights and 
Performance Options may vest as detailed above.

Programmed Employee Share Acquisition 
Plan (“PESAP”)

The PESAP was launched in 2010 and allows employees to 
buy ordinary shares in the Company, with payment being 
made from their pre-tax pay. Employees can elect to buy 
shares to an annual value of $500, $750 or $1,000. The 
objective is to provide an opportunity for all employees to 
have ownership and participate in the Company’s growth. 

Relationship between the remuneration policy 
and company performance

The Board is of the view that there is a strong correlation 
between the remuneration policy and the Company’s 
performance. KPI’s for short term incentives are linked to the 

Company’s objectives and vesting of the majority of long 
term incentives occurs only when either TSR outperforms 
the median of other listed companies or the Company’s 
earnings per share growth exceeds specified thresholds 
(further information on these performance hurdles and 
thresholds is set out on pages 30 to 35 of this Directors’ 
report). In the 2010 to 2014 financial years where the 
Company was impacted by, or still exposed to the effects 
of, the economic downturn, the only long term incentives 
that vested were those resulting from employees who 
continued to be employed by the Company at the vesting 
date, therefore meeting the 1/3 retention performance hurdle, 
the short term incentives paid were targeted and related to 
specific business unit and/or individual performance. If the 
performance hurdles established are met or exceeded, then 
it is expected that a greater number of long term incentives 
will vest in the future.

The table below sets out summary information about the consolidated entity’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth 
for the five years to 31 March 2014:

Financial Years Ended 31 March 

20101 2011 2012 2013 2014

Revenue ($’000) 1,161,520 1,227,5702 1,393,639 1,517,419 1,434,923

Profit before tax ($’000) 38,133 15,3502 44,172 42,087 43,672

Profit after tax ($’000) 24,933 10,428 31,220 32,137 30,452

Growth in profit after tax (11.2%) (58.2%) 199.4% 2.9% (5.2%)

Earnings per share (cents) 23.5 8.8 26.4 27.2 25.8

Dividends

 –  Total dividends per share (cents) 9.0 9.0 13.0 15.0 17.0

 –  Dividend payout ratio 41%3 48%3 49% 55% 66%

 –  Dividend franking 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Share Price at 31 March $3.08 $1.70 $2.52 $2.56 $2.90

No. of Shares issued at 31 March (millions) 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.3

Market Capitalisation at 31 March ($ millions) 364 201 298 303 343

Notes:

1. 31/3/2010 results have been restated as a result of the change in accounting policy for painting programmes announced on 10 November 2010.

2. 31/3/2011 includes revenue and loss before tax of discontinued operations comprising the UK painting business.

3. Calculated on net profit after tax from continuing operations.
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Bonuses and share-based payments granted as compensation for the current financial year:

(a) Short Term Incentives

The cash bonuses granted during the 2014 financial year to Key Management Personnel (other than Non-Executive Directors) 
under the STIP are shown in the table below and relate to performance in the 2014 financial year. The cash bonuses will be paid 
in July 2014. The performance criteria applicable to the short term incentives referred to in this section are set out on pages 30 
and 31 of this Directors’ report. 

Name Date of Grant

Included in 
remuneration 

$

Paid during the 
reporting period 

%

Forfeited because 
performance 

criteria not met 
%

The financial years 
(after this reporting 

period) in which 
the bonus will be 

payable (assuming 
performance 

conditions are met)

Director:

C. Sutherland 21/05/2014 200,795 Nil 70 2015

Executive:

S. Leach 21/05/2014 48,000 Nil 67 2015

B. Styles – – Nil – –

N. Fairbank 21/05/2014 17,500 Nil 83 2015

S. Taylor 21/05/2014 34,350 Nil 75 2015

G. Triggs 01/08/2013 
21/05/2014 

100,0001

23,250
100% 

Nil
– 

83
2014 
2015

M. Waymark 21/05/2014 62,000 Nil 46 2015

G. Thompson 21/05/2014 52,000 Nil 55 2015

No variable component is outstanding in relation to the cash bonuses.

1. This relates to one-off specific objectives that were achieved.
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(b) Long Term Incentives

Performance Rights

During the financial year, the share-based payment arrangements comprising Performance Rights and Performance Options, as 
detailed in Note 35 to the financial statements, were in existence. 

The Performance Rights granted during the 2014 financial year to Key Management Personnel (other than Non-Executive 
Directors) under the LTIP are shown in the tables below. The performance criteria applicable to the grants referred to in this 
section are set out on pages 31 to 35 of this Directors’ report. 

Name Date of grant

Number of 
Performance 

Rights Nature of Grant

Included in 
remuneration  

$

Vested or 
was paid 

during the 
reporting 

period  
%

Forfeited 
because 

performance 
criteria not 

met  
%

The financial 
years (after 

this reporting 
period) in 
which the 

Performance 
Rights 

will vest 
(assuming all 
performance 

conditions 
are met)

Director:

C. Sutherland 2/07/2013 160,000
Performance 

Rights 25,387 Nil Nil 2017

Executive:

S. Leach 2/07/2013 120,000
Performance 

Rights 24,682 Nil Nil 2017

B. Styles – Nil – – – – –

N. Fairbank 2/07/2013 85,000
Performance 

Rights 17,483 Nil Nil 2017

S. Taylor 2/07/2013 60,000
Performance 

Rights 12,341 Nil Nil 2017

G. Triggs 2/07/2013 60,000
Performance 

Rights 12,341 Nil Nil 2017

M. Waymark 2/07/2013 40,000
Performance 

Rights 8,227 Nil Nil 2017

G. Thompson 2/07/2013 40,000
Performance 

Rights 8,227 Nil Nil 2017
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The table below shows Performance Rights granted, lapsed and vested during the financial year. The Performance Rights that 
lapsed during the year lapsed as a result of the performance hurdles, discussed on pages 31 to 35, not being met.

Granted during the year Lapsed during the year Vested during the year

Executive Number Tranche

Value 
(calculated 

at grant) 
$ Number

Value at 
date of 
lapse1 

$ Tranche Number

Value at 
date of 

vesting1 
$ Tranche

Director:

C. Sutherland 160,000
 2013 

Award 158,400 Nil Nil – Nil Nil –

Executive:

S. Leach 120,000
2013 

Award 132,000 13,333 31,333 PR-14 6,667 16,668 PR-14

B. Styles Nil – – Nil – – Nil – –

N. Fairbank 85,000
2013 

Award 93,500 1,000 2,350 PR-14 500 1,250 PR-14

S. Taylor 60,000
2013 

Award 66,000 6,519 18,449 PR-10 8,481 24,595 PR-10

6,667 15,667 PR-14 3,333 8,233 PR-14

G. Triggs 60,000
2013 

Award 66,000 4,129 11,685 PR-10 5,371 15,576 PR-10

6,667 15,667 PR-14 3,333 8,333 PR-14

M. Waymark 40,000
2013 

Award 44,000 10,000 23,500 PR-14 5,000 12,500 PR-14

G. Thompson 40,000
2013 

Award 44,000 Nil – – Nil – –

1. At the date of lapse and vesting, the closing market share price has been used to determine the value of the Performance Rights.

The table below shows the Performance Rights that were forfeited during the financial year for Mr Brian Styles as a result of his 
resignation on 26 April 2013. No other Performance Rights were forfeited during the financial year.

Name Forfeited during the year

Executive Number
Value at date of forfeiture1 

$ Tranche

B. Styles 9,500 23,560 PR-10

10,000 24,800 PR-14

10,000 24,800 PR-15

10,000 24,800 PR-16

30,000 74,400 PR-17

30,000 74,400 PR-18

40,000 99,200 PR-19

60,000 148,800 2012 Award

1. At the date of forfeiture, the closing market share price has been used to determine the value of the Performance Rights.
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The table below shows the Performance Rights granted under the LTIP that vested during the financial year. 

Executive
Number of rights 
that have vested Tranche

Total number of 
rights granted for 

that tranche

Value per right
at vesting date1

$
% of grant 
that vested

Director:

C. Sutherland Nil – – – –

Executive:

S. Leach 6,667 PR-14 20,000 2.50 33

B. Styles Nil – – – –

N. Fairbank 500 PR-14 1,500 2.50 33

S. Taylor 8,481 PR-10 15,000 2.90 56.54

3,333 PR-14 10,000 2.47 33

G. Triggs 5,371 PR-10 9,500 2.90 56.54

3,333 PR-14 10,000 2.50 33

M. Waymark 5,000 PR-14 15,000 2.50 33

G. Thompson Nil – – – –

1. At the date of vesting, the closing market share price has been used to determine the value of the Performance Rights.

The fair value of Performance Rights that may vest in future years is set out below. The amount reported is calculated in 
accordance with AASB 2 Share-based payment.

Executive Grant date Number Tranche

Fair value 
per right at 
grant date 

$

Fair value of 
total rights 

at grant date 
$

Amount 
paid or 

payable 
by the 

participant  
$

First exer-
cise date

Expiry date 
(last exer-
cise date)

Director:

C. Sutherland  02/07/2011 150,000 PR-17 1.35 202,500 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

 02/07/2011 150,000 PR-18 1.34 201,000 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 150,000 PR-19 1.32 198,000 Nil 01/07/2016 01/07/2017

02/07/2012 150,000 2012 Award 1.17 175,500 Nil 01/07/2016 N/A

02/07/2013 160,000 2013 Award 0.99 158,400 Nil 01/07/2017 N/A

Executive:

S. Leach 02/07/2010 20,000 PR-15 1.15 23,000 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

02/07/2010 20,000 PR-16 1.11 22,200 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 60,000 PR-17 1.35 81,000 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

 02/07/2011 60,000 PR-18 1.34 80,400 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 80,000 PR-19 1.32 105,600 Nil 01/07/2016 01/07/2017

02/07/2012 100,000 2012 Award 1.31 131,000 Nil 01/07/2016 N/A

02/07/2013 120,000 2013 Award 1.10 132,000 Nil 01/07/2017 N/A
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Executive Grant date Number Tranche

Fair value 
per right at 
grant date 

$

Fair value of 
total rights 

at grant date 
$

Amount 
paid or 

payable 
by the 

participant  
$

First exer-
cise date

Expiry date 
(last exer-
cise date)

B. Styles Nil – – – – – – –

N. Fairbank 02/07/2010 1,500 PR-15 1.15 1,725 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

02/07/2010 2,000 PR-16 1.11 2,220 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 6,000 PR-17 1.35 8,100 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

 02/07/2011 6,000 PR-18 1.34 8,040 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 8,000 PR-19 1.32 10,560 Nil 01/07/2016 01/07/2017

02/07/2012 40,000 2012 Award 1.31 52,400 Nil 01/07/2016 N/A

02/07/2013 85,000 2013 Award 1.10 93,500 Nil 01/07/2017 N/A

S. Taylor 02/07/2010 10,000 PR-15 1.15 11,500 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

02/07/2010 10,000 PR-16 1.11 11,100 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 30,000 PR-17 1.35 40,500 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

 02/07/2011 30,000 PR-18 1.34 40,200 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 40,000 PR-19 1.32 52,800 Nil 01/07/2016 01/07/2017

02/07/2012 60,000 2012 Award  1.31 78,600 Nil 01/07/2016 N/A

02/07/2013 60,000 2013 Award 1.10 66,000 Nil 01/07/2017 N/A

G. Triggs 02/07/2010 10,000 PR-15 1.15 11,500 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

02/07/2010 10,000 PR-16 1.11 11,100 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 30,000 PR-17 1.35 40,500 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

 02/07/2011 30,000 PR-18 1.34 40,200 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 40,000 PR-19 1.32 52,800 Nil 01/07/2016 01/07/2017

02/07/2012 60,000 2012 Award 1.31 76,800 Nil 01/07/2016 N/A

02/07/2013 60,000 2013 Award 1.10 66,000 Nil 01/07/2017 N/A

M. Waymark 02/07/2010 15,000 PR-15 1.15 17,250 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

02/07/2010 20,000 PR-16 1.11 22,200 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 6,000 PR-17 1.35 8,100 Nil 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

 02/07/2011 6,000 PR-18 1.34 8,040 Nil 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

 02/07/2011 8,000 PR-19 1.32 10,560 Nil 01/07/2016 01/07/2017

02/07/2012 25,000 2012 Award 1.31 32,750 Nil 01/07/2016 N/A

02/07/2013 40,000 2013 Award 1.10 44,000 Nil 01/07/2017 N/A

G. Thompson 02/07/2013 40,000 2013 Award 1.10 44,000 Nil 01/07/2017 N/A
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Performance Options

No Performance Options were granted or exercised under the LTIP during the year.

The Performance Options granted under the LTIP that lapsed and vested during the year is set out below:

Lapsed during the year Vested during the year

Executive Number Tranche

Value per 
option at date 

of lapse1 
$ Number

Value per 
option at date 

of vesting1 
$ Tranche

Director:

C. Sutherland Nil – – Nil – –

Executive:

S. Leach Nil – – Nil – –

B. Styles Nil – – Nil – –

N. Fairbank Nil – – Nil – –

S. Taylor 3,911 PO–9 2.83 5,089 2.83 P0–9

G. Triggs 3,911 PO–9 2.83 5,089 2.83 P0–9

M. Waymark Nil – – Nil – –

G. Thompson Nil – – Nil – –

1.  At the date of lapse and vesting, the closing market share price has been used to determine the value of the Performance Options.

The table below shows Performance Options that were forfeited during the year for Mr Brian Styles as a result of his resignation 
on 26 April 2013. No other Performance Options were forfeited during the financial year.

Name Forfeited during the year

Executive Number

Value per option at date 
of forfeiture1 

$ Tranche

B. Styles 9,000 2.48 PO-9

1. At the date of forfeiture, the closing market share price has been used to determine the value of the Performance Options. 

The table below shows the Performance Options granted under the LTIP that vested during the financial year. 

Executive
Number of options 

that have vested Tranche

Total number of 
options granted for 

that tranche

Value per option
at vesting date1

$
% of grant 
that vested

Director:

C. Sutherland Nil – – – –

Executive:

S. Leach Nil – – – –

B. Styles Nil – – – –

N. Fairbank Nil – – – –

S. Taylor 5,089 PO-9 9,000 2.83 56.54

G. Triggs 5,089 PO-9 9,000 2.83 56.54

M. Waymark Nil – – – –

G. Thompson Nil – – – –

1. At the date of vesting, the closing market share price has been used to determine the value of the Performance Options.
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The fair value of Performance Options that may vest in future years is set out below. The amount reported is calculated in 
accordance with AASB 2 Share-based payment.

Name Grant date Number Tranche

Fair value 
per option at 

grant date  
$

Fair value of 
total options 

$

Exercise 
price  

$

Amount 
paid or 

payable 
by the 

participant 
$ Expiry date

Director:

C. Sutherland – Nil – – – – – –

Executive:

S. Leach – Nil – – – – – –

B. Styles – Nil – – – – – –

N. Fairbank – Nil – – – – – –

S. Taylor 12/03/2009 5,089 PO–9 0.25 1,272 1.70 8,651.30 11/03/2015

G. Triggs 12/03/2009 5,089 PO–9 0.25 1,272 1.70 8,651.30 11/03/2015

M. Waymark  –  Nil – – – – – –

G. Thompson – Nil – – – – – –

Key terms of employment contracts

Managing Director

Set out below are the key terms of the Executive Service Agreement (“the Agreement”) of the Managing Director, Christopher 
Sutherland. The Company and Mr Sutherland entered into the Agreement on 6 March 2013 to reflect changes to the 
Corporations Act 2001. Mr Sutherland was previously employed under a different executive service agreement.

Term From 6 March 2013 until one of the following occurs

a. the Company gives the Managing Director 12 months’ written notice;

b. the Managing Director gives the Company 12 months’ written notice; 

c. the Company terminates the Agreement due to actions of the Managing Director such as serious 
misconduct, dishonesty and bankruptcy; or

d. a genuine redundancy occurs as a result of structural change or operational requirements.
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Payments on 
Termination

If the Agreement is terminated under (a) or (b) above, the Company has the discretion to, at any time, 
during the notice period either bring the Agreement to an immediate end and, subject to the Corporations 
Act 2001, pay the remuneration that would have been received during the remaining notice period, or 
require the Managing Director to undertake alternative duties or to remain at home for the remaining 
notice period.

If the Agreement is terminated under (c) above, the Company is only obliged to pay the Managing 
Director any accrued remuneration, including superannuation and leave entitlements.

If the Agreement is terminated under (d) above due to a genuine redundancy the severance payment due 
to the Managing Director, will, subject to the Corporations Act 2001, be determined in accordance with 
the following table:

Period of continuous service

Redundancy 
payment 

(months’ pay)
Notice payment 

(months’ pay)

Total severance 
payment 

(months’ pay)

Less than 5 years 3 9 12

More than 5 years but not more than 6 years 4 8 12

More than 6 years but not more than 7 years 5 7 12

More than 7 years but not more than 8 years 6 6 12

More than 8 years but not more than 9 years 7 5 12

More than 9 years but not more than 10 years 8 4 12

10 years and over 9 3 12
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Remuneration Fixed annual remuneration: 

$885,000 comprising base salary, superannuation contribution and benefits as allocated by the 
Managing Director in accordance with the Company’s policies.

Review of remuneration: 

The remuneration will be reviewed at least annually, with any increase at the absolute discretion of 
the Company.

Annual leave and other leave:

• Four weeks annual leave per annum (in addition to public holidays).

• After the completion of one year’s continuous service with the Group, the Managing Director will also 
be entitled to one extra day of annual leave for every year of continuous service that he completes 
with the Group, up to a maximum of 10 additional days1. 

• Thirteen weeks for fifteen years’ service, with pro rata long service leave after 10 years’ service or 
7 years on termination.

• Personal and compassionate leave as defined in the Company’s policies.

1. The Managing Director has completed 8 years’ continuous service with the Group and is currently entitled to an extra 8 
days of annual leave under this provision.

Short term incentive: 

Up to 75% of his fixed annual remuneration payable upon achievement or exceeding of the established 
performance objectives (further information applicable to the Managing Director’s short term incentives is 
set out on page 30 of this Directors’ report).

Long term incentive:

The Managing Director may participate in the Long Term Incentive Plan described on pages 31 to 35 of 
this Directors’ report. The performance criteria applicable to the long term incentives are also set out on 
pages 33 to 35 of this Directors’ report.

Restraint The Agreement provides that the Managing Director must not be employed or be engaged in (whether 
directly or indirectly) with any competitive business in Australia to provide services that are the same as 
or similar to those the Managing Director provided to the Company at any time during his employment 
or within the 12 months1 immediately following the end of his term of employment. The Agreement also 
provides the Managing Director must not induce employees to leave the consolidated group or persuade 
any of the consolidated group’s clients to cease or reduce business with the consolidated group during 
that period. 

1. The Managing Director’s prior agreement provided for a six month post-employment restraint period.
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Other Executives

Set out below are the key terms of the Executive Service Agreement (“the Agreement”) of the other executives:

Term From the commencement date until one of the following occurs:

a. the consolidated entity gives the executive 6 to 12 months’ written notice1; 

b. the executive gives the consolidated entity 6 to 12 months’ written notice1;

c. the consolidated entity terminates the Agreement due to actions of the executive such as serious 
misconduct, dishonesty and bankruptcy; or

d. the executive is terminated as a result of redundancy arising from genuine structural change or 
changes to operational requirements.

1.  The notice period in respect of all executives is 6 months other than in respect to Glenn Triggs whose Agreement provides 
for a 12 month period.

Payments on 
Termination

If the Agreement is terminated under (a) or (b) above, the employing entity has the discretion to, at any 
time, during the notice period either bring the Agreement to an immediate end and pay the remuneration 
that would have been received during the remaining notice period, or require the executive to undertake 
alternative duties or to remain at home for the remaining notice period. If the Agreement is terminated 
under (c) above, the consolidated entity is only obliged to pay the executive any accrued remuneration, 
including superannuation and leave entitlements.

If the Agreement is terminated under (d) above, the executive is entitled to receive severance payments of 
between 6 and 12 months (a “months’ pay” is the equivalent of the executive’s fixed annual remuneration 
divided by 12) determined by reference to the executive’s length of service and Agreement, consisting of 
any notice given or payment made in lieu and redundancy payments.

If the executive has a Notice Period of 6 months the severance payment will be calculated in accordance 
with the table below:

Period of continuous service

Redundancy 
payment 

(months’ pay)
Notice payment 

(months’ pay)

Total severance 
payment 

(months’ pay)

Less than 5 years 3 6 9

More than 5 years but not more than 6 years 4 6 10

More than 6 years but not more than 7 years 5 6 11

More than 7 years but not more than 8 years 6 6 12

More than 8 years but not more than 9 years 7 5 12

More than 9 years but not more than 10 years 8 4 12

10 years and over 9 3 12

If the Executive has a Notice Period of 12 months the severance payment will be calculated in 
accordance with the table below:

Period of continuous service

Redundancy 
payment 

(months’ pay)
Notice payment 

(months’ pay)

Total severance 
payment 

(months’ pay)

Less than 5 years 3 9 12

More than 5 years but not more than 6 years 4 8 12

More than 6 years but not more than 7 years 5 7 12

More than 7 years but not more than 8 years 6 6 12

More than 8 years but not more than 9 years 7 5 12

More than 9 years but not more than 10 years 8 4 12

10 years and over 9 3 12
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Remuneration Fixed annual remuneration: 

Comprises base salary, superannuation contribution and benefits as allocated by the executive in 
accordance with the Company’s policies.

Review of remuneration: 

The remuneration will be reviewed at least annually, with any increase at the absolute discretion of the 
employing entity.

Annual leave and other leave:

• Four to six weeks’ annual leave per annum (in addition to public holidays).

• Long service leave in accordance with applicable legislation.

• Personal and compassionate leave as defined in the Company’s policies.

Short term incentive: 

Up to 30% of fixed annual remuneration payable in cash, as described on pages 30 and 31 of this 
Directors’ report.

Long term incentive:

Refer to pages 31 to 33 of this Directors’ report for details of long term incentives and performance criteria.

Restraint Activities:

The Agreement provides that the executive must not be employed or be engaged in (whether directly or 
indirectly) with any competitive business within the geographic area described below to provide services 
that are the same as or similar to those the executive provided to the Company at any time during his/ 
her employment or within the period specified below immediately following the end of his/ her term 
of employment. The Agreement also provides the executive must not induce employees to leave the 
consolidated group or persuade any of the consolidated group’s clients to cease or reduce business with 
the consolidated group during that period. 

Duration: 

For a period between 3 and 12 months from the termination date which aligns with the Executive’s 
notice period.

Geography:

The restraint applies to all regions for which the Executive has responsibility.

12. Diversity

The diversity of our people is one of our great strengths. We 
recognise the value of attracting, engaging and retaining 
employees with different backgrounds, experience and 
perspectives. Harnessing these differences, creates more 
productive and inclusive workplaces, provides a competitive 
advantage and contributes to superior customer service.

Programmed’s success is built on the talent and enthusiasm 
of our people and the values they bring with them from 
their homes and communities. There are more than 10,000 
people who are part of our team and we come from a broad 
range of cultural backgrounds, speak multiple languages and 
span many generations.

Our diversity strategy focuses on cultural diversity (including 
Indigenous employment), cross-generational diversity, 
disadvantaged groups, people with a disability and achieving 
gender balance; and Programmed supports all equal 
opportunity legislation as it applies to employment, access 
and supply. 

Programmed’s commitment is underpinned by its 
Diversity Policy, which is available on the Company’s 
website. Programmed’s key areas of focus are: women in 
leadership, women in trades and cultural diversity (including 
Indigenous employment). 

As a Company, we aspire to create and maintain a workforce 
which is representative of our customers and communities 
and in which individual differences are valued and respected 

– it’s good for our employees and good for the business.
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The policy provides for the Board, in consultation with senior management, to establish measurable diversity targets and to 
measure and report on its progress towards achieving them. The gender balance and diversity targets outlined in the table 
below have been established.

Gender Balance Target

Gender Balance Target 2014 Outcome

Non-Executive Directors1 Between 40% to 60% 40% (2013: 40%)

Senior Leaders2 
(Includes the top 4 levels of the 
Company and the Managing Director) Between 40% to 60% 25% (2013: 24%)

Employees Overall (excl. Field) Between 40% to 60% 40% (2013: 38%)

Employees Overall (incl. Field) Long-term target of at least 15% women 14% (2013: 12%)

1. The Managing Director is the only director on the Board who is a not a Non-Executive Director. The proportion of women on the entire Board including 
the Managing Director is one third.

2. Programmed has defined senior leaders to include the WGE Agency’s approach to managers and key professional roles. 

Programmed has lodged its report as required under the 
Workplace Gender Equality (WGE) Act 2012. A copy is 
available on the Company’s website and will also be available 
on the WGE Agency website. 

The Company has continued its strategy to increase the 
representation of women in leadership and attract women 
in trades. This includes visiting schools and communities to 
share career insights and placing a strong focus on growing 
a gender-balanced pipeline through development programs 
and focused talent review conversations. This has seen the 
promotion of internal female talent and attraction of new 
women to the Company, with women leading and working in 
operations and functions across Programmed. 

To further support the Company’s Diversity Strategy, 
Programmed established Divisional Diversity Working 
Groups, chaired by a member of the Division’s Leadership 
Team to provide direction and guidance on inclusion 
initiatives and highlight the benefits that diversity brings 
to our business. The Company has also formalised its 
support of flexible working arrangements to accommodate 
the diverse needs of employees at different career and 
life stages.

Programmed’s commitment to diversity is led by our 
Managing Director, who is actively involved in championing 
gender balance through the CEOs for Gender Equity in 
Western Australia and Generation One’s CEO for A Day 
campaign where ten Indigenous professionals shadowed 
Managing Directors of leading companies across Australia. 

The Company also actively participates in the Business 
Council of Australia’s Business Indigenous Network, the 
Diversity Council of Australia and the Generation One 
campaign to end disparity. Programmed was also a founding 
member of an employer forum in Western Australia, Yokai, 
to share knowledge with like-minded companies about 
reconcilation and Indigenous engagement.

Indigenous Engagement

Programmed has partnered with Generation One 
since March 2011. The Company signed the Australian 
Employment Covenant and committed to 200 jobs with 
Programmed and 500 jobs with our Integrated Workforce 
customers for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders. 

Since signing the Covenant, over 280 people who identify as 
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islanders have joined Programmed 
and our customers, and we continue to recruit more 
talented people into our team. In Programmed, Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islanders are employed across every part 
of our Company: horticulture, paint, water work, facility 
management, recruitment, purchasing, human resources, 
electrical and construction. Our retention rates are solid with 
69% of our new hires staying on.

Governed by the three principles of reconcilation: 
relationships, respect and opportunities, Programmed 
established its 10 Year Indigenous Engagement Strategy in 
late 2009. The Strategy aims to create opportunities through 
real and sustainable employment supported by structured 
mentoring and training and achieve our employment 
commitments. We also work with Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander businesses to secure goods and services as 
a member of Supply Nation and encourage our vendors to 
consider diversity in their supply chain. 

We partner with local communities through pro bono work 
and sponsorships and support young people through school 
scholarships and pathways to employment. The Company 
also advocates for change more broadly and support our 
customers to develop and achieve their diversity approaches. 

Programmed was honoured to be a Finalist in the Indigenous 
Employment category in the 2013 Australian Human 
Resources Institute’s (AHRI) Diversity Awards. The Company 
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also received the Whitelion Chairperson’s Award for Employment in recognition of our support of disadvantaged and Indigenous 
youth through employment opportunities. 

Continued Focus

Programmed will continue to promote a gender-balanced, inclusive and safe workplace where all employees have the 
opportunity to realise their potential and contribute to the Company’s success and employee differences are valued. 

We will continue to drive accountability through setting targets and measuring performance across our business. In addition, we 
review the diversity of our Company and the impact of our inclusion initiatives through our employee engagement surveys, entry 
and exit surveys. This helps us to establish a better understanding of the demographic diversity of our workforce and assess the 
levels of engagement across different groups. 

Programmed regularly reviews its policies and procedures and seeks regular feedback from employees and stakeholders to 
support the aim of maintaining a positive and inclusive work environment where all employees can contribute to being the 
leading provider of staffing, maintenance and facility management services, without injury in Australia and New Zealand.

13. Directors’ Interests

The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in shares of the Company, and Performance Rights or Performance 
Options over such shares as at the date of this report:

Director Ordinary shares
Performance Options 
over ordinary shares

Performance Rights 
over ordinary shares

B Brook 70,000 – –

C Sutherland 583,142 – 760,000

J Whittle 2,084,656 – –

E Stein 22,359 – –

R McKinnon 50,000 – –

A Grant 10,000 – –

Totals 2,820,157 – 760,000

Further details regarding the shares held by each Director 
and other Key Management Personnel are contained in Note 
37 to the financial statements.

No Director holds a relevant interest in shares of any related 
body corporate of the Company, nor any debentures of, 
or interests in registered schemes made available by the 
Company or a related body corporate, nor any rights or 
options over such instruments.

14.  Share Performance Options and 
Performance Rights

The details of unissued ordinary shares of the Company 
under Performance Options and Performance Rights as at 
the date of this report are set out in the Remuneration Report 
and Note 35 to the financial statements.

The details of shares of the Company issued during the 
year or since the end of the year as a result of the exercise 
of Performance Options and Performance Rights over such 
unissued shares are set out in the Remuneration Report and 
Note 35 to the financial statements. 

15.  Indemnification and insurance of officers 
and executives 

Indemnification

Under the Company’s constitution and subject to and so far 
as permitted by applicable law, the Company indemnifies 
each officer of the Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries against any liability (including legal costs) 
incurred by the officer as such an officer, including any 
liability incurred as a result of appointment or nomination by 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries as a trustee or as an 
officer of another corporation unless the liability arises out of 
conduct involving the officer’s lack of good faith.

The above indemnity is a continuing indemnity and applies 
in respect of all acts done by a person while an officer of 
the Company or any of its wholly-owned subsidiaries even 
though the person is not an officer at the time the claim 
is made.

The Company has entered into Deeds of Indemnity, Access 
and Insurance (“Deed”) with each current Director, Company 
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Secretary and certain Senior Managers of the Company. 
Under each Deed, to the extent permitted by law and to 
the extent that the officer is not indemnified under any 
other indemnity (including an indemnity contained in any 
insurance policy), the Company indemnifies the relevant 
officer against liabilities (including liabilities for legal costs) 
incurred by the officer:

• in the discharge of his or her duties as an officer of the 
Company or its subsidiaries; and

• connected with the officer being an officer of the 
Company or its subsidiaries, or of an outside entity at the 
request of the Company.

The Company has previously entered into similar deeds with 
(now) former Directors.

No amount has been paid under any of these indemnities 
during the financial year.

Insurance premiums

During the financial year, the Company paid premiums in 
respect of contracts insuring all current and former Directors, 
Company Secretaries and other officers and executives of 
the Company and its related entities against certain liabilities 
incurred in that capacity. Disclosure of the nature of the 
liability covered by and the amount of the premiums payable 
for such insurance is subject to a confidentiality clause under 
the contracts of insurance. 

The current Directors and Company Secretaries are named 
on pages 20 to 22 of this Directors’ report. The consolidated 
entity’s Key Management Personnel named on page 28 of 
this Directors’ report and other senior managers are also 
considered to be officers of the Company for these purposes, 
and may benefit from the above indemnities and insurance.

16. Non-audit services

During the year Deloitte, the Company’s auditor, performed 
services in addition to its statutory duties. Deloitte was paid 
a total of $59,504 for these non-audit services. 

The Audit & Risk Committee has, following the passing of a 
resolution of the committee, provided the Board with written 
advice in relation to the provision of non-audit services by 
Deloitte. The Directors have considered this advice and the 
non-audit services provided by Deloitte, and are satisfied 
that the provision of those non-audit services during the year 
by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, 
the general standard of independence for auditors imposed 
by the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

• Deloitte’s services have not involved audit partners or 
staff acting in a managerial or decision making capacity 
within the consolidated entity or being involved in the 
processing or origination of transactions;

• Deloitte’s non-audit services have only been provided 
where the Company is satisfied that the related 
function or process will not have a material bearing on 
the audit procedures;

• Deloitte’s partners and staff involved in the provision of 
non-audit services have not participated in associated 
approval or authorisation processes;

• Deloitte’s services were subject to the procedures and 
policies adopted by the Company, including the policy 
on non-audit services provided by independent external 
auditors which requires prior approval from the Audit & 
Risk Committee Chairman for the provision of the non-
audit services above a specified amount;

• a description of all non-audit services undertaken by 
Deloitte and the related fees have been reported to the 
Board to ensure complete transparency in relation to the 
services provided; and

• the declaration required by section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 confirming independence has 
been received from Deloitte.

17. Auditor’s independence declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration is set out on 
page 118 of the financial statements and forms part of this 
Directors’ report.

18.  Auditor and Disclosure of Officers who are 
Former Auditors

Deloitte is the consolidated group’s external auditor for the 
financial year. No officer of the consolidated entity who held 
office during the financial year, and no current officer, is or 
was formerly a partner or director of Deloitte.

19. Rounding Off of Amounts

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in 
ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in 
accordance with the Class Order, amounts in the Directors’ 
report and the financial report are rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars.

This report is signed pursuant to a resolution of the Directors:

Christopher Sutherland
Managing Director

Dated 28 May 2014 at Perth
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Programmed is committed to ensuring that its obligations 
and responsibilities to its various stakeholders are fulfilled 
through appropriate corporate governance practices. These 
practices are designed to ensure that its Directors and its 
executive management perform their duties with honesty, 
integrity, care and diligence, and act in good faith in the best 
interests of the Company and in a manner that reflects the 
appropriate standards of corporate governance having regard 
to the particular circumstances of the Company’s business 
and operations.

The Company has followed the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations with 2010 Amendments (2nd edition, 
2010) (“ASX Principles and Recommendations”). 

This statement outlines the main corporate governance 
practices of the Company that were in place throughout the 
year and at the date of this report. 

The Company also makes relevant information 
in relation to its corporate governance practices 
publicly available on its website, in accordance with 
Recommendations 1.3, 2.6, 3.5, 4.4, 5.2, 6.2, 7.4, 8.4 of the 
ASX Principles and Recommendations.

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight

Companies should establish and disclose the respective 
roles and responsibilities of board and management.

Recommendation 1.1: Companies should establish the 
functions reserved to the board and those delegated to 
senior executives and disclose those functions.

The Company has established and disclosed (on its website) 
its Board Charter in accordance with this recommendation. 
The Board Charter establishes the relationship between 
the Board and management and describes their respective 
functions and responsibilities. 

Recommendation 1.2: Companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the performance of senior executives.

The Board undertakes a review of the Managing Director’s 
performance on at least an annual basis. Objectives are 
approved by the Board after they have been established 
between the Managing Director and the Board’s Nomination 
Committee. These objectives are aligned to overall business 
goals and the Company’s requirements of the position.

The performance of senior management is evaluated by 
the Managing Director through formal performance reviews 
undertaken on an annual basis. The individual performance 
of each senior executive is reviewed against goals set in the 
previous year and new objectives are established for the 
following financial year. 

During the reporting period, performance evaluations for 
senior executives took place in accordance with the process 
agreed by the Board and disclosed above.

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value

Companies should have a board of effective composition, 
size and commitment to adequately discharge its 
responsibilities and duties.

Recommendation 2.1: A majority of the board should be 
independent directors.

The Company has a majority of independent directors.

The Board is comprised of five Non-executive Directors 
(including the Chairman) and one Executive Director.

To add value, the Board has been structured so that it is of 
effective composition, size and commitment to adequately 
discharge its responsibilities and duties. Collectively, the 
Directors have a broad range of experience, expertise, skills, 
qualifications and contacts relevant to the business and 
operations of the Company. Details of the skills, experience 
and expertise relevant to the position of each Director who is 
in office at the date of this annual report (and their terms of 
office) are included in the Directors’ Report on pages 20 and 
21 and on the Company’s website. 

In assessing the independence of each Director, the Board 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances including 
whether the Director:

• is a material shareholder of the Company, or officer 
of, or otherwise associated directly or indirectly with, 
substantial shareholders of the Company;

• has within the last 3 years been employed in an 
executive capacity by the Company or another 
group member;

• was appointed as a director of the Company within 
3 years of ceasing to be employed in an executive 
capacity by the Company or another group member; 

• has within the last 3 years been a principal or 
employee of a material professional adviser or a 
material consultant to the Company or another group 
member, or an employee materially associated with the 
service provided; 

• is a material supplier to, or customer of, the Company 
or other group member, or an officer of, or otherwise 
associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier 
or customer1;

• has a material contractual relationship with the Company 
or another group member, other than as a director of the 
Company; and
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• otherwise has any interest, business or other relationship 
which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, 
materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the 
best interests of the Company.

The Board has determined (considering the criteria above) 
that Mr Bruce Brook, Mr Jonathan Whittle, Mr Robert 
McKinnon, Ms Emma Stein and Ms Andrea Grant are 
independent Non-executive Directors. 

1.  During the reporting period, the directors listed above held 
non-executive directorships with certain companies that 
Programmed conducts business with. The Board considers that a 
director’s affiliation with a business that accounts for less than 5% of 
Programmed’s revenue is, as a category, immaterial for the purpose 
of determining independence. The companies that the directors 
listed above are affiliated with do not trigger this threshold. For this 
reason, the Board considers that the independence of these directors 
is not affected.

Recommendation 2.2: The chair should be an 
independent director.

The Board has determined that the Company’s Chairman, 
Mr Bruce Brook is an independent director.

Recommendation 2.3: The roles of the chair and 
chief executive officer should not be exercised by the 
same individual.

The roles of Chairman of the Board and Managing Director 
are held by different individuals. The Chairman of the Board 
is Mr Bruce Brook (an independent Non-executive Director) 
and the Managing Director is Mr Chris Sutherland. The 
responsibilities of the Chairman and the Managing Director are 
set out in more detail in the Board Charter, which is available 
on the Company’s website.

Recommendation 2.4: The board should establish a 
nomination committee.

The Board has established a Nomination Committee 
which operates under a charter approved by the Board. 
The Nomination Committee Charter is disclosed on the 
Company’s website. 

The Nomination Committee is comprised of the full 
Board, excluding the Managing Director. Mr Bruce Brook 
(the Chairman of the Board) is the Chairman of this 
Committee and is an independent, Non-executive Director. 
Details of the number of meetings of the Nomination 
Committee held during the reporting period and members’ 
attendance at those meetings is set out on page 22 of the 
Directors’ Report. 

Recommendation 2.5: Companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for determining 
the processes for evaluating the performance of the Board, 
its committees and individual directors.

In accordance with these processes, the Board undertakes 
an evaluation of its effectiveness as a whole and in 
committee against a broad range of good practice criteria.

The Nomination Committee reviews the individual 
performance of each Board member prior to each Director 
being considered for re-election and may use the assistance 
of an external facilitator. The Chairman’s performance is 
evaluated periodically by the Board. 

During the reporting period, an evaluation of the 
performance of the Board, its committees and individual 
directors was carried out in accordance with the process 
disclosed above.

Recommendation 2.6: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2.

The Company has included the information in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2 either in this Corporate Governance 
Statement or, in respect of information regarding the skills, 
experience and expertise of its Directors and their periods 
of office, in pages 20 and 21 of the Directors’ Report. The 
Company also makes the relevant material publicly available 
on its website in accordance with this recommendation.

In determining the independence of each Director, materiality 
is assessed on a case-by-case basis. The Board considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances, with consideration of 
the nature and activities of the Directors having regard to the 
considerations set out under recommendation 2.1 above, 
rather than by applying general materiality thresholds. 

It is a policy of the Board that each Director has the right 
to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense, subject to prior approval of the Chairman which will 
not be unreasonably withheld.

The Board’s policy and procedure for the selection, 
nomination and appointment of new Directors and the 
re-election of incumbent Directors is as follows:

The Board (with the assistance from the Nomination 
Committee) oversees the selection, appointment and 
succession planning process of the Company’s Directors 
and Managing Director. The Committee also oversees 
the induction process for Directors. When a vacancy 
exists, or where it is considered that the Board would 
benefit from the services of a new Director with particular 
qualifications, expertise and experience, the Nomination 
Committee determines the selection criteria based on 
the skills deemed necessary. The Nomination Committee 
identifies potential candidates and may use the assistance 
of an external consultant. Those nominated are assessed 
by the Nomination Committee against background, gender, 
experience, professional skills, personal qualities, whether the 
nominee’s skills and experience will best complement Board 
effectiveness, and their availability to commit themselves 
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to the Board’s activities. Upon recommendation from the 
Nomination Committee, the Board then appoints the most 
suitable candidate. Board candidates must stand for election 
at the next general meeting of shareholders.

The Nomination Committee also reviews the balance of 
skills and experience of the Board when considering the 
reappointment of an existing Director. In this way, the Board, 
through its membership, aims to achieve a sufficient mix of 
skills and diversity having regard to the strategic direction of 
the Company.

With the exception of the Managing Director, all Directors 
are subject to re-election in accordance with the Company’s 
constitution. When Directors are due for re-election, the 
Board does not endorse the reappointment of a Director who 
is not satisfactorily performing the role.

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible 
decision-making

Companies should actively promote ethical and responsible 
decision-making.

Recommendation 3.1: Companies should establish a code 
of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the 
code as to the practices necessary to maintain confidence 
in the company’s integrity; the practices necessary to take 
into account their legal obligations and the reasonable 
expectations of their stakeholders; and the responsibility and 
accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating 
reports of unethical practices.

Code of Conduct and Whistleblower Protection Policy

The Company has established and disclosed (on its 
website) its Code of Conduct in accordance with this 
recommendation. The Code of Conduct applies to all 
Directors, managers and employees of the Company. The 
Code of Conduct is reviewed as necessary to ensure it 
reflects the high ethical standards of conduct necessary to 
maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity.

The Board also promotes the maintenance of an open 
working environment in which all employees and 
contractors are able to report instances of unethical, 
improper, unlawful or undesirable conduct without fear 
of intimidation or reprisal. This is endorsed through the 
Whistleblowers Protection Policy, which is disclosed on the 
Company’s website.

Dealings in Company shares

The Board has adopted a Share Trading Policy that applies to 
all Directors and employees of the Company. The purpose of 
this policy is to define the circumstances in which Directors, 

employees and any of their associates, are permitted to deal 
in Programmed securities. 

In summary, the policy prohibits Directors and “Designated 
Executives” (defined to mean key management personnel 
and other senior executives) and any of their associates 
from trading in Programmed’s securities while in possession 
of non-public price sensitive information until such time 
as that information becomes generally available. Directors 
and Designated Executives (and their associates) are 
restricted from trading in Programmed securities outside 
designated trading windows, subject to limited exceptions. 
Notification requirements apply to any proposed trade in 
Programmed securities. 

The Share Trading Policy is subject to the overriding 
application of the insider trading laws.

The Company’s Share Trading Policy is available on the 
Company’s website.

Recommendation 3.2: Companies should establish a policy 
concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a summary 
of that policy. The policy should include requirements for 
the board to establish measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity and for the board to assess annually both 
the objectives and progress in achieving them.

The Company has established and disclosed (on its website) 
its Diversity Policy in accordance with this recommendation. 

Recommendation 3.3: Companies should disclose in each 
annual report the measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity set by the board in accordance with the diversity 
policy and progress towards achieving them.

Details of the Company’s measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity set by the Board in accordance with the 
Diversity Policy and the Company’s progress towards 
achieving those objectives are set out on pages 48 to 50 of 
the Directors’ Report.

Recommendation 3.4: Companies should disclose in each 
annual report the proportion of women employees in the 
whole organisation, women in senior executive positions and 
women on the board.

Details of the proportion of women employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior executive positions and 
women on the board are set out on pages 48 to 50 of the 
Directors’ Report.
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Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in 
financial reporting

Companies should have a structure to independently verify 
and safeguard the integrity of their financial reporting.

Recommendation 4.1: The board should establish an 
audit committee.

The Board has established an Audit & Risk Committee, 
which operates under a charter approved by the Board. 
The Audit & Risk Committee charter is available on the 
Company’s website.

The purpose of the Audit & Risk Committee is to assist 
the Board in monitoring and reviewing any matters of 
significance that affect financial reporting and compliance.

Recommendation 4.2: The audit committee should be 
structured so that it:

• consists only of non-executive directors

• consists of a majority of independent directors

• is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of 
the Board 

• has at least three members.

The Audit & Risk Committee is structured in accordance with 
this recommendation.

At the date of this report and throughout the reporting 
period, the Audit & Risk Committee consisted of:

• Mr Robert McKinnon, independent Non-executive 
Director (Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee);

• Mr Jonathan Whittle, independent Non-executive 
Director; and

• Ms Emma Stein, independent Non-executive Director.

Details of the relevant skills and qualifications of the 
members of the Audit & Risk Committee are set out in the 
Directors’ Report on pages 20 and 21. The Board considers 
that each of them is suitably qualified to be a member of the 
Audit & Risk Committee based on their financial expertise 
and industry experience.

The external auditor, the Directors who are not members of 
the Audit & Risk Committee, the Managing Director, the Chief 
Financial Officer, the Group Financial Controller and Group 
General Manager Risk & Legal are all invited to attend Audit 
& Risk Committee meetings at the discretion of the Audit & 
Risk Committee.

Details of the number of meetings of the Audit & Risk 
Committee held during the reporting period and members’ 
attendance at those meetings is set out on page 22 of the 
Directors’ Report.

Recommendation 4.3: The audit committee should have a 
formal charter.

The Audit & Risk Committee has a formal charter which is 
disclosed on the Company’s website.

Principle 5: Make timely and 
balanced disclosure

Companies should promote timely and balanced disclosure 
of all material matters concerning the company.

Recommendation 5.1: Companies should establish written 
policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability 
at a senior executive level for that compliance and disclose 
those policies or a summary of those policies.

The Company is subject to continuous disclosure obligations 
under the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations 
Act. Subject to limited exceptions, the Company must 
immediately (that is, promptly without delay) notify the 
market, through ASX, upon becoming aware of any 
information that a reasonable person would expect to have a 
material effect on the price or value of its securities.

The Board has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy to 
reinforce the Company’s commitment to compliance with 
these obligations. The Company’s Continuous Disclosure 
Policy is available on the Company’s website. 

This policy sets out the Company’s procedures to enable 
accurate, timely, clear and adequate disclosure to the 
market in accordance with the Listing Rules, as well as 
management’s accountabilities and the processes to be 
followed for ensuring compliance. The Board reviews its 
disclosure practices to ensure the market is kept informed 
of price sensitive or otherwise significant information in 
accordance with the ASX Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary is responsible for communications 
with, and coordinating disclosure of information to, the 
ASX in a timely manner. The Board and Managing Director 
determine whether information is to be disclosed to ASX 
and both the Company Secretary and Managing Director are 
responsible for monitoring compliance with the Continuous 
Disclosure Policy.

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

Companies should respect the rights of shareholders and 
facilitate the effective exercise of those rights.

Recommendation 6.1: Companies should design 
a communications policy for promoting effective 
communication with shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or 
a summary of that policy.
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The Board recognises the important rights of shareholders 
and strives to communicate with shareholders regularly, 
clearly and effectively, both by electronic means and using 
more traditional communication methods. Shareholders are 
encouraged to attend and participate at general meetings. 
The Company’s external auditors attend the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting and are available to answer 
shareholders’ questions.

Consistent with this approach, the Company has adopted 
a Shareholder Communications Policy, which includes the 
following initiatives and practices:

• communicating effectively with shareholders through 
releases to the market via ASX, the media, the Company’s 
website, information mailed to shareholders and the 
general meetings of the Company;

• ensuring all information disclosed to ASX is posted on the 
Company’s website when it is disclosed to ASX (including 
presentation material used in public presentations and for 
the purpose of briefing analysts); and

• arranging for the Company’s external auditor to attend 
the Company’s Annual General Meeting and be available 
to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of 
the audit, the preparation and content of the Auditor’s 
Report, the accounting policies adopted by the Company 
and the independence of the auditor in relation to the 
conduct of the audit.

The Company’s Shareholder Communications Policy is 
available on the Company’s website.

Principle 7: Recognise and Manage risk

Companies should establish a sound system of risk 
oversight and management and internal control.

Recommendation 7.1: Companies should establish policies 
for the oversight and management of material business risks 
and disclose a summary of those policies.

Risk management and internal control

The Board, together with management, seeks to identify, 
assess, monitor and mitigate risk. Internal controls are 
monitored on a continuous basis and wherever possible, 
improved. Risk management is formalised in the Company’s 
Group Risk Policy and in the Audit & Risk Committee Charter 
which are both regularly reviewed. This review takes place 
at both a committee level through the Board’s Audit & Risk 
Committee (which meets at least four times each year) and 
at Board level. The Audit & Risk Committee has established 
policies and procedures to identify and monitor business 
risks as well as adopting an internal compliance and control 
system to manage material business risk.

Further, the Company has formed a Management Risk 
Committee (“Programmed Risk Committee”), which 
comprises the Managing Director and senior management. 
The Programmed Risk Committee is responsible for the 
oversight and maintenance of the systems and plans 
established to manage the Company’s operational risk, and 
regularly reports to the Audit & Risk Committee about this. 

The Audit & Risk Committee Charter and the Company’s 
Group Risk Policy are available on the Company’s website.

Health, Safety and Environment Committee

The Board has established a Health, Safety and Environment 
Committee, which operates under a charter approved by 
the Board. The Health, Safety and Environment Committee 
Charter is available on the Company’s website.

The purpose of the Health, Safety and Environment 
Committee is to assist the Board in monitoring, reviewing and 
managing health, safety and environmental risks involved in 
the Company’s activities.

At the date of this report and throughout the reporting 
period, the Health, Safety and Environment Committee 
consisted of:

• Ms Emma Stein, independent Non-executive Director 
(Chair of the HSE Committee);

• Mr Jonathan Whittle, independent Non-executive 
Director; and

• Ms Andrea Grant, independent Non-executive Director.

Details of the number of meetings of the HSE Committee 
held during the reporting period and members’ 
attendance at those meetings is set out on page 22 of the 
Directors’ Report.

Recommendation 7.2: The board should require 
management to design and implement the risk management 
and internal control system to manage the company’s 
material business risks and report to it on whether those risks 
are being managed effectively. The board should disclose 
that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of 
the company’s management of its material business risks.

Management has established and implemented risk 
management procedures for the Company, including the 
preparation of the Company’s Risk Register, which identify, 
assess, monitor and manage the material business risks 
of the Company. Each divisional CEO is responsible and 
accountable for implementing and managing the material 
operating risks of the division. 

The Programmed Risk Committee identifies significant risks 
to the Company and reports to the Audit & Risk Committee 
on how they are being mitigated and managed by senior 
management. In turn, the Audit & Risk Committee reports to 
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the Board regularly on the implementation and management 
of the Company’s risk management system. 

During the reporting period, the Audit & Risk Committee 
reported to the Board in accordance with the systems 
and procedures outlined above, including in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material 
business risks.

Recommendation 7.3: The board should disclose whether 
it has received assurance from the chief executive officer (or 
equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) that 
the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of 
risk management and internal control and that the system 
is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to 
financial reporting risks. 

The Company’s Managing Director and Chief Financial 
Officer have provided a declaration for the reporting period in 
accordance with s295A of the Corporations Act.

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer have 
also confirmed in writing to the Board that this declaration 
provided in accordance with s295A of the Corporations Act 
is founded on sound risk management and internal control 
systems and that the system is operating effectively in all 
material aspects in relation to financial reporting risks.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Companies should ensure that the level and composition 
of remuneration is sufficient and reasonable and that its 
relationship to performance is clear.

Recommendation 8.1: The board should establish a 
remuneration committee.

The Board has established a Remuneration & People 
Committee2, which operates under a charter approved by 
the Board. The Remuneration & People Committee Charter is 
available on the Company’s website.

The purpose of the Remuneration & People Committee is 
to assist the Board fulfill its responsibilities in respect of 
establishing appropriate remuneration levels and policies for 
Directors and senior managers.

At the date of this report and throughout the reporting 
period, the Remuneration & People Committee consisted of:

• Ms Andrea Grant, independent Non-executive Director 
(Chair of the Remuneration & People Committee);

• Mr Bruce Brook, independent Non-executive 
Director; and

• Mr Jonathan Whittle, independent  
Non-executive Director.

Details of the number of meetings of the Remuneration & 
People Committee held during the reporting period and 
members’ attendance at those meetings is set out on 
page 22 of the Directors’ Report.

2.  This committee was previously called the Remuneration Committee 
and changed its name to the Remuneration & People Committee in 
August 2013 to better reflect its role and responsibilities.

Recommendation 8.2: The remuneration committee should 
be structured so that it consists of a majority of independent 
directors, is chaired by an independent chair, and has at least 
three members.

The Remuneration & People Committee is structured in 
accordance with this recommendation, as set out in the 
discussion under Recommendation 8.1 above. 

Recommendation 8.3: Companies should clearly distinguish 
the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from 
that of executive directors and senior executives.

The Company remunerates its directors and senior 
management in accordance with this recommendation.

The Company’s Non-executive Directors receive fees as 
remuneration for acting as a Director of the Company and, if 
applicable, acting as a member of a standing Committee of 
the Board. The Company has not established any schemes 
for the provision of retirement benefits (other than statutory 
superannuation) for Non-executive Directors. Non-executive 
Directors’ fees do not incorporate any performance-based 
bonuses or incentive element, and the Non-executive 
Directors do not participate in any share-based 
incentive plans.

Further details regarding Non-executive Directors’ 
remuneration are set out in the Remuneration Report on 
pages 36 and 37.

The remuneration of the Company’s executive directors and 
senior management consists of elements of fixed salary 
(including superannuation and allowances), short-term 
performance incentives assessed over the Company’s 
financial year and long-term performance incentives 
assessed over periods of three to five years. 

Consistent with s206J of the Corporations Act, it is the 
Company’s policy to prohibit senior management from 
entering into transactions or arrangements which limit the 
economic risk of participating in unvested entitlements under 
any equity-based remuneration schemes.

Further details on the Company’s remuneration policies, 
including how the structure of the remuneration of 
Non-executive Directors is distinguished from that of 
Executive Directors and senior executives, are set out in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 48.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
for the financial year ended 31 March 2014

Note
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 5 1,434,923 1,517,419

Other income 6(a) 1,720 809

Share of net loss of associate accounted for using the equity method 12 (679) –

Changes in work in progress at cost and other inventories 9,697 (6,431)

Raw materials and consumables used (130,927) (149,886)

Employee benefits expense 6(b) (892,896) (960,715)

Sub-contractor expenses (306,439) (266,046)

Equipment and motor vehicle costs (18,031) (18,053)

Information technology and telecommunication costs (6,916) (8,265)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6(b) (11,229) (12,390)

Finance costs 6(b) (7,415) (9,933)

Other expenses (28,136) (44,422)

Profit before income tax 43,672 42,087

Income tax expense 7 (13,220) (9,950)

Profit for the year attributable to members of Programmed Maintenance 
Services Limited 25 30,452 32,137

Cents Cents

Earnings per share 

From continuing operations: 

Basic earnings per share 26 25.8 27.2

Diluted earnings per share 26 25.0 26.5

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 63 to 116.
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Note
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Profit for the year 25 30,452 32,137

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be classified subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 24 6,431 487

Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 6,431 487

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent entity 36,883 32,624

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 63 to 116.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income
for the financial year ended 31 March 2014
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Note
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 33(a) 29,477 38,334

Trade and other receivables 8 254,501 282,377

Other financial assets 9  1,576 2,166

Inventories 10 61,339 52,246

Current tax assets 7 2,573 –

Other 11 7,272 5,525

Total current assets  356,738 380,648

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in associates 12 4,469 –

Trade and other receivables 13 57,083 54,203

Inventories 14 11,640 11,477

Property, plant and equipment 15 26,412 27,609

Deferred tax assets 7 17,459 19,334

Goodwill 16 246,071 245,543

Other intangible assets 17 14,134 14,398

Total non-current assets 377,268 372,564

TOTAL ASSETS 734,006 753,212

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 20 162,400 159,870

Borrowings 21 53,179 64,261

Current tax payable 7 1,072 4,288

Provisions 22 37,825 39,813

Total current liabilities 254,476 268,232

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Borrowings 21 18,529 41,180

Deferred tax liabilities 7 45,569 43,943

Provisions 22 5,053 8,206

Total non-current liabilities 69,151 93,329

TOTAL LIABILITIES 323,627 361,561

NET ASSETS 410,379 391,651

EQUITY

Issued capital 23 236,060 236,060

Reserves 24 7,820 632

Retained earnings 25 166,499 154,959

TOTAL EQUITY 410,379 391,651

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 63 to 116.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the financial year ended 31 March 2014

Issued 
capital 
$’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 
$’000

Capital 
profits 

reserve 
$’000

Equity 
settled 

employee 
benefits 
reserve 
$’000

Retained 
earnings 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 235,549 (7,193) 5,535 1,414 138,185 373,490

Profit for the year – – – – 32,137 32,137

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 
operations (note 24) – 487 – – – 487

Total comprehensive income for the year – 487 – – 32,137 32,624

Income tax related to share issue costs (note 23) 511 – – – – 511

Recognition of share–based payments (note 24) – – – 389 – 389

Payment of dividends (note 27) – – – – (15,363) (15,363)

Balance at 31 March 2013  236,060 (6,706) 5,535 1,803  154,959  391,651

Balance at 1 April 2013  236,060 (6,706) 5,535 1,803  154,959  391,651

Profit for the year – – – – 30,452 30,452

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 
operations (note 24) – 6,431 – – – 6,431

Total comprehensive income for the year –  6,431 – – 30,452 36,883

Recognition of share–based payments (note 24) – – – 757 – 757

Payment of dividends (note 27) – – – –  (18,912) (18,912)

Balance at 31 March 2014  236,060  (275) 5,535  2,560  166,499  410,379

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 63 to 116.
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Note
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers1 1,617,289 1,665,473

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,536,702) (1,574,878)

Interest and other cost of finance paid (7,764) (9,457)

Income tax paid (17,010) (24,199)

Net cash provided by operating activities 33(d) 55,813 56,939

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 368 516

Payments for brands (136) –

Payments for property, plant and equipment (6,024) (8,165)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,274 2,767

Payments for development software (346) (832)

Payments for mobilisation of contracts (613) (463)

Payments for business acquisitions 32 – (8,866)

Payments for investments 12 (5,148) –

Net cash used in investing activities (9,625) (15,043)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 85,000 55,000

Repayments of borrowings (121,713) (77,927)

Dividends paid 27 (18,912) (15,363)

Net cash used in financing activities (55,625) (38,290)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (9,437) 3,606

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 38,334 34,668

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies 580 60

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 33(a) 29,477 38,334

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 63 to 116.

1. Receipts from customers include interest revenue on long term maintenance contracts of $6.752 million (2013: $7.333 million).

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 March 2014
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2014

1. General information

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited (the Company) 
is a listed public company, incorporated in New South Wales 
and operating in Australia and New Zealand.

Principal Registered Office: 47 Burswood Road, 
Burswood, WA, 6100 
Telephone: (08) 9216 2100

Principal Place of Business: 47 Burswood Road, 
Burswood, WA, 6100 
Telephone: (08) 9216 2100

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(the Group) are described in note 4.

2. Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance

The financial statements are general purpose financial 
statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, and comply with other requirements of 
the law.

The financial statements comprise the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of 
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
Company is a for-profit entity.

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘A-IFRS’). 
Compliance with A-IFRS ensures that the financial 
statements and notes of the Group comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
directors on 28 May 2014.

Basis of preparation

The financial report has been prepared on the basis 
of historical cost except for the revaluation of financial 
instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts 
are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted. 
Comparative information is reclassified where appropriate to 
enhance comparability.

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in 
ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in 
accordance with that Class Order amounts in the financial 
report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated.

Critical accounting judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to 
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. Refer to note 3 for a discussion of critical 
judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies, and 
key sources of estimation uncertainty.

Adoption of new and revised 
Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new 
and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are 
relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual 
reporting period. These include AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, 
AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, AASB 
127 Separate Financial Statements (2011), AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011), AASB 
13 Fair Value Measurement and related AASB 2011-8 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 13, AASB 119 Employee Benefits (2011), AASB 
2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 119 (2011), AASB 2011-7 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards, AASB 
2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. There 
are no material impacts on the Group’s financial statements 
on the adoption of these new accounting standards.

The following significant accounting policies have been 
adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 
financial report.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the Company and entities (including 
special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) (referred to as the ‘Group’ in these financial 
statements). Control is achieved where the Company has 
power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 March 2014 continued

returns from its involvement with the investee and the ability 
to use its power to affect its returns. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during 
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss from the effective date of acquisition or up to the 
effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 
are eliminated in full on consolidation. In the separate 
financial statements of the Company, intra-group transactions 
(‘common control transactions’) are generally accounted 
for by reference to the existing (consolidated) book value of 
the items. Where the transaction value of common control 
transactions differ from their consolidated book value, the 
difference is recognised as a contribution by or distribution 
to equity participants by the transacting entities.

(b) Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted 
for using the purchase method. The cost of the business 
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair 
values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities 
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the 
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition 
related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 
AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’ are recognised at their fair 
values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets 
(or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in 
accordance with AASB 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations’, which are recognised and 
measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and 
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the 
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost 
of the business combination, the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

(c) Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant 
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a 
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate 

in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee 
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are 
incorporated in these financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting, except when the investment is 
classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 
in accordance with AASB 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations’. Under the equity method, 
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for 
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net 
assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value 
of individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess 
of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes 
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the 
Group’s net investment in the associate) are recognised only 
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date 
of the acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill 
is included within the carrying amount of the investment 
and is assessed for impairment as part of that investment. 
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
over the cost of the acquisition, after reassessment, is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Where a group 
entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and 
losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the relevant associate.

(d) Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each Group entity 
are presented in its functional currency being the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates. For the purpose of the consolidated financial 
statements, the results and financial position of each 
entity are expressed in Australian dollars, which is the 
functional currency of Programmed Maintenance Services 
Limited and the presentation currency for the consolidated 
financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual 
entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of 
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise except for:

• exchange differences which relate to assets under 
construction for future productive use, which are 
included in the cost of those assets where they are 
regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign 
currency borrowings;

• exchange differences on transactions entered into in 
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (refer 
note 2(w)); and

• exchange differences on monetary items receivable 
from or payable to a foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur, which 
form part of the net investment in a foreign operation, 
and which are recognised in the foreign currency 
translation reserve and recognised in profit or loss on 
disposal of the net investment.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars 
at exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Income and expense items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 
fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. Such 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which the foreign operation is disposed.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign entity on or after the date of transition 
to A-IFRS are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at exchange rates prevailing at the 
reporting date. Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the 
date of transition to A-IFRS is treated as an Australian dollar 
denominated asset.

(e) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

• where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of 
expense; or

• for receivables and payables which are recognised 
inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a 
gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority is classified within 
operating cash flows.

(f) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, stock rotation, price protection, rebates 
and other similar allowances.

Rendering of services

The revenue recognised from rendering of 
services combines:

i. Invoicing from the provision of the Group’s services 
inclusive of:

 − revenue earned on work completed in servicing long 
term maintenance contracts;

 − revenue from temporary employee placements on 
an accrual basis in accordance with time worked 
indicated on employee timesheets; and

 − permanent placement fees on placement 
of candidates.

ii. Revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work completed 
in servicing long term maintenance contracts which, 
while owing to the Group under the terms of those 
contracts, will not become receivable until future 
years. The fair value of this component of revenue is 
determined by discounting the future amounts receivable 
under the long term maintenance contracts by the 
implicit rate of interest. The implicit rate of interest is 
determined with reference to prevailing market rates at 
inception of the contract.

iii. Revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work 
completed under contracts other than long term 
maintenance contracts.

The revenue earned on work completed comprises the costs 
incurred plus the individual contract margin earned to date, 
based on the percentage of completion and the expected 
contract margin.

The long term maintenance contracts specifically detail both 
services to be performed and the invoicing components 
for each year of the contracts. The Group’s contract 
administration system enables the stage of completion of 
each contract to be reliably measured against predetermined 
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budgets and regularly updated assessments of the work 
required for completion of the contract.

The Group’s long term maintenance contracts include 
indexation clauses to allow for cost escalations. Labour and 
material costs are indexed on publicly available indices, and 
overhead costs are indexed at long term interest rates. 

Dividend and interest revenue

Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the 
Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to 
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Rental Income

Revenue from operating leases is recognised on a straight 
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

(g)  Contracts in progress at recoverable value 
and other recoverable works

The revenue earned on long term maintenance contracts 
includes a portion that will only become receivable after the 
reporting date. The receivable is carried forward and shown 
in the statement of financial position as contracts in progress 
at recoverable value. As described in note 2(f), contracts in 
progress at recoverable value are recorded at fair value on 
initial recognition (based on the fair value of revenue not 
yet invoiced but earned on work completed in servicing 
long term maintenance contracts), and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost which includes an adjustment 
for implicit rate of interest. The implicit rate of interest is 
determined with reference to prevailing market rates at 
inception of the contract.

Revenue from cost plus contracts is recognised by reference 
to the recoverable costs incurred during the financial year 
plus the margin percentage earned. Percentage of fees 
earned is measured by the proportion that costs incurred to 
date bear to the estimated total costs of the contract. Where 
a loss is expected to occur, it is recognised immediately for 
both work in progress completed to date and for future work 
on the contract.

(h) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments with employees 
and others providing similar services are measured at 
the fair value of the equity instrument at the grant date. 
Fair value is measured by use of a Monte Carlo model. 
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, 

based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of 
non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural 
considerations. Further details on how the fair value 
of equity-settled share-based transactions has been 
determined can be found in note 35.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the 
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on 
the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will 
eventually vest.

At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the 
number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact 
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised 
in profit or loss over the remaining vesting period, with 
corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee 
benefits reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with other 
parties are measured at the fair value of the goods and 
services received, except where the fair value cannot be 
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the 
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the 
date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders 
the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to 
the portion of the goods or services received is recognised at 
the current fair value determined at each reporting date.

(i) Taxation

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss because of items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability 
method. Temporary differences are differences between the 
tax base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount in the 
statement of financial position. The tax base of an asset or 
liability is the amount attributed to that asset or liability for 
tax purposes.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient 
taxable amounts will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets 
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can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise 
to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) 
which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. 
Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in 
relation to taxable temporary differences arising from the 
initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
and associates and interests in joint ventures except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated 
with these investments and interests are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the 
asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement 
of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
the Company/Group intends to settle its current tax assets 
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or 
income in the statement of profit or loss, except when it 
relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in 
which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in 
equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a 
business combination, in which case it is taken into account 
in the determination of goodwill or excess.

Tax consolidation

The Company and all its wholly-owned Australian resident 
entities are part of a tax-consolidated group under Australian 
taxation law. Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is 
the head entity in the tax-consolidated group. Tax expense/
income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising 
from temporary differences of the members of the tax-
consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial 
statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group 
using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach by 

reference to the carrying amounts in the separate financial 
statements of each entity and the tax values applying 
under tax consolidation. Current tax liabilities and assets 
and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and 
relevant tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated 
group are recognised by the Company (as head entity in the 
tax-consolidated group).

Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between 
the entities in the tax-consolidated group, amounts are 
recognised as payable to or receivable by the Company and 
each member of the group in relation to the tax contribution 
amounts paid or payable between the parent entity and the 
other members of the tax-consolidated group in accordance 
with the arrangement.

Further information about the tax funding arrangement 
is detailed in note 7. Where the tax contribution amount 
recognised by each member of the tax-consolidated group 
for a particular period is different to the aggregate of the 
current tax liability or asset and any deferred tax asset arising 
from unused tax losses and tax credits in respect of that 
period, the difference is recognised as a contribution from (or 
distribution to) equity participants.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a 
maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(k) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when a Group entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Financial assets are initially measured at fair 
value, net of transaction costs except for those financial 
assets classified at fair value through profit or loss which are 
initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified 
categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or 
loss’ (FVTPL), ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets, and ‘loans 
and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature 
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at 
the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or 
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised 
on a trade date basis, where the purchase or sale of an 
investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery 
of the investment within the timeframe established by the 
market concerned.
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Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for 
debt instruments other than those financial assets ‘at fair 
value through profit or loss’.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial 
asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
it in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading 
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or

• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial 
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, 
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information 
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, and AASB 139 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ permits 
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be 
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any 
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial 
asset and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item 
in the statement of profit or loss. Fair value is determined in 
the manner described in note 34.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares and redeemable notes held by the Group are 
classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair 
value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
note 34. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are recognised directly in the investments revaluation reserve 
with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated 
using the effective interest method and foreign exchange 
gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised 
directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of 
or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in the investments revaluation reserve 
is included in profit or loss for the period.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are 
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive 
the dividends is established.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans 
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less impairment. Interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit 
or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired 
where there is objective evidence that as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 
the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment have been impacted.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of 
the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of financial assets including uncollectible 
trade receivables is reduced by the impairment loss through 
the use of an allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, 
if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount 
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed 
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have 
been had the impairment not been recognised. In respect 
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of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent 
increase in fair value after an impairment loss is recognised 
directly in equity.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If 
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts 
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset 
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

(l) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value, except for those components of work in progress 
which are valued at recoverable value.

(m) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held 
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. Management 
must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 
from the date of classification.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held 
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

(n) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant, equipment and leasehold improvements 
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the item. 
In the event that settlement of all or part of the purchase 
consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting 
the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at 
the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to 
write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset 
over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of 
the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, 
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, 
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes recognised on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their 
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, 
where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The following useful lives are used in the calculation 
of depreciation:

Freehold buildings 20 – 30 years

Leasehold improvements 3 – 5 years

Plant and equipment 3 – 15 years

Equipment under finance lease 5 years

(o) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost 
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings 
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in 
the period in which they are incurred.

(p) Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of 
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.
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Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at 
their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at 
the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a 
finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income, 
unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, 
in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the 
Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Refer to note 2(o).

Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed.

(q) Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially 
measured at its cost, being the excess of the cost of the 
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities recognised at the date of the acquisition.

Goodwill is subsequently measured at its cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated 
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups 
of cash-generating units, expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the business combination. Cash-generating 
units or groups of cash-generating units to which goodwill 
has been allocated are tested for impairment annually or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that goodwill might be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
(or group of cash-generating units) is less than the 
carrying amount of the cash-generating unit (or groups of 
cash-generating units), the impairment loss is allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating units) 
and then to the other assets of the cash generating units 
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset 
in the cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating 
units). An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not reversed 

in a subsequent period. On disposal of an operation within a 
cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal 
of the operation.

(r) Intangible assets

Value of long term contracts acquired

Included in other intangible assets is the value of long term 
contracts acquired. The Group recognises the value of these 
intangible assets as the total of the purchase consideration 
and the fair value of the net liabilities acquired. Amortisation 
is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives (2-9 years). Such assets are tested for impairment in 
accordance with the policy stated in note 2(s).

Value of development software

Included in other intangible assets is the value of 
development software. The Group recognises the value of 
these intangible assets as the total of the consideration paid 
to external parties to develop proprietary software that is 
used in the operational processes of the Group. Amortisation 
is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives (3-5 years). Such assets are tested for impairment in 
accordance with the policy stated in note 2(s).

Value of brands

Included in other intangible assets is the value of brands. 
Brands recognised by the Group have an indefinite useful 
life and are not amortised. Each period, the useful life of 
this asset is reviewed to determine whether events and 
circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful 
life assessment of the asset. Such assets are tested for 
impairment in accordance with the policy stated in note 2(s).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where 
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair 
values can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination are reported at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets 
acquired separately.

(s)  Impairment of tangible and intangible 
assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
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the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis 
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise 
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 
can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 
but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase.

(t) Employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in 
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and 
they are capable of being measured reliably.

Short term employee benefits are measured at their nominal 
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the 
time of settlement.

Long term employee benefits are measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by 

the Group in respect of services provided by employees up 
to reporting date.

Defined contribution plans

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans 
are expensed when employees have rendered service 
entitling them to the contributions.

(u) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount 
of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are 
recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous 
contract is considered to exist where the group has a 
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits 
expected to be received under it.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a 
business combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination 
are initially measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. 
At subsequent reporting dates, such contingent liabilities 
are measured at the higher of the amount that would be 
recognised in accordance with AASB 137 ‘Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ and the amount 
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised 
in accordance with AASB 118 ‘Revenue’.

(v) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of 
the contractual arrangement. An equity instrument is any 
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments 
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issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, 
net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities, other than financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, including borrowings, are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. These 
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire.

(w) Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 
foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange 
forward contracts and interest rate swaps. Further details of 
derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 34 to 
the financial statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date.

The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective 
as a hedging instrument, in which event, the timing of the 
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the 
hedge relationship.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges 
of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm 
commitments (fair value hedges), hedges of highly probable 
forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of 
firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of net 
investments in foreign operations.

The fair value of a hedging derivative is presented as a 
non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining 
maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months 
and it is not expected to be realised within 12 months. 
Other derivatives are presented as current assets or 
current liabilities.

Hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The 
method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends 
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 
The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

• hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities 
or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or

• hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash 
flow hedges).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction 
the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy 
for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also 
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on 
an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used 
in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash 
flows of hedged items.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges is recognised in equity in the hedging reserve. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the statement of profit or loss. Amounts 
accumulated in equity are recycled in the statement of profit 
or loss in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit 
or loss (for instance when the forecast sale that is hedged 
takes place). However, when the forecast transaction that 
is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset 
(for example, inventory) or a non-financial liability, the gains 
and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from 
equity and included in the measurement of the initial cost or 
carrying amount of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, 
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity 
at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the 
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the statement 
or profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was 
reported in equity is immediately transferred to the statement 
of profit or loss.
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(x)  Standards and Interpretations issued not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations relevant to the Group, and listed below 
were in issue but not yet effective.

Standards/Interpretations Effective date
First applicable 
reporting date

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009), AASB 2009-11 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9

1 January 2015 31 March 2016

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), AASB 2010-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)

1 January 2015 31 March 2016

AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual 
Key Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements 

1 July 2013 31 March 2015

AASB 2012-3 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities 

1 January 2014 31 March 2015

The Company has yet to evaluate the potential impact of these new accounting pronouncements on its financial statements for 
the future periods.

3.  Critical accounting judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty

(i)  Critical judgements in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements (apart from 
those involving estimations, which are dealt with below), 
that management has made in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements:

Employee entitlements:

Management judgement is applied in determining the 
following key assumptions used in the calculation of long 
service and severance provisions at balance date:

• future increases in wages and salaries;

• future on-cost rates; and

• prior experience of employee retention rates and periods 
of service.

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year:

Goodwill:

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an 
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units 
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use 

calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash 
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and 
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. 
Further details are provided in note 16.

Other intangible assets:

Useful lives of intangible assets with finite lives are reviewed 
annually. Any reassessment of useful lives in a particular 
year will affect the amortisation expense (either increasing or 
decreasing) through to the end of the reassessed useful life 
for both the current and future years.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment:

As described in note 2(n), the Group reviews the estimated 
useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of 
each annual reporting period. Any reassessment of useful 
lives in a particular year will affect the depreciation expense 
(either increasing or decreasing) through to the end of the 
reassessed useful life for both the current and future years.

Workers compensation:

Amounts owing in respect of workers compensation 
incidents or claims that have not yet been finalised or settled, 
and will not be covered by deposits or premiums previously 
paid in respect of workers compensation insurance cover 
are provided for by the Group at reporting date. In making 
the provision, the Group determined the best estimate of the 
future sacrifice of economic benefits to the Group that will 
arise as a result of claims made, and provided for this amount 
as a liability. The Group’s best estimate is determined after 
considering the estimates of potential liability provided by 
the Group’s insurers, advice provided by insurance brokers 
and advisors, and taking into account management’s and the 
directors’ business and experience resulting from previous 
workers compensation claims of a similar nature.
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Work in progress:

Revenue recognition of some contracts is based on stage 
of completion. Management have used judgement in 
recognising a portion of any unapproved variations and in 
determining the final cost to complete these projects which 
forms the basis of the revenue recognition policy described 
in note 2(f). The outcomes within the next annual reporting 
period that are different from the assumptions applied could 
require an adjustment to the carrying value of the work in 
progress balance and the revenue recognised through the 
statement of profit or loss.

Revenue recognition on long term 
maintenance programmes:

As outlined in note 2(f)(ii), revenue not yet invoiced 
but earned on work completed in servicing long term 
maintenance contracts is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, and is recognised as an 
asset (described as ‘contracts in progress’).

As revenue earned by the Group on work completed will 
not become receivable until future years, the fair value is 
determined by discounting the future amounts receivable 
by the implicit rate of interest. The implicit rate of interest 
is determined by reference to prevailing market rates at 
inception of the contract. The prevailing market rates have 
been based on market data for variable term loans which 

have been risk adjusted taking into consideration the duration 
of the contracts and the industry type.

4. Segment Information

Basis of segmentation

The Group’s business is organised into the following 
operating and reportable segments:

• Integrated Workforce – Recruitment and labour hire 
services to a range of industries.

• Property & Infrastructure – Building, maintenance 
and operational services to the property and 
infrastructure sectors.

• Resources – Construction, maintenance and 
operational services to the resources sector. 

Information has been reported for the 3 segments in the year 
ended 31 March 2014.

3.  Critical accounting judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
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Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. The accounting policies of the reportable 
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2. Segment results represent the profit earned 
by each segment without allocation of amortisation of contract intangibles, corporate costs, net finance costs and income tax 
expense/benefit. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities
Assets Liabilities

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Integrated Workforce 127,834 125,765 27,520 32,221

Property & Infrastructure 354,504 356,788 185,462 186,926

Resources 251,668 270,659 46,545 48,053

Total of all segments 734,006 753,212 259,527 267,200

Unallocated – – 64,100 94,361

Consolidated 734,006 753,212 323,627 361,561

Other segment information

Integrated 
Workforce 

$’000

Property & 
Infrastructure 

$’000
Resources 

$’000
Other 
$’000

Total 
$’000

2014

Additions to non-current assets 2,384 6,172 550  519  9,625

Depreciation and amortisation of segment assets 566 8,371 573 1,719 11,229

2013

Additions to non-current assets 654 8,398 462 1,571 11,085

Depreciation and amortisation of segment assets 755 9,407 587 1,641 12,390

Geographical information

The consolidated entity operates in two key geographic locations – Australia and New Zealand.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets by geographical location is detailed below:

Revenue from external 
customers Non-current assets

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Australia 1,337,071 1,423,019 350,006 345,286

New Zealand 83,053 68,256 27,262 27,278

Other 11,473 21,795 – –

Consolidated 1,431,597 1,513,070 377,268 372,564

4. Segment Information (continued)
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5. Revenue

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year, is as follows:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Continuing operations 

Revenue from rendering of services: 

Invoiced 1,440,585 1,525,895

Not yet invoiced

 – Change in amounts recoverable (note 18) (15,693) (23,944)

 – Change in work in progress at recoverable value (note 18) (47) 3,786

1,424,845 1,505,737

Interest revenue – Other entities 368 516

Finance revenue on long term maintenance contracts (note 18) 6,752 7,333

Rental revenue

 – Operating lease rental revenue 153 587

Other revenue 2,805 3,246

1,434,923 1,517,419

6. Profit for the year before income tax

(a) Gains and losses

Profit for the year has been arrived at after crediting/(charging) the following specific gains and losses:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Continuing operations

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,264 1,016

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 456 (207)

1,720 809
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(b) Other expenses

 
Profit for the year includes the following expenses:

2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000

Continuing operations

Finance costs:

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 3,229 5,371

Interest on obligations under finance leases 730 1,035

Total interest expense 3,959 6,406

Other finance costs 3,456 3,527

Total finance costs 7,415 9,933

 
Impairment of trade receivables 1,655 1,475

 
Depreciation of non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 6,958 7,310

Amortisation of non-current assets:

Finance lease assets 2,824 3,365

Value of long term contracts acquired 614 657

Value of development software and other 833 1,058

4,271 5,080

Total depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 11,229 12,390

 
Operating lease rental expenses:

Minimum lease payments 14,610 13,231

 
Employee benefit expense:

Defined contribution plans (superannuation contributions) 52,972 54,544

Equity settled share-based payments 757 389

Other employee benefits 839,167 905,782

Total employee benefit expense 892,896 960,715

6. Profit for the year before income tax (continued)
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7. Income taxes relating to continuing operations

Income tax recognised in profit or loss

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Tax expense comprises:

Current tax expense in respect of the current year 11,232 13,047

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years – (2,722)

11,232 10,325

Deferred tax expense/(benefit) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,988 (375)

Total tax expense 13,220 9,950

 
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

Profit from operations 43,672 42,087

Income tax expense calculated at 30% 13,102 12,626

Effect of amounts that are not deductible/(assessable) in determining taxable profit:

Amortisation of intangibles 184 197

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (280) (803)

Benefit of tax losses not recognised 4 266

Share of net loss of associate 204 –

Other sundry items 6 386

13,220 12,672

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years – (2,722)

Income tax expense 13,220 9,950

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on 
taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in the corporate tax rate when compared with the previous 
reporting period.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax assets

Entitities in the tax-consolidated group 2,573 –

Current tax liabilities

Entities in the tax-consolidated group – 1,041

Other 1,072 3,247

1,072 4,288
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Deferred tax balances

2014

Opening 
balance 

$’000

Charged 
to income 

$’000

Charged 
to equity 

$’000

Acquisitions/ 
disposals 

$’000

Exchange 
difference 

$’000

Change in 
tax rates 

$’000

Closing 
balance 

$’000

Temporary differences

Inventories (11,380) (2,166) – – (173) – (13,719)

Contracts in progress at

Recoverable value (32,275) 2,438 – – (1,401) – (31,238)

Property, plant and equipment  989  (381) – – 13 –  621

Provisions  15,366  (1,799) – – 10 –  13,577

Doubtful debts 871  (142) – – 26 – 755

Other 1,820  62  – – 12 – 1,894

(24,609)  (1,988)  – –  (1,513) – (28,110)

Presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities (45,569)

Deferred tax assets 17,459

(28,110)

2013

Opening 
balance 

$’000

Charged 
to income 

$’000

Charged 
to equity 

$’000

Acquisitions/
disposals 

$’000

Exchange 
difference 

$’000

Change in 
tax rates 

$’000

Closing 
balance 

$’000

Temporary differences

Inventories (10,259) (1,106) – – (15) – (11,380)

Contracts in progress at

Recoverable value (36,855) 4,753 – – (173) – (32,275)

Property, plant and equipment 1,173 59 – (244) 1 – 989

Provisions 15,885 (766) – 246 1 – 15,366

Doubtful debts 707 5 – 157 2 – 871

Other 4,369 (2,570) – 20 1 – 1,820

(24,980) 375 – 179 (183) – (24,609)

Presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities (43,943)

Deferred tax assets 19,334

(24,609)

7. Income taxes relating to continuing operations (continued)
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Tax consolidation

Relevance of tax consolidation to the consolidated entity

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 
1 April 2004 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is 
Programmed Maintenance Services Limited. 

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements

Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax-sharing agreement with the 
head entity. Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, Programmed Maintenance Services Limited and each of the 
entities in the tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the 
current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other 
entities in the tax-consolidated group.

The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the tax-consolidated group provides for the determination of the 
allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts 
have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing 
agreement is considered remote.

8. Current trade and other receivables

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Trade receivables 174,731 205,021

Allowance for doubtful debts (2,567) (3,219)

172,164 201,802

Contracts in progress at recoverable value (note 18) 53,083 59,427

Other trade receivables 29,254 21,148

254,501 282,377

The average credit period for invoiced services is 30 – 60 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables. An allowance 
has been made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivable amounts arising from past rendering of services, determined by 
reference to past default experience.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $16.575 million (2013: $28.004 million) 
which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in 
credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The 
average age of these receivables is 66 days (2013: 68 days).
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2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Ageing of past due but not impaired

60 – 90 days 8,636 12,216

90 – 120 days 2,104 1,384

120+ days 5,835 14,404

Total 16,575 28,004

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,219 2,490

Additions through acquisition of business – 534

Impairment losses recognised on receivables 1,655 1,475

Amounts written off as uncollectible (1,633) (917)

Amounts recovered during the year (590) (101)

Net foreign exchange differences 86 (14)

Impairment losses reversed (170) (248)

Balance at the end of the year 2,567 3,219

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade 
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the 
customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in 
excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

60 – 90 days 563 74

90 – 120 days 57 54

120+ days 1,947 3,091

Total 2,567 3,219

9. Other financial assets

Loans carried at amortised cost

Current

Loans to other entities 1,576 2,166

1,576 2,166

Disclosed in the financial statements as:

Current other financial assets 1,576 2,166

1,576 2,166

8. Current trade and other receivables (continued)
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10. Inventories

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

At cost:

Raw materials and stores 2,981 2,222

Work in progress 41,572 33,023

Finished goods 323 475

At recoverable amount:

Work in progress (note 18) 16,463 16,526

61,339 52,246

11. Other current assets

Prepayments 7,272 5,525

12. Investment in associates

Details of the Group’s associate are as follows:

Name of associate Country of incorporation and operation

Ownership interest

2014  
%

2013  
%

OneShift Pty Ltd (i) (ii) Australia 27.5 –

UMW Deepnautic Pte Ltd (iii) Singapore 49 49

i. On 2 October 2013, the Group invested $5 million in the emerging online recruitment business, OneShift, acquiring a 27.5% 
equity stake. A further $0.148 million was incurred in relation to the investment (total investment of $5.148m). OneShift 
focuses on the temporary employment market, matching potential candidates with businesses seeking temporary workers 
on a fee per candidate basis.

ii. The financial year end date of OneShift Pty Ltd is 30 June. This was the reporting date established when that company 
was incorporated. For the purpose of applying the equity method the financial statements of OneShift for the period ended 
31 March 2014 have been used.

iii. This entity was placed into voluntary liquidation on 29 April 2013 and the liquidation is in progress.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Total assets 3,797 –

Total liabilities (3,721) –

Net assets 76 –

Group’s share of net assets of associate 21 –

Goodwill 4,448 –

Carrying value of net assets of associates 4,469 –

Total revenue 83 –

Total loss for the period (2,469) –

Group’s share of losses of associate (679) –
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13. Non-current trade and other receivables

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Contracts in progress at recoverable value (note 18) 57,083 54,203

14. Non-current inventories

At recoverable amount:

Work in progress (note 18) 11,640 11,477

15. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land 
and buildings 

at cost 
$’000

Leasehold 
improvements 

at cost 
$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Equipment 
under finance 
lease at cost 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 April 2012 336 7,992 56,231 21,434 85,993

Additions – 3,650 4,515 2,088 10,253

Disposals (200) (1,437) (15,602) (748) (17,987)

Acquisitions through business combinations – – 1,498 4,022 5,520

Net foreign currency exchange differences 
and reclassifications – (195) 776 (692) (111)

Balance at 31 March 2013  136  10,010 47,418  26,104  83,668

Additions 7  2,749  3,268  3,255  9,279

Disposals  –  (272) (8,925) (970)  (10,167)

Net foreign currency exchange differences 
and reclassifications –  (384)  7,125 (5,629)  1,112

Balance at 31 March 2014  143  12,103 48,886  22,760  83,892

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2012 (90) (5,037) (44,603) (12,012) (61,742)

Disposals 38 1,299 14,437 462 16,236

Depreciation expense (3) (1,391) (5,916) (3,365) (10,675)

Net foreign currency exchange differences 
and reclassifications – 128 (669) 663 122

Balance at 31 March 2013 (55) (5,001)  (36,751) (14,252) (56,059)

Disposals –  245  8,066  846  9,157

Depreciation expense (4)  (1,614) (5,340) (2,824)  (9,782)

Net foreign currency exchange differences 
and reclassifications – (54) (3,162) 2,420 (796)

Balance at 31 March 2014 (59) (6,424)  (37,187) (13,810) (57,480)

Net book value

As at 31 March 2013 81 5,009 10,667 11,852 27,609

As at 31 March 2014 84 5,679 11,699 8,950 26,412
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16. Goodwill

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at beginning of financial year 245,543 242,010

Additional amounts recognised from business combinations occurring during the year – 3,523

Net foreign exchange differences 528 10

246,071 245,543

During the financial year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill, and determined that the carrying amount of 
goodwill was not impaired.

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following groups of cash-generating units:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Integrated Workforce 72,898 72,898

Property & Infrastructure 32,767 32,767

Resources 140,406 139,878

246,071 245,543

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives have been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following groups of 
cash-generating units:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Integrated Workforce 3,058 3,058

Resources 5,553 5,553

Property & Infrastructure 136 –

8,747 8,611

Integrated Workforce

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses pre-tax cash 
flow projections based on the financial budget for the 2015 financial year approved by the directors, then extrapolated for a total 
of four years at a growth rate of 2.5% (2013: 2.5%), and a pre-tax discount rate of 12.29% per annum (2013: 13.12% per annum).

The cash flows beyond that five year period have been extrapolated using a steady 2.5% per annum growth rate (2013: 2.5%). 
This growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for this business’s market in Australia. Cash flow projections 
during the five year period are based on the same expected gross margins throughout this period. 

Property & Infrastructure

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses pre-tax cash 
flow projections based on the financial budget for the 2015 financial year approved by the directors, then extrapolated for a total 
of four years at a growth rate of 2.5% (2013: 2.5%), and a pre-tax discount rate of 13.50% per annum (2013: 13.12% per annum).

The cash flows beyond that five year period have been extrapolated using a steady 2.5% per annum growth rate (2013: 2.5%). 
This growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for this business’s market in Australia. Cash flow projections 
during the five year period are based on the same expected gross margins throughout this period. 
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Resources

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses pre-tax cash 
flow projections based on the financial budget for the 2015 financial year approved by the directors, then extrapolated for a 
total of four years at a growth rate of 4.0% (2013: 2.5%), in line with the short to medium term growth rates for the oil and gas 
industry in which business operates, and a pre-tax discount rate of 14.48% per annum (2013: 13.12% per annum).

The cash flows beyond that five year period have been extrapolated using a steady 2.5% per annum growth rate (2013: 2.5%). 
This growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for this business’s market in Australia. Cash flow projections 
during the five year period are based on the same expected gross margins throughout this period. 

17. Other intangible assets

Value of 
long term 
contracts 
acquired 

$’000

Value of 
development 

software 
$’000

Value of 
brands 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 April 2012 13,727 5,916 8,761 28,404

Additions 463 832 – 1,295

Amounts recognised through business combination 2,347 – – 2,347

Expensed during the year (1,153) – – (1,153)

Net foreign currency exchange differences and other (660) (363) – (1,023)

Balance at 31 March 2013 14,724  6,385 8,761  29,870

Additions 613 346  136 1,095

Expensed during the year  – – –  –

Net foreign currency exchange differences and other 139  2 –  141

Balance at 31 March 2014  15,476  6,733 8,897  31,106

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2012 (10,488) (4,196) (150) (14,834)

Amortisation expense (657) (1,058) – (1,715)

Net foreign currency exchange differences and other 713 364 – 1,077

Balance at 31 March 2013 (10,432) (4,890) (150) (15,472)

Amortisation expense (614)  (833) – (1,447)

Net foreign currency exchange differences and other (53)  – –  (53)

Balance at 31 March 2014  (11,099) (5,723) (150)  (16,972)

Net book value

As at 31 March 2013 4,292 1,495 8,611 14,398

As at 31 March 2014 4,377 1,010 8,747 14,134

The amortisation expense is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in the statement of profit or loss.

16. Goodwill (continued)
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18. Contracts and work in progress at recoverable value

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Contracts in progress

Balance at the beginning of year 113,630 129,828

Increase/(decrease) in amounts recoverable (note 5):

 – Revenue from rendering of services (15,693) (23,944)

 – Finance revenue 6,752 7,333

Effect of foreign currency movements 5,477 413

Balance at the end of year 110,166 113,630

Categorised as:

Current (note 8) 53,083 59,427

Non-current (note 13) 57,083 54,203

110,166 113,630

Work in progress

Balance at the beginning of year 28,003 24,095

Increase/(decrease) in amounts recoverable (note 5) (47) 3,786

Effect of foreign currency movements 147 122

Balance at the end of year 28,103 28,003

Categorised as:

Current (note 10) 16,463 16,526

Non-current (note 14) 11,640 11,477

28,103 28,003

Total contracts and work in progress

Categorised as:

Current 69,546 75,953

Non-current 68,723 65,680

138,269 141,633

19. Assets pledged as security

In accordance with the security arrangements of liabilities, as disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements, certain assets of 
the Group have been pledged as security. The holders of the security do not have the right to sell or pledge the assets other than 
in the event of default.
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20. Trade and other payables

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Trade payables 78,968 79,864

Accruals and sundry creditors 81,062 76,490

Deferred revenue 2,370 3,516

162,400 159,870

The average credit period on purchases is 30 days (2013: 30 days). No interest is charged on trade payables. The Group has 
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

21. Borrowings

Secured – at amortised cost

Current

Bank loans (i) 50,000 60,000

Finance lease liabilities (ii) 3,179 4,261

Non-current

Bank loans (iii) 14,100 34,361

Finance lease liabilities (ii) 4,429 6,819

71,708 105,441

Disclosed in the financial statements as:

Current borrowings 53,179 64,261

Non-current borrowings 18,529 41,180

71,708 105,441

Summary of borrowing arrangements:

(i) Working capital facility provided by the Westpac Banking Corporation. The current weighted average interest rate is 3.54% 
(2013: 4.03%). The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of all main operating companies in 
Australia and New Zealand.

(ii)  Secured by the assets leased. The borrowings are at a fixed rate with varying maturity periods not exceeding 5 years. The 
current weighted average effective interest rate is 7.54% (2013: 7.74%).

(iii) Senior credit facility provided by the Westpac Banking Corporation. The current weighted average interest rate is 3.83% 
(2013: 4.28%). The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of all main operating companies in 
Australia and New Zealand. The amount is disclosed net of borrowing costs of $0.900 million (2013: $0.639 million).
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22. Provisions

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Current

Employee benefits 36,611 38,696

Other 1,214 1,117

37,825 39,813

Non-current

Employee benefits 5,053 8,206

Other 
$’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 1,675

Payments made (558)

Balance at 31 March 2013 1,117

Additional provision recognised 280

Payments made (183)

Balance at 31 March 2014 1,214

23. Issued capital

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

118,253,992 fully paid ordinary shares (2013: 118,179,696)  236,060 236,060

2014 2013

No.’000 $’000 No.’000 $’000

Ordinary shares

Balance at the beginning of the year 118,180 236,060 118,174 235,549

Income tax related to share issue costs – – – 511

Issue of shares under the Long Term Incentive Plan 74 – 6 –

Balance at the end of the year 118,254 236,060 118,180 236,060

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital 
from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a 
par value.

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.

Apart from those noted above, there were no other movements in the ordinary share capital of the Company in the current or 
prior year.
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Performance rights and performance options granted under the employee long term incentive plan

In accordance with the provisions of the employee Long Term Incentive Plan, as at 31 March 2014, executives and senior 
employees have been granted performance rights and/or performance options. Both performance rights and performance 
options granted under the employee Long Term Incentive Plan carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. Further details of 
the employee Long Term Incentive Plan are contained in note 35 to the financial statements.

24. Reserves

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Foreign currency translation reserve (275) (6,706)

Capital profits reserve 5,535 5,535

Equity settled employee benefits reserve 2,560 1,803

7,820 632

 
Foreign currency translation reserve:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year (6,706) (7,193)

Translation of foreign operations 6,431 487

Balance at the end of the financial year (275) (6,706)

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s foreign controlled entities into 
Australian dollars are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Capital profits reserve:

Balance at the beginning and end of the financial year 5,535 5,535

The capital profits reserve relates to profits realised on the sale of non-current assets.

Equity settled employee benefits reserve:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 1,803 1,414

Share-based payments 757 389

Balance at the end of the financial year 2,560 1,803

The equity-settled employee benefits reserve arises on the grant of performance rights and options to executives and senior 
employees under the Long Term Incentive Plan. Amounts are transferred out of the reserve and into issued capital when the 
performance rights and options are exercised. Further information about share-based payments to employees can be found in 
note 35 to the financial statements.

25. Retained earnings

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 154,959 138,185

Net profit attributable to members of the parent entity 30,452 32,137

Dividends provided for or paid (note 27) (18,912) (15,363)

Balance at the end of the financial year 166,499 154,959

23. Issued capital (continued)
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26. Earnings per share

2014
Cents per 

share

2013
Cents per 

share

Basic earnings per share

From continuing operations 25.8 27.2

Diluted earnings per share

From continuing operations 25.0 26.5

Basic earnings per share

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Earnings used in the calculation of basic EPS: Net profit from continuing operations 30,452 32,137

2014 
No.’000

2013 
No.’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 118,213 118,176

Diluted earnings per share

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted EPS: Net profit from continuing operations 30,452 32,137

2014 
No.’000

2013 
No.’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 118,213 118,176

Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of:

Performance rights and options 3,447 2,933

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 121,660 121,109

There are no options outstanding at reporting date that are not dilutive.



92 PROGRAMMED 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 March 2014 continued

27. Dividends

2014 2013

Cents 
per share

Total 
$’000

Cents 
per share

Total 
$’000

Recognised amounts

Fully paid ordinary shares

Final dividend – franked to 100% at 30% tax rate (2013: 100%) 10.0 11,818 8.0 9,454

Interim dividend – franked to 100% at 30% tax rate (2013: 100%) 6.0 7,094 5.0 5,909

16.0  18,912 13.0 15,363

Unrecognised amounts

Fully paid ordinary shares

Final dividend – franked to 100% at 30% tax rate (2013: 100%) 11.0 13,008 10.0 11,818

On 28 May 2014 the directors determined a fully franked final dividend of 11 cents per share to holders of fully paid ordinary 
shares in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2014, to be paid to shareholders on 25 July 2014. This has not been 
included as a liability in these financial statements. The dividend will be paid to all shareholders on the Register of Members on 
4 July 2014. The total estimated dividend to be paid is $13.01 million.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Adjusted franking account balance 33,872 35,413

Impact on franking account balance of dividends not recognised (5,575) (5,065)

28. Commitments for expenditure

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Plant and equipment – Not longer than 1 year 101 228

(b) Lease commitments

Finance lease liabilities and non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

29. Contingent liabilities

The Company has been provided with performance and security guarantees by its bankers in accordance with certain 
contractual requirements (refer note 33(c)).

The directors are not aware of any other significant contingent liabilities.
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30. Leases

Finance leases

Leasing arrangements:

The hire purchase and finance lease arrangements are generally made for a three year period and are secured by a charge over 
the related assets. The Group has the option to purchase the related assets at the conclusion of the finance leases.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Finance lease liabilities:

No later than 1 year 3,551 4,857

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,689 7,311

Later than 5 years – –

Minimum future lease payments* 8,240 12,168

Less future finance charges (632) (1,088)

Present value of minimum lease payments 7,608 11,080

Included in the financial statements as (note 21): 

Current borrowings 3,179 4,261

Non-current borrowings 4,429 6,819

7,608 11,080

* Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual.

Operating leases

Leasing arrangements:

The operating leases relate to motor vehicles, office and warehouse facilities with the majority of lease terms not exceeding five 
years. Most of the leases have options to extend for further periods of similar duration, with market review clauses in the event 
that the Group exercises the options to renew. The Group does not have the option to purchase the related assets at the expiry of 
the lease period.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments:

No longer than 1 year 12,059 11,058

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 16,578 15,562

Longer than 5 years 63 54

28,700 26,674
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31. Subsidiaries

Name of subsidiary

Ownership interest

Note
Country of 

incorporation
2014 

%
2013 

%

Programmed Maintenance Services (NZ) Ltd New Zealand 100 100

PMS Share Schemes Administration Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100 100 

PMS Building Services Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100 100 

Programmed Property Services Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100 

Programmed Property Services Ltd United Kingdom 100 100 

Programmed Facility Management Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Programmed Building Services Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100 100 

Programmed Integrated Workforce Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100 

ACN 083 154 410 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 070 311 250 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 076 972 720 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 080 974 465 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 085 621 665 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 082 039 950 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 081 906 827 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 074 863 380 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 058 483 177 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 094 438 909 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 009 440 117 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 099 484 358 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 099 484 401 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 099 484 670 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 099 484 590 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 099 484 723 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

Labour Management Australia Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100 100 

ACN 099 484 241 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 099 484 287 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 113 518 880 Ltd (iv) Australia 100 100 

Integrated Maintenance Services Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100 

Sea Wolves Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100 

Programmed Marine Pty Ltd (formerly Programmed Total Marine 
Services Pty Ltd) (i), (ii) Australia 100 100 

ACN 086 117 679 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

Programmed Total Harbour Services Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100 100 

ACN 070 140 233 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 061 105 940 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

Programmed Total Marine Services (Asia) Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 
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Name of subsidiary

Ownership interest

Note
Country of 

incorporation
2014 

%
2013 

%

ACN 111 337 878 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 111 337 823 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 111 337 832 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 111 337 903 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 111 337 949 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 119 016 456 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 119 324 855 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

NTBD Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100 100 

Programmed Total Marine Services Ltd New Zealand 100 100 

Programmed Total Marine Catering Services Ltd New Zealand 100 100 

Programmed Total Marine Offshore Services Ltd New Zealand 100 100 

Artel Corporation Ltd New Zealand 100 100 

Hi-Point Personnel Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100 100 

Programmed Integrated Workforce (NZ) Ltd New Zealand 100 100 

SWG Holdings (2005) Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100 

Programmed Maintenance Pty Ltd (formerly Programmed Construction 
& Maintenance Pty Ltd) (i), (ii) Australia 100 100 

ACN 124 019 003 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 083 300 109 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

ACN 123 661 898 Pty Ltd (i), (iii) Australia – 100 

SWG International Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 

SWG Offshore International Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 

Programmed Electrical Technologies Ltd (formerly KLM Group Ltd) (i), (ii) Australia 100 100 

Allied Technologies Australia Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

KLM Group (SA) Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Qolit Australia Pty Ltd (v) Australia 70 70

ACN 152 632 294 Pty Ltd (formerly LED Lighting Distributors Pty Ltd) (i) Australia 100 100

Programmed Facility Management NZ Ltd New Zealand 100 100

Programmed Facility Management (PRA) Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Swan Water Services Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Western Water Services Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Programmed Turnpoint Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

ES Administration Services Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Monaco 88 Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Turn Point Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Turnpoint Racecourse Maintenance Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

TP Racing Services Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100

Turnpoint Maintenance Pty Ltd (i), (ii) Australia 100 100
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Name of subsidiary

Ownership interest

Note
Country of 

incorporation
2014 

%
2013 

%

Turnpoint Maintenance Trust (i) Australia 100 100

Programmed Facility Management BW Pty Ltd (i), (vi) Australia 100 –

(i) These subsidiaries are members of the tax consolidated group, with Programmed Maintenance Services Limited being the head entity within the tax 
consolidated group.

(ii) These wholly-owned subsidiaries have entered into a deed of cross guarantee with Programmed Maintenance Services Limited pursuant to ASIC 
Class Order 98/1418 and are relieved from the requirement to prepare and lodge an audited financial report.

(iii) These dormant entities were placed into voluntary liquidation on 26 March 2012 and were liquidated on 27 June 2013. 

(iv) This dormant entity was placed into voluntary liquidation on 26 March 2012.

(v) This is a dormant company with immaterial minority interests. The company was placed into voluntary liquidation on 21 June 2013.

(vi) This subsidiary was newly incorporated in the financial year ended 31 March 2014. 

31. Subsidiaries (continued)
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The consolidated statement of profit or loss and statement of financial position of the entities party to the deed of cross 
guarantee are:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Continuing operations

Statement of profit or loss

Revenue 1,349,513 1,426,816

Other income 1,539 685

Changes in work in progress at cost and other inventories 9,689 (5,913)

Raw materials and consumables used (128,513) (146,803)

Employee benefits expenses (825,338) (897,735)

Sub-contractor expenses (299,650) (260,523)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (10,507) (11,656)

Finance costs (7,266) (9,835)

Equipment and motor vehicle costs (16,242) (15,271)

Information technology and telecommunications costs (6,690) (8,011)

Other expenses (27,253) (38,957)

Share of net loss of associate accounted for using the equity method (679) –

Profit before tax expense 38,603 32,797

Income tax expense (10,153) (6,060)

Profit for the year 28,450 26,737

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent entity 28,450 26,737

Statement of financial position

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22,214 32,521

Trade and other receivables 221,146 249,859

Inventories 59,158 50,955

Current tax assets 2,573 –

Other 7,051 5,502

Total current assets 312,142 338,837

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 40,130 36,910

Inventories 9,496 8,566

Investments accounted for using the equity method 4,469 –

Other financial assets 16,510 16,510

Property, plant and equipment 23,838 25,431

Deferred tax assets 16,065 18,116

Goodwill 235,963 236,013

Other intangible assets 13,537 13,827

Total non-current assets 360,008 355,373

Total assets 672,150 694,210
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2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 153,876 153,139

Borrowings 53,179 64,261

Other financial liabilities 19,380 13,802

Current tax payables – 1,043

Provisions 37,361 39,437

Total current liabilities 263,796 271,682

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 18,529 41,180

Deferred tax liabilities 36,072 34,392

Provisions 2,703 6,200

Total non-current liabilities 57,304 81,772

Total liabilities 321,100 353,454

Net assets 351,050 340,756

Equity

Issued capital 236,060 236,060

Reserves 8,140 7,384

Retained earnings* 106,850 97,312

Total equity 351,050 340,756
 

*Retained earnings

Retained earnings as at beginning of the financial year 97,312 85,938

Net profit 28,450 26,737

Dividends provided for or paid (18,912) (15,363)

Retained earnings as at end of the financial year 106,850 97,312

32. Acquisition of businesses

Names of businesses acquired Principal activity Date of acquisition

Proportion 
of shares 
acquired 

(%)

Cost of 
acquisition 

$’000

2013

Turnpoint group

Landscaping, construction and maintenance 
services for golf courses, horse race courses 
and major sports stadia across Australia 4 April 2012 100 8,857

31. Subsidiaries (continued)
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Acquisition of businesses in the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Turnpoint group

On 4 April 2012, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of the Turnpoint group entities for cash consideration of 
$8.857 million ($9.100 million less $0.243 million of net assets adjustment). 

The net assets acquired in the business combination, and the goodwill arising, are as follows:

Book value 
$’000

Fair value 
adjustments 

$’000

Fair value on 
acquisition 

$’000

Net assets acquired:

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 841 – 841

Trade and other receivables 2,693 – 2,693

Other current assets 199 – 199

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5,520 – 5,520

Deferred tax assets 423 – 423

Other intangible assets – 2,347 2,347

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (1,908) – (1,908)

Current tax payable (305) – (305)

Provisions (579) – (579)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings (3,411) – (3,411)

Deferred tax liabilities (244) – (244)

Provisions (242) – (242)

2,987 2,347 5,334

Goodwill arising on acquisition 3,523

Total consideration 8,857

Consideration paid in cash 8,857

Consideration payable –

8,857
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Goodwill arose in the business combinations because the cost of the combination included a control premium paid to acquire 
the businesses. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of 
expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled workforce of businesses. These benefits are 
not recognised separately from goodwill as the future economic benefits arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

The acquired businesses contributed revenues of $24.831 million and net profit of $1.463 million to the Group for the period from 
acquisition to 31 March 2013.

As the acquisition date of the Turnpoint group was 4 April 2012, the quantified impact on Group revenue and profit had the 
acquisition occurred on 1 April 2012 is considered immaterial.

Prior Period acquisitions

Workforce on Tap

The Group acquired the business operations of Workforce on Tap effective 19 December 2011. Purchase consideration included 
a warranty retention amount of $0.850 million, which was paid into an escrow account and released to the vendors in two 
tranches in accordance with the sale agreement 6 months and 12 months after the acquisition date. During the comparative 
year ended 31 March 2013, the warranty retention amount ($0.850 million) was paid to the vendors.

Net cash flow on acquisitions:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Turnpoint Group:

Purchase consideration paid in cash – 8,857

Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired – (841)

– 8,016

Workforce on Tap:

Purchase consideration paid in cash – 850

Net cash outflow on acquisitions – 8,866

33. Notes to the cash flow statement

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments 
in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as 
shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents per statement of financial position  29,477 38,334

(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Aggregate amount of property, plant and equipment acquired during the financial year by entering 
into hire purchase agreements and finance leases. 

These acquisitions are not reflected in the cash flow statement. 3,255 2,088

32. Acquisition of businesses (continued)
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2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

(c) Financing facilities

1. Credit standby arrangements

(a) Secured loan acceptance facilities with various maturity dates

 – amount used 65,000 95,000

 – amount unused 48,000 65,000

113,000 160,000

(b) Secured bank overdraft facilities with various maturity dates, payable at call.

 – amount used – –

 – amount unused 10,935 10,803

10,935 10,803

2. Bank guarantees 

 – amount used 66,511 59,767

 – amount unused 10,489 20,233

77,000 80,000

(d) Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Profit for the year 30,452 32,137

Gain on sale of non-current assets (note 6(a)) (1,264) (1,016)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets (note 6(b)) 11,229 12,390

Interest income received and receivable (note 5) (368) (516)

Equity settled share-based payments (note 6(b)) 757 389

Change in net current tax balances (5,789) (14,189)

Change in deferred tax balances 3,501 (192)

Share of losses of associate 679 –

Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisition and disposal of businesses:

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Current receivables 27,876 (1,492)

Current inventories (9,093) 6,509

Other current assets (1,747) 1,470

Non-current receivables (2,880) 12,134

Non-current inventories (163) (3,986)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current payables 2,530 11,143

Current provisions (1,988) (1,289)

Other current liabilities 5,234 3,263

Non-current provisions (3,153) 184

Net cash from operating activities 55,813 56,939



102 PROGRAMMED 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 March 2014 continued

34. Financial instruments

(a) Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising 
the return to shareholders. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2013.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt as disclosed in note 21, cash and cash equivalents and equity 
attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 23, 
24 and 25 respectively.

Gearing ratio

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review, management considers the 
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group has a target gearing ratio of 40% that is determined 
as the proportion of net debt to equity. Based on recommendations of management, the Group will balance its overall capital 
structure through payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the 
redemption of existing debt.

The gearing ratio at year end was as follows:

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Debt (i) 71,708 105,441

Cash and cash equivalents (note 33(a)) (29,477) (38,334)

Net debt 42,231 67,107

Equity (ii) 410,379 391,651

Net debt to equity ratio 10.3% 17.1%

(i)  Debt is defined as long and short-term borrowings, as detailed in note 21.

(ii)  Equity includes all capital and reserves.

Banking covenants

During the year the Group and the Company complied with their banking covenants. The banking covenants were:

• Gearing ratio;

• Interest cover ratio;

• Maintaining a minimum amount of shareholders’ funds; and

• Working capital assets ratio.

(b) Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement, and the basis for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial liability and 
equity instrument are disclosed in note 2.
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(c) Categories of financial instruments

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 29,477 38,334

Loans and receivables 313,160 338,746

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 234,108 265,311

(d) Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s corporate treasury function provides services to the business by coordinating access to financial markets and 
monitoring and managing financial risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk and fair value interest rate risk), 
credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effect of these risks, by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these risk exposures. 
The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies, which provide written principles on foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and the investment of 
excess liquidity. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by management on a continuous basis. The Group 
does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

(e) Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (refer note 34(f)) and 
interest rates (refer note 34(g)).

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk 
from the previous period.

(f) Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations 
arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters using forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting 
date are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

New Zealand dollars 7,248 5,853 50,352 49,945

British pounds 208 47 1,864 2,181

Singapore dollars – 23 – 105

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to New Zealand dollars as noted above. The Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in 
the Australian dollar against the New Zealand dollar decreases net assets by $3.899 million (2013: $4.008 million) and increases 
net assets by $4.765 million (2013: $4.899 million) respectively.

10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign 
currency rates.
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Forward foreign exchange contracts

The Group has not entered into any forward exchange 
contracts at 31 March 2014 (2013: nil).

(g) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the 
Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates.

The Company and the Group’s exposures to interest rates 
on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the 
liquidity risk management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based 
on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and 
non-derivative instruments at the reporting date and the 
stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the 
financial year and held constant throughout the reporting 
period. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when 
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the 
possible change in interest rates.

During the financial year, if interest rates had been 50 basis 
points higher or lower and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s net profit would decrease by $0.293 
million and increase by $0.293 million (2013: decrease by 
$0.410 million and increase by $0.410 million). This is mainly 
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its 
variable rate borrowings.

(h) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default 
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing 
with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient 
collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the 
risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts 

with entities that are rated favourably by independent 
rating agencies and if not available the Group uses publicly 
available financial information and its own trading record to 
rate its major customers. Trade receivables consist of a large 
number of customers, spread across diverse industries and 
geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed 
on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure 
to any single counterparty or any Group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds 
and derivative financial instruments is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by 
international credit-rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the 
financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

(i) Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests 
with the Board of Directors, who have built an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management 
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and 
liquidity management requirements. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking 
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Included in 
note 33(c) is a listing of additional undrawn facilities that the 
Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual 
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table 
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows 
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both 
interest and principal cash flows.

34. Financial instruments (continued)
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Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate 

%

Less than 
1 month  

$’000

1 to 
3 months 

$’000

3 months 
to 1 year  

$’000
1 to 5 years 

$’000
5+ years 

$’000

2014

Non-interest bearing  – 105,591  52,357 2,082 – –

Finance lease liability 7.54  314  612 2,731 4,583  –

Variable interest rate instruments:

 – Bank loans  3.61  –  478 50,995 16,018  –

105,905 53,447 55,808 20,601  –

2013

Non-interest bearing – 100,707 52,442 3,205 – –

Finance lease liability 7.74 435 1,018 3,404 7,311 –

Variable interest rate instruments:

 – Bank loans 4.12 – 870 61,597 35,634 –

101,142 54,330 68,206 42,945 –

At the year-end it was not probable that the counterparty to the financial guarantee contracts (note 33(c)) will claim under the 
contract. Consequently, the amount included above is nil.

(j) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid 
markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

• the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the 
financial statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

At reporting date, there are no financial instruments measured, subsequent to initial recognition, at fair value.

35. Share-based payments

Performance rights granted during the reporting period

The Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) was first introduced during the year ended 31 March 2008 as a share-based 
compensation scheme for executives and senior employees of the Group. The LTIP was revised during the 2013 reporting period 
and a summary of the key changes to the LTIP are detailed in the Directors Report on pages 31 to 35. In accordance with the 
provisions of the revised LTIP, the executives and senior employees have been granted performance rights. 

The revised LTIP contains the following components:

a. Each performance right converts upon exercise into one fully paid ordinary share in the Company, with no amounts being 
paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the performance right;

b. Performance rights have a vesting date of four years from the date of issue;

c. The performance rights carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights; and

d. Performance criteria for the performance rights is as follows:
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 − The performance hurdle for one-third of the 
performance rights will be based on the executive 
and other senior employees continuing to be an 
employee of the Group at the vesting date, thus 
creating a retention component;

 − The performance hurdle for one-third of the 
performance rights, will be based on the Company’s 
performance by reference to the Total Shareholder 
Return (“TSR”) over the performance period when 
compared with the TSR for each company in a group 
of peer companies listed in the S&P/ASX300; and

 − The performance hurdle for one-third of the 
performance rights will based on the Company’s 
performance, where a target range for the average 
annual growth in diluted Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) 
over the performance period of the EPS performance 
rights has been established to determine the number 
of EPS performance rights that may be vested.

The Managing Director’s grant under the LTIP is subject to 
the same performance criteria described above, except that 
half of the performance rights are subject to TSR, and half of 
the performance rights are subject to EPS.

Performance rights and performance options 
granted in prior reporting periods

Executives and other senior employees have been granted 
performance rights and/or performance options in prior 
financial years under the LTIP that was in operation prior to 
its revision 2013.

The LTIP contains the following components:

a. Each performance right converts upon exercise into 
one fully paid ordinary share in the Company, with no 
amounts being paid or payable by the recipient on 
receipt of the performance right;

b. Each performance option converts into one fully paid 
ordinary share in the Company upon the payment of 
the applicable exercise price at time of exercise, with 

no amounts being paid or payable by the recipient on 
receipt of the performance option;

c. Performance rights have vesting dates that are three to 
five years from the date of issue, and may be exercised at 
any time within twelve months from date of vesting;

d. Performance options have a vesting date that is three 
years from the date of issue, and may be exercised at any 
time within twelve months from the date of vesting;

e. Both performance rights and performance options carry 
neither rights to dividends nor voting rights;

f. For performance rights or performance options issued 
prior to 1 July 2010:

 − the number of performance rights or performance 
options that will become exercisable on the vesting 
date is based on the TSR of the Company during 
the years prior to the vesting date as compared to 
the TSR for a peer group of companies listed in the 
S&P/ASX 300.

g. For performance rights issued between 1 July 2010 and 
30 June 2012:

 − one-third of the performance rights issued will 
become exercisable on the relevant executive or 
senior manager continuing to be an employee of the 
Group at the vesting date; and

 − for the remaining two-thirds of the performance 
rights issued, the number that will become 
exercisable on the vesting date is based on the TSR 
of the Company during the years prior to the vesting 
date as compared to the TSR for a peer group of 
companies listed in the S&P/ASX300.

100% of the performance rights and performance options 
granted to the Managing Director in prior reporting periods 
are subject to the TSR performance criteria described above.

The following reconciles the outstanding performance rights 
and performance options under the LTIP’s at the beginning 
and end of the financial year:

35. Share-based payments (continued)



107PROGRAMMED 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

 

Performance rights Performance options

2014 
No.

2013 
No.

2014 
No.

2013 
No.

Balance at the beginning of the financial year (i) 3,184,000 2,283,000 63,000 868,000

Granted during the financial year (ii) 1,170,000 1,302,000 – –

Exercised during the financial year (iii) (74,296) (5,918) – –

Lapsed during the financial year (iv) (559,204) (395,082) (32,466) (805,000)

Balance at the end of the financial year (v) 3,720,500 3,184,000 30,534 63,000

(i) Balance at beginning of the financial year 2014

Grant date Issue date
Exercised 

number
Unvested 

number Vesting date Expiry date

Exercise 
price 

$

Fair value at 
grant date 

$

Performance rights    

Tranche PR-10 12/03/2009 12/03/2009 – 42,000 11/03/2014 11/03/2015 – 0.79

Tranche PR-14 02/07/2010 02/07/2010  1,025  161,500 01/07/2013 01/07/2014 – 1.18

Tranche PR-15 02/07/2010 02/07/2010  769  161,500 01/07/2014 01/07/2015 – 1.15

Tranche PR-16 02/07/2010 02/07/2010  614  179,000 01/07/2015 01/07/2016 – 1.11

Tranche PR-17 02/07/2011 02/07/2011  1,376  454,000 01/07/2014 01/07/2015 – 1.35

Tranche PR-18 02/07/2011 02/07/2011  1,033  454,000 01/07/2015 01/07/2016 – 1.34

Tranche PR-19 02/07/2011 02/07/2011  1,101 555,000 01/07/2016 01/07/2017 – 1.32

2012 Award (A) 02/07/2012 02/07/2012 –  1,027,000 01/07/2016  N/A – 1.31

2012 Award (B) 06/08/2012 06/08/2012 –  150,000 01/07/2016  N/A – 1.17

Total of performance rights  5,918 3,184,000

Performance options    

Tranche PO-9 12/03/2009 12/03/2011 –  63,000 11/03/2014 11/03/2015 1.70 0.25

Total of performance options  –  63,000  

(ii) Granted during the financial year 2014

The following performance rights were granted by the Board of Directors during the financial year:

Number 
granted Grant date Vesting date Expiry date

Exercise  
price  

$

Fair value 
at grant  

date  
$

Performance rights   

2013 Award (A) 1,010,000  01/07/2013 01/07/2017 N/A  – 1.10

2013 Award (B) 160,000 09/08/2013 01/07/2017  N/A – 0.99

Total performance rights 1,170,000

The fair values at grant date of the performance rights have been priced using a Monte Carlo simulation, which is a valuation 
method using the results of many individual simulations to determine a fair value.
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Key inputs into the model

Tranches of performance rights

2013 Award 
(A)

2013 Award 
(B)

Share price at grant date $2.35 $2.37

Exercise price $0.00 $0.00

Years from grant date until vesting 4.00 4.00

Expected TSR volatility of Company 35.00% 35.00%

Dividend yield 6.19% 6.14%

Risk-free interest rate 2.99% 2.77%

(iii) Exercised during the financial year 2014

There were no performance options exercised during the financial year. 

The following performance rights were exercised during the financial year:

Number 
Exercised Exercise Date

Closing Share 
price at 

exercise date

Performance rights  

Tranche PR-10 18,376 31/03/2014 $2.90

Tranche PR-14 49,494 15/07/2013 to 5/08/2013 $2.47 – $2.50

Tranche PR-15 682 19 February 2014 $2.73

Tranche PR-16 546 19 February 2014 $2.73

Tranche PR-17 1,273 19 February 2014 $2.73

Tranche PR-18 955 19 February 2014 $2.73

Tranche PR-19 1,018 19 February 2014 $2.73

2012 Award (A) 1,952 19 February 2014 $2.73

Total performance rights 74,296

The number of performance rights exercised was calculated in accordance with the LTIP as a result of:

• employees who continued to be an employee of the Company at the vesting date, therefore meeting the retention 
performance hurdle for 1/3 of the performance rights. Employees who met this retention component were entitled to 
performance rights; or

• performance rights that met the Total Shareholder Return performance hurdle; or

• as a result of an employee who ceased to be employed by the Company because of a qualifying reason (in this case, 
redundancy) and was entitled to performance rights. 

35. Share-based payments (continued)
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(iv) Lapsed/forfeited during the financial year 2014

The following performance rights and performance options lapsed/forfeited during the financial year:

Number 
lapsed Grant date Issue date Vesting date Expiry date

Performance rights   

Tranche PR-10 23,624 12/03/2009 12/03/2009 11/03/2014 11/03/2015

Tranche PR-14  112,006 02/07/2010 02/07/2010 01/07/2013 01/07/2014

Tranche PR-15 32,318 02/07/2010 02/07/2010 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

Tranche PR-16 36,454 02/07/2010 02/07/2010 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

Tranche PR-17 49,727 02/07/2011 02/07/2011 01/07/2014 01/07/2015

Tranche PR-18 50,045 02/07/2011 02/07/2011 01/07/2015 01/07/2016

Tranche PR-19 66,982 02/07/2011 02/07/2011 01/07/2016 01/07/2017

2012 Award (A) 158,048 02/07/2012 02/07/2012 01/07/2016  N/A

2013 Award (A)  30,000 01/07/2013 01/07/2013 01/07/2017  N/A

Total performance rights 559,204

Performance options  

Tranche PO-9  32,466 12/03/2009 12/03/2011 11/03/2014 11/03/2015

Total performance options  32,466

(v) Balance at end of the financial year 2014

Grant date Issue date
Vested 

number
Exercised 

number
Unvested 

number Vesting date Expiry date

Exercise 
price 

$

Fair 
value at 

grant 
date  

$

Performance rights    

Tranche PR-15 02/07/2010 02/07/2010 – – 128,500 01/07/2014 01/07/2015 – 1.15

Tranche PR-16 02/07/2010 02/07/2010 – – 142,000 01/07/2015 01/07/2016 – 1.11

Tranche PR-17 02/07/2011 02/07/2011 – – 403,000 01/07/2014 01/07/2015 – 1.35

Tranche PR-18 02/07/2011 02/07/2011 – – 403,000 01/07/2015 01/07/2016 – 1.34

Tranche PR-19 02/07/2011 02/07/2011 – – 487,000 01/07/2016 01/07/2017 – 1.32

2012 Award (A) 02/07/2012 02/07/2012 – – 867,000 01/07/2016  N/A – 1.31

2012 Award (B) 06/08/2012 06/08/2012 – – 150,000 01/07/2016  N/A – 1.17

2013 Award (A) 01/07/2013 01/07/2013 – – 980,000 01/07/2017  N/A – 1.10

2013 Award (B) 09/08/2013 09/08/2013 – – 160,000 01/07/2017  N/A – 0.99

Total of performance rights – – 3,720,500

Performance options   

Tranche PO-9 12/03/2009 12/03/2011 – – 30,534 11/03/2014 11/03/2015 1.70  0.25

Total of performance options – –  30,534  
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36. Key management personnel compensation

Details of key management personnel

The term “key management personnel” is used in this report to refer to the following persons. Except as noted, the named 
persons held their current position for the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year:-

Directors

• B. Brook (Chairman, Non-executive Director)

• C. Sutherland (Managing Director)

• J. Whittle (Non-executive Director)

• E. Stein (Non-executive Director)

• R. McKinnon (Non-executive Director)

• A. Grant (Non-executive Director)

Senior executives

• S. Leach (Chief Financial Officer)

• B. Styles (Chief Executive Officer, Integrated Workforce, resigned 26 April 2013)

• N. Fairbank (Chief Executive Officer, Integrated Workforce, appointed 26 April 2013)

• S. Taylor (Chief Executive Officer, Property & Infrastructure until 1 June 2013, Chief Strategy & Marketing Officer from 
1 June 2013)

• G. Triggs (Chief Executive Officer, Resources)

• M. Waymark (Chief Executive Officer, Facility Management)*

• G. Thompson (Chief Executive Officer, Property Services)*

• J. Sherlock (Group General Manager, Human Resources)#

• M. Deery (Group General Manager, Health, Safety and Environment)#

• T. Hogan (Group General Manager, Risk and Legal)#

*Due to organisational structure change, these executives became key management personnel on 1 June 2013.

#These executives have been included for the purpose of the prior comparative period.

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set out below:

2014 
$

2013 
$

Short-term employee benefits 4,677,120 4,243,607

Post-employment benefits 183,066 186,594

Other long-term benefits 78,912 84,275

Termination benefits 185,094 –

Share-based payments – long term incentives 598,654 679,773

Total 5,722,846 5,194,249

The Company has taken advantage of the relief provided by AASB 2008-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
KMP disclosures by disclosing entities and has transferred the detailed remuneration disclosures to the Directors’ Report. The 
relevant information can be found in the remuneration report on pages 27 to 48.
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37. Related party transactions

(a) Equity interests in related parties

Equity interests in subsidiaries

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements.

(b) Transactions with key management personnel

i. Key management personnel compensation

Details of key management personnel compensation are disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements.

ii. Key management personnel equity holdings

Fully paid ordinary shares of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited:

2014

 Balance 
1.4.13 

No. 

 Granted as 
compensation 

No.

 Received on 
exercise of 

rights/options 
No. 

 Net other 
change 

No.

Balance 
31.3.14 

No. 

 Balance held 
nominally 

No.

B. Brook 70,000 – – – 70,000 50,000

C. Sutherland 583,142 – – – 583,142 579,188

J. Whittle 2,084,656 – – – 2,084,656 1,984,958

E. Stein 22,359 – – – 22,359 22,359

R. McKinnon 50,000 – – – 50,000 50,000

A. Grant 10,000 – – – 10,000 –

S. Leach 29,830 – 6,667 – 36,497 20,638

N. Fairbank 12,367 – 500 11,080 23,947 1,447

B. Styles 24,444 – – (24,444) – –

S. Taylor 38,236 – 11,814  64 50,114 27,638

G. Triggs 28,514 – 8,704  (19,509) 17,709 12,338

M. Waymark – – 5,000 – 5,000 –

G. Thompson – – – – – –
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2013

 Balance 
1.4.12 

No. 

 Granted as 
compensation 

No.

 Received on 
exercise of 

rights/options 
No. 

 Net other 
change 

No.

Balance 
31.3.13 

No. 

 Balance held 
nominally 

No.

B. Brook 50,000 – – 20,000 70,000 50,000

C. Sutherland 583,142 – – – 583,142 579,188

S. Oliver 18,791 – – (18,791) – –

J. Whittle 2,084,656 – – – 2,084,656 1,984,958

E. Stein 18,150 – – 4,209 22,359 22,359

R. McKinnon – – – 50,000 50,000 50,000

A. Grant – – – 10,000 10,000 –

S. Leach 25,234 – – 4,596 29,830 20,638

B. Styles 23,985 – – 459 24,444 23,077

S. Taylor 155,704 – – (117,468) 38,236 26,208

G. Triggs 20,426 – – 8,088 28,514 12,338

J. Sherlock 6,407 – – 2,309 8,716 3,659

M. Deery 805 – – 471 1,276 –

T. Hogan 329 – – 471 800 –

Performance rights issued by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited:

2014

 Balance 
1.4.13 

No. 

 Granted as 
compensation 

No.
 Exercised 

No. 

 Net other 
change 

No.

Balance 
31.3.14 

No. 

 Balance held 
nominally 

No.

B. Brook – – – – – –

C. Sutherland 600,000 160,000 – – 760,000 –

J. Whittle – – – – – –

E. Stein – – – – – –

R. McKinnon – – – – – –

A. Grant – – – – – –

S. Leach 360,000 120,000 (6,667) (13,333) 460,000 –

N. Fairbank 65,000 85,000 (500) (1,000) 148,500 –

B. Styles 199,500 – – (199,500) – –

S. Taylor 205,000 60,000 (11,814) (13,186) 240,000 –

G. Triggs 199,500 60,000 (8,704) (10,796) 240,000 –

M. Waymark 95,000 40,000 (5,000) (10,000) 120,000 –

G. Thompson – 40,000 – – 40,000 –

37. Related party transactions (continued)
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2013

 Balance 
1.4.12 

No. 

 Granted as 
compensation 

No.
 Exercised 

No. 

 Net other 
change 

No.

Balance 
31.3.13 

No. 

 Balance held 
nominally 

No.

B. Brook – – – – – –

C. Sutherland 510,000 150,000 – (60,000) 600,000 –

S. Oliver – – – – – –

J. Whittle – – – – – –

E. Stein – – – – – –

R. McKinnon – – – – – –

A. Grant – – – – – –

S. Leach 265,000 100,000 – (5,000) 360,000 –

B. Styles 152,500 60,000 – (13,000) 199,500 –

S. Taylor 165,500 60,000 – (20,500) 205,000 –

G. Triggs 152,500 60,000 – (13,000) 199,500 –

J. Sherlock 82,000 40,000 – (2,000) 120,000 –

M. Deery 75,000 40,000 – – 115,000 –

T. Hogan 50,000 40,000 – – 90,000 –

Performance options issued by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited:

2014

 Balance 
1.4.13 

No. 

 Granted as 
compensation 

No.
 Exercised 

No. 

 Net other 
change 

No.

Balance 
31.3.14 

No. 

 Balance held 
nominally 

No.

B. Brook  – – – – – –

C. Sutherland – – – – – –

J. Whittle  – – – – – –

E. Stein  – – – – – –

R. McKinnon  – – – – – –

A. Grant  – – – – – –

S. Leach – – – – – –

N. Fairbank – – – – – –

B. Styles 9,000 – – (9,000) – –

S. Taylor 9,000 – – (3,911) 5,089 –

G. Triggs 9,000 – – (3,911) 5,089 –

M. Waymark – – – – – –

G. Thompson – – – – – –
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
31 March 2014 continued

2013

 Balance 
1.4.12 

No. 

 Granted as 
compensation 

No.
 Exercised 

No. 

 Net other 
change 

No.

Balance 
31.3.13 

No. 

 Balance held 
nominally 

No.

B. Brook – – – – – –

C. Sutherland 150,000 – – (150,000) – –

S. Oliver – – – – – –

J. Whittle – – – – – –

E. Stein – – – – – –

R. McKinnon – – – – – –

A. Grant – – – – – –

S. Leach 45,000 – – (45,000) – –

B. Styles 57,000 – – (48,000) 9,000 –

S. Taylor 57,000 – – (48,000) 9,000 –

G. Triggs 57,000 – – (48,000) 9,000 –

J. Sherlock 20,000 – – (20,000) – –

M. Deery – – – – – –

T. Hogan – – – – – –

iii. Other transactions with key management personnel

During the financial year, some of the key management personnel and their related entities entered into transactions, which were 
domestic or trivial in nature, with the Company on the same terms and conditions available to other employees and customers.

(c) Transactions with entities in the wholly-owned group

The wholly-owned group includes:

• The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group; and

• Wholly-owned subsidiaries.

The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Programmed Maintenance Services Limited. 

Transactions that occurred during the financial year between entities in the wholly-owned group were:

• Interest revenue derived by the parent entity;

• Dividends receivable by the parent entity from wholly owned subsidiaries;

• Accounting and administrative services;

• Management fees; and

• Reimbursement for expenses incurred.

(d) Transactions with other related parties

Other related parties include directors of related parties, their director-related entities and other related parties.

There were no transactions with other related parties that needed to be disclosed in the financial statements in the current 
financial year or in the previous financial year.

37. Related party transactions (continued)
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38. Remuneration of auditors

2014 
$

2013 
$

Auditor of the parent entity

Audit or review of the financial report 454,020 439,600

Other non-audit services:

Taxation advisory services – 4,200

Other assurance services 20,000 35,000

474,020 478,800

Network firms of the parent entity auditor

Audit or review of the financial report 82,425 74,000

Other non-audit services:

Taxation advisory services 39,504 28,000

 121,929  102,000

 595,949  580,800

The auditor of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

39. Subsequent events

There has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the year that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years.
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40. Parent entity information

The accounting policies of the parent entity, which have been applied in determining the financial information shown below, are 
the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Financial position

Assets

Current assets 74,646 117,150

Non-current assets 342,421 341,583

Total assets 417,067 458,733

Liabilities

Current liabilities 101,024 130,808

Non-current liabilities 49,225 71,149

Total liabilities 150,249 201,957

Net assets 266,818 256,776

Equity

Issued capital 236,060 236,060

Retained earnings 22,663 13,378

Reserves:

 – Capital profits reserve 5,535 5,535

 – Equity settled employee benefits reserve 2,560 1,803

Total equity 266,818 256,776

 
Financial performance

Profit for the year 28,197 3,419

 
Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries

Guarantee provided under the deed of cross guarantee (i) 170,696 168,453

(i) Programmed Maintenance Services Limited has entered into a deed of cross guarantee with 
its wholly-owned subsidiaries (refer note 31).

 
Contingent liabilities of the parent – –

Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment by the parent entity 
– Not longer than 1 year 101 228
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Directors’ Declaration
The directors declare that:

a. In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable;

b. In the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as stated in note 2 to the financial statements;

c. In the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and 
performance of the consolidated entity; and

d. The directors have been given the declaration required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

At the date of the declaration, the Company is within the class of companies affected by ASIC Class order 98/1418. The nature of 
the deed of cross guarantee is such that each company which is party to the deed guarantees to each creditor payment in full of 
any debt in accordance with the deed of cross guarantee.

In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the companies to which the ASIC Class 
order applies, as detailed in note 31 to the financial statements will, as a group, be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to 
which they are, or may become, subject to by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors

Christopher Sutherland
Managing Director

28 May 2014
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The Board of Directors
Programmed Maintenance Services Limited
47 Burswood Road
BURSWOOD WA 6100

28 May 2014

Dear Board Members

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence 
to the directors of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2014, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

i. the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Chris Biermann
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Melbourne

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

550 Bourke Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX: 111
Tel: +61 3 9671 7000
Fax: +61 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited, which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2014, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, 
notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration 
of the consolidated entity, comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the 
financial year as set out on pages 58 to 117. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 2, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to 
audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant 
to the company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view, in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

550 Bourke Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX: 111
Tel: +61 3 9671 7000
Fax: +61 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report continued

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confirm that 
the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of Programmed 
Maintenance Services Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.

Opinion

In our opinion:

a.  the financial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is in accordance with the  
Corporations Act 2001, including:

i. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2014 and of its performance 
for the year ended on that date; and

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

b. the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 27 to 48 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 March 2014. 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our 
audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited for the year ended 31 March 2014, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Chris Biermann
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Melbourne 
28 May 2014



121PROGRAMMED 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this 
report is set out below.

The following details of shareholders of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited have been taken from the Share Register on 
30 April 2014.

Number of Holders of Equity Securities

Ordinary Share Capital

118,253,992 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 6,297 individual shareholders. 

Voting rights

The voting rights attaching to ordinary shares are set out below:

•  On a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have 
one vote.

Unquoted Securities

There are 3,720,500 Performance Rights outstanding held by 67 holders.

There are 30,534 Performance Options outstanding held by 6 holders.

There are no performance shares outstanding.

Distribution of Holders of Quoted Equity Securities 

Size of holdings No of Holders of fully paid ordinary shares

1 – 1,000 2,130

1,001 –  5,000 2,638

 5,001 – 10,000 868

10,001 –  100,000 617

100,001 –  and over 44

6,297

The number of shareholders holdings less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is 427.

ASX Additional Information
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ASX Additional Information continued

Twenty largest shareholders as at 30 April 2014

Name
Number of  

ordinary shares held
Percentage of  

capital held

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 25,126,343 21.25%

National Nominees Limited 21,570,244 18.24%

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 14,377,634 12.16%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 8,255,770 6.98%

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited (Cash Income A/c) 4,537,758 3.84%

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited (NT-Comnwlth Super Corp A/c) 1,976,660 1.67%

Mr J.G. Whittle & Mrs L.B. Whittle (The J Whittle Family A/c) 1,693,358 1.43%

Argo Investments Limited 1,642,838 1.39%

Questor Financial Services Limited (TPS RF A/c) 1,365,919 1.16%

BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd (DRP) 917,359 0.78%

The Australian National University 800,000 0.68%

National Exchange Pty Ltd 500,000 0.42%

Prudential Nominees Pty Ltd 500,000 0.42%

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 448,924 0.38%

Mr Maxwell John Findlay 440,384 0.37%

QIC Limited 422,476 0.36%

Zacharry Pty Ltd (C Auty Family A/c) 386,246 0.33%

Sutho One Pty Ltd (The Sutherland Family A/c) 342,100 0.29%

Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd (Accumulation Entrepot A/c) 325,303 0.28%

RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited (Piselect) 309,470 0.26%

85,938,786 72.67%

Substantial Shareholders 

As at 30 April 2014, the register of substantial shareholders disclosed the following information:

Holders giving notice

Number of ordinary 
shares in which 
interest is held

Percentage 
%

BT Investment Management 6,095,445 5.15

Dimensional Fund Advisors LP 7,013,134 5.93

Delta Lloyd Asset Management N.V. 9,768,084 8.26

Invesco PLC 9,919,121 8.39
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Summary of Financial Statistics
Annual Summary of Financial Statistics 10 Year History1

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2012
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

Earnings Summary

Revenue from Ordinary Activities 232,002 283,379 332,999 933,769 1,229,540 1,161,520 1,227,570 1,393,639 1,517,419 1,434,923 

Earnings before Interest, Taxes, 
Depreciation Amortisation (EBITDA)  38,034  43,172  50,640 72,653  77,046 71,236 42,975 67,628 64,410 62,316

Earnings before Interest, Taxes and 
Amortisation of Identifiable Intangibles 
(EBITA)  30,286 34,376  39,282 57,520  63,312 58,063 30,436 56,888 52,677 51,701

Amortisation of Identifiable Intangibles (360) (510) (510) (3,164) (3,659) (1,622) (486) (206) (657) (614)

Earnings before Interest and Taxes (EBIT)  29,926 33,866  38,772 54,356  59,653 56,441 29,950 56,682 52,020 51,087

Interest (3,128) (4,139) (6,219) (16,254) (19,466) (18,308) (14,600) (12,510) (9,933) (7,415)

Profit before Income Tax Expense  26,798 29,727  32,553 38,102  40,187 38,133 15,350 44,172 42,087 43,672

Income Tax Expense (8,543) (9,556) (10,154) (9,680) (12,115) (13,200) (4,922) (12,952) (9,950) (13,220)

Profit after Income Tax Expense  18,255 20,171  22,399 28,422  28,072 24,933 10,428 31,220 32,137 30,452

Earnings per Share (pre-amortisation) 
– cents 26.8 29.2 32.2 36.5 33.1 25.0 9.2 26.6 27.8 26.3

Basic Earnings per Share – cents 26.3 28.5 31.5 32.9 29.2 23.5 8.8 26.4 27.2 25.8

Dividends

 – Interim – cents per share 6.5 7.5 8.5 9.5 9.5 3.0 3.0 5.0 5.0 6.0 

 – Final – cents per share 8.5 9.5 10.0 10.5 5.0 6.0 6.0 8.0 10.0 11.0  

 – Dividends per share – cents 15.0 17.0 18.5 20.0 14.5 9.0 9.0 13.0 15.0 17.0

 – Dividend payout ratio 60% 60% 67% 66% 51% 41% 48% 49% 55% 66% 

 – Dividend franking 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

EBITA/ Revenue 13.1% 12.1% 11.8% 6.2% 5.1% 5.0% 2.5% 4.1% 3.5% 3.6%

Interest Cover – times  9.7  8.3  6.3  3.5  3.3  3.2  2.1  4.5  5.3  7.0 

Average Tax rate 31.9% 32.1% 31.2% 25.4% 30.1% 34.6% 32.1% 29.3% 23.6% 30.3%

Growth in Profit after Tax from 
Continuing Operations 12.1% 10.5% 11.0% 26.9% (1.2%) (11.2%) (58.2%) 199.4% 2.9% (5.2%) 

–  The consolidated entity’s financial year ends 31 March.

– The results for the year ended 31 March 2008 include ten months’ contribution from Integrated Group following the merger on 7 June 2007.

–  The results for the year ended 31 March 2011 include an after tax loss of $11,848 thousand arising from our exit of the painting business in the 
United Kingdom.

– The dividend payout ratio for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 is calculated on net profit after tax from continuing operations.



124 PROGRAMMED 2014 ANNUAL REPORT

Summary of Financial Statistics continued

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2012
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

Assets & Liabilities

Cash 2,209 6,527 5,213 4,044 38,229 48,167 20,109 34,668 38,334 29,477 

Debtors 47,275 63,293 74,196 179,914 157,480 165,323 180,226 214,701 222,950 201,418 

Contract Recoverables & Work 
in Progress 161,330 176,938 187,436 198,129 211,952 175,117 162,782 153,923 141,633 138,269 

Property Plant & Equipment 26,009 33,075 43,262 31,020 34,826 28,679 24,414 24,251 27,609 26,412 

Goodwill 2,335 9,378 9,428 199,367 233,700 240,945 238,397 242,010 245,543 246,071 

Other Assets 17,533 19,909 20,644 80,500 60,431 79,403 91,635 87,312 77,143 92,359 

Total Assets 256,691 309,120 340,179 692,974 736,618 737,634 717,563 756,865 753,212 734,006 

Payables 27,640 37,653 37,852 122,063 130,251 136,744 134,309 146,819 159,870 162,400 

Borrowings 49,456 80,884 96,729 235,336 215,473 154,746 138,445 122,472 105,441 71,708 

Provisions & other liabilities 61,073 64,539 68,953 80,745 106,497 94,290 93,353 114,084 96,250 89,519 

Total Liabilities 138,169 183,076 203,534 438,144 452,221 385,780 366,107 383,375 361,561 323,627 

Total Equity 118,522 126,044 136,645 254,830 284,397 351,854 351,456 373,490 391,651 410,379 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Other Financial Statistics

Number of shares on issue at Year End 
(millions) 70.8 71.2 71.2 90.0 99.0 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.3

Net Tangible Assets per Share $1.60 $1.61 $1.76 $0.44 $0.51 $0.84 $0.85 $1.00 $1.11 $1.27

Net Debt to Equity 40% 59% 67% 91% 62% 30% 34% 24% 17% 10%

Gross Operating Cashflows ($’000) 21,521 18,335 31,288 57,089 82,453 59,962 29,071 72,640 90,595 80,587

Share Price at 31 March $3.17 $3.61 $5.15 $5.20 $2.49 $3.08 $1.70 $2.52 $2.56 $2.90

Market Capitalisation at 31 March 
($ millions) 224.5 256.9 366.7 468.0 246.5 364.0 200.9 297.8 302.5 342.9

1 Up to and including the year ended 31 March 2009, items in the Summary of Financial Statistics are shown as reported in the Company’s 
previous Annual Report. Amounts for the year ended 31 March 2010 have been restated as a result of the change in accounting policy for painting 
programmes announced on 10 November 2010. Interest for the years up to and including 31 March 2009 represents net interest expense. From 
31 March 2010 onwards interest represents total finance costs in accordance with changes in dislcosure requirements.
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